
 
 

West Oxfordshire District Council, Council Offices, Woodgreen, Witney, OX28 1NB 
www.westoxon.gov.uk Tel: 01993 861000 

 

 

 

09 July 2024 

 

Tel: 01993 861000 

e-mail: democraticservices@westoxon.gov.uk 

 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

You are summoned to a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee which will be held in 

Council Chamber, Council Offices, Woodgreen, Witney, Oxfordshire OX28 1NB on Wednesday, 

17 July 2024 at 5.30 pm. 

 

 
Giles Hughes 

Chief Executive 

 

 
To: Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 

Councillors: Andrew Beaney (Chairman),Joy Aitman (Vice-Chair),Thomas Ashby, Adam Clements, 

Julian Cooper, Steve  Cosier, Rachel Crouch, Genny Early, Natalie King, Liz Leffman, 

Nick Leverton, Dan Levy, Andrew Lyon, Paul Marsh, Stuart McCarroll, Michele Mead, 

Elizabeth Poskitt, Carl Rylett, Sandra Simpson, Ruth Smith, Alistair Wray, Liam 

Walker, Mark Walker and Alex Wilson 

 

Recording of Proceedings – The law allows the public proceedings of Council, Executive, and 

Committee Meetings to be recorded, which includes filming as well as audio-recording.  

Photography is also permitted. By participating in this meeting, you are consenting to be filmed. 

 

As a matter of courtesy, if you intend to record any part of the proceedings please let the 

Democratic Services officers know prior to the start of the meeting. 

 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

http://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


 

 

 

AGENDA 
 

1.   Apologies for Absence  

To receive any apologies for absence and temporary appointments. The quorum for the 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee is 6 members. 

 

2.   Declarations of Interest  

To receive any declarations from Members of the Committee on any items to be 

considered at the meeting. 

 

3.   Minutes of Previous Meeting (Pages 7 - 14) 

To approve the minutes of the meeting held 5 June 2024. 

 

4.   Announcements from the Chair  

To receive any announcements from the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee. 

 

5.   Participation of the Public  

To receive any submissions from members of the public, in accordance with the 

Council’s Rules of Procedure, anyone who lives in the district or who pays council tax or 

business rates to the Council is eligible to read a statement or express an opinion at this 

meeting.  You can register to speak by sending your written submission of no more than 

750 words to democratic.services@westoxon.gov.uk by no later than 10.00am on the 

working day before the meeting. 

 

6.   Publica Transition Plan (Pages 15 - 68) 

Purpose: 

To consider the Detailed Transition Plan and to note its contents. 

 

Recommendations: 

The Committee notes the report and agrees any recommendations it wishes to make to 

the Executive on 22 July 2024. 

The Executive is recommended to recommend to Council to: 

1. Approve the implementation of Phase 1 of the Publica Transition on the basis of 

the Detailed Transition Plan; 

2. Delegate to the Chief Executive in consultation with the Leader of the Council 

the decision to deal with any final detail matters arising from the Detailed 

Transition Plan;  

3. Delegate authority to the Director of Governance in liaison with the Leader to 

update the constitution by making any consequential changes required as a result 

of Phase 1 of the Publica Transition; 

4. Carry out a budget re-basing for the 2026/7 financial year so that the funding 

provided to Publica is proportionate to the services received. 

 

7.   One-Year Publica Business Plan (Pages 69 - 82) 

Purpose: 

To consider the Draft Publica Business Plan 2024-25, produced by the Publica Board in 
consultation with Directors and Shareholders. 

 

Recommendations: 

Page 2

mailto:democratic.services@westoxon.gov.uk


 

The Committee notes the report and agrees any recommendations it wishes to make to 

the Executive on 22 July 2024. 

The Executive is recommended to: 

1. Note the 2024/25 Publica Business Plan; 

2. Note that the Leader of the Council, as shareholder representative, will approve 

the Publica Business Plan 2024-2025 in due course. 

 

8.   Waste Service Update (Pages 83 - 88) 

Purpose: 

To provide members with an update of current waste services and to provide a timeline 

and options for future service design and delivery. 

 

Recommendation: 

That Overview and Scrutiny Committee resolves to:  

1. Note the contents of the report and provide feedback where necessary. 

 

9.   Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Draft Charging Schedule (Pages 89 - 116) 

Purpose: 

To consider a draft CIL charging schedule which has been prepared in response to 

updated viability evidence. 

 

Recommendations: 

The Committee notes the report and agrees any recommendations it wishes to make to 

the Executive on 22 July 2024. 

The Executive is recommended to: 

1. Approve the Community Infrastructure Levy Draft Charging Schedule (DCS) 

attached at Annex A for the purposes of a six-week period of public consultation 

in accordance with the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as 

amended);  

2. Delegate authority to the Planning Policy Manager to make any minor 

factual/typographical amendments to the CIL Draft Charging Schedule (DCS) 

following consultation with the Executive Member for Planning and Sustainable 

Development, prior to publication;  

3. Recommend to Council to delegate authority to the Planning Policy Manager to 

submit the CIL charging schedule for independent examination in accordance 

with the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) including 

any minor modifications, following consultation with the Executive Member for 

Planning and Sustainable Development, subject to there being no significant issues 

raised during the six-week consultation period; and 

4. Ensure that appropriate mechanisms are put in place to enable Town and Parish 

Councils to meaningfully contribute with regard to potential Section 106 planning 

obligations when these are being negotiated. 

 

10.   Financial Performance Report 2023-24 Quarter Four (Pages 117 - 138) 

Purpose: 

To report the financial performance of the Council in 2023/24. 

 

Recommendations: 

The Committee notes the report and agrees any recommendations it wishes to make to 

the Executive on 22 July 2024. 

Page 3



 

The Executive is recommended to: 

1. Note the 2023/24 financial performance; 

2. Recommend to Council to carry forward the capital budget of £4,086,328; 

3. Recommend to Council to approve the transfers to and between Earmarked 

Reserves as detailed in the report. 

 

11.   Public Convenience Contract (Pages 139 - 148) 

Purpose: 

To note that a contract award for the cleaning and maintenance of public conveniences 

would be agreed by the Executive. 

 

Recommendation: 

The Committee notes the report and agrees any recommendations it wishes to make to 

the Executive on 22 July 2024. 

The Executive is recommended to: 

1. Award the contract for cleaning and maintenance of public conveniences to the 

preferred contractor. 

 

12.   Report back on recommendations (Pages 149 - 150) 

For the Committee to note the Executive’s response to any recommendations arising 

from the previous Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting. 

 

13.   Committee Work Programme (Pages 151 - 156) 

Purpose: 

To provide the Committee with an updated Work Programme for 2024/25. 

 

Recommendation: 

That the Committee notes and comments on the work programme. 

 

14.   Executive Work Programme (Pages 157 - 164) 
Purpose: 

To give the Committee the opportunity to comment on the Executive Work 

Programme. 

 

Recommendation: 

That the Committee agrees which items on the Executive Work Programme should be 

subject to pre-decision scrutiny and the priority order of those items. 

 

15.   Matters Exempt from Publication and Exclusion of Press and Public  

If the Overview and Scrutiny Committee wishes to exclude the press and public from 

the meeting during consideration of any of the items on the exempt from publication 

part of the agenda, it will be necessary for the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to pass 

a resolution in accordance with the provisions section 100A of the Local Government 

Act 1972 on the grounds that their presence could involve the likely disclosure of 

exempt information as described in specific paragraphs of Schedule 12A of the Local 

Government Act 1972. 

 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee may maintain the exemption if and so long as, in 

all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in maintaining the exemption 

outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information. 

 

16.   Public Convenience Contract - Exempt Appendix (Pages 165 - 166) 

Page 4



 

 

 

(END) 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

WEST OXFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

Minutes of the meeting of the 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Held in the Council Chamber, Council Offices, Woodgreen, Witney, Oxfordshire OX28 1NB 

at 5.30 pm on Wednesday, 5 June 2024 

PRESENT 

Councillors: Andrew Beaney (Chair), Joy Aitman (Vice-Chair),Thomas Ashby, Adam Clements, 

Julian Cooper, Steve Cosier, Rachel Crouch, Genny Early, Natalie King, Dan Levy, Andrew 

Lyon, Paul Marsh, Stuart McCarroll, Michele Mead, Carl Rylett, Sandra Simpson, Ruth Smith, 

Alistair Wray, Liam Walker, Alex Wilson, Martin McBride and Hugo Ashton 

Officers:  Christine Elsasser (Democratic Services Officer), Andrew Brown (Democratic 

Services Business Manager), Bill Oddy (Assistant Director for Commercial Development), 

Andy Barge (Assistant Director for Communities), Alison Borrett (Senior Performance 

Analyst), Michelle Clifford (Business Manager - Customer Experience & Resources), Jon 

Dearing (Assistant Director for Resident Services) and Chris Hargraves (Planning Policy 

Manager) 

Executive Members in attendance: Andy Graham, Geoff Saul and Duncan Enright 

1 Election of Chair  

Andrew Brown (Business Manager, Democratic Services) opened the meeting and asked for 

nominations for the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee for the municipal year of 

2024 - 2025. 

Councillor Michele Mead proposed that Councillor Andrew Beaney be elected as Chair of the 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee for the municipal year 2024-2025. This was seconded by 

Councillor Alex Wilson. With no other nominations made, the proposal was put to a vote and 

was unanimously agreed by the Committee. 

RESOLVED that the Committee AGREED  

1. Elect Councillor Andrew Beaney as the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee for 

the municipal year 2024-2025. 

2 Appointment of Vice Chair  

Councillor Andrew Beaney, Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, asked for 

nominations for the position of Vice-Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee for the 

municipal year of 2024 - 2025. 

Councillor Ruth Smith proposed that Councillor Joy Aitman be appointed as the Vice-Chair of 

the Overview and Scrutiny Committee for the municipal year 2024-2025.  

This was seconded by Councillor Michele Mead. With no other nominations made, the 

proposal was put to a vote and was unanimously agreed by the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee.  

3 Apologies for Absence and Temporary Appointments  

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Elizabeth Poskitt, Nick Leverton. 

Councillor David Jackson substituted for Councillor Elizabeth Poskitt and Councillor Martin 

McBride substituted for Councillor Nick Leverton.  

Councillors Alistair Wry and Liam Walker gave apologies for lateness. 

Public Document Pack

Page 1Page 7

Agenda Item 3



Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

05/June2024 

 

 

Councillors Liz Leffman and Mark Walker were absent. 

Apologies were received from Councillor Alaric Smith as the Executive Member for the 

Changes to Customer Telephone Access Times report. 

 

  

4 Declarations of Interest  

There were no declarations of interest received from Members of the Committee. 

5 Minutes of Previous Meeting  

Councillor Michele Mead proposed that the minutes of the previous meeting, held on 

Wednesday 10 April 2024, be approved by the Committee as a true and accurate record. This 

was seconded by Councillor Rachel Crouch, was put to a vote and was unanimously agreed by 

the Committee. 

It was to be noted that in regards to any matters arising from the action points, there was one 

outstanding action point which related to the 5 year supply of travellers sites and an answer 

would be made available at the next meeting. 

6 Announcements from the Chair  

The Chair asked that Members not discuss political matters to avoid breaching pre-election 

period rules. 

7 Participation of the Public  

There was no participation of the public. 

8 Approval of Upgrade to WODC Public Space CCTV Provision and Monitoring Arrangements  

The Executive Member for Housing and Social Welfare introduced the report that 

recommended upgrading the public open space CCTV cameras covering areas of Carterton 

and Witney to high definition digital, together with the installation of five new cameras in 

Chipping Norton. The report further recommended that the Council joined the Thames 
Valley Police (TVP) CCTV partnership, with an associated transfer of CCTV assets and 

operational responsibility to TVP under a ‘single owner’ model; and moving monitoring 

arrangements to a shared Oxfordshire hub.  

It was explained that £300,000 was approved by Council in 2019/20 for capital investment in 

CCTV, £255,635 remained, after upgrading the control room in 2022. The Executive would be 

asked to note the potential funding shortfall of up to £55,000. The steps that would need to 

be taken were listed in 4.7 of the Executive report.  

Furthermore, under the current operating model, West Oxfordshire District Council retained 

direct responsibility for the public open space CCTV system and its ongoing maintenance. In 

early April 2022, Thames Valley Police and the Police and Crime Commissioner tabled a 

report to the Police and Crime Panel outlining a new vision for CCTV. This vision recognised 

that CCTV existed primarily for the benefit of policing and the wider interests of community 

safety. Therefore, it was right that policing would shoulder the lion share of the responsibility 

for providing the capability, under a ‘single owner’ model. The single owner model would help 

Page 2Page 8



Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

05/June2024 

 

 

to consolidate technology, drive savings through economies of scale, improve integration with 

police systems and provide increased resilience.  

An Oxfordshire CCTV partnership board was established in 2022 and TVP had employed a 

CCTV Operations Manager to gain greater traction; the point had now been reached whereby 

an Oxfordshire monitoring control room, located in Abingdon, was proposed, which would 

form part of a Thames Valley Police CCTV Partnership which would see transfer of ownership 

of CCTV to Thames Valley Police. 

The Assistant Director for Communities answered questions from Members and the following 

points were to be noted:  

 The Partnership Board would run the CCTV arrangements and any decisions on 

camera locations, removals, and additions would need to be agreed by the CCTV 

partnership Board with the funding formula adjusted accordingly. There would also be 

a legal partnership agreement put in place to ensure that any movements of assets out 

of West Oxfordshire would be considered in the funding formula. 

 All partners were seeking approval for the formal agreements from their perspective 

Executives. Thames Valley Police would do checks on requests for additional CCTV 

and would then fit that requirement into the funding formula as set out in the report. 

 Shortfall and future costs would be applied for through the Safer Street Fund as found 

in section 4.7 of the report. The outcome of the bid was currently pending and 

continuous funding would be sought were possible. 

 Reporting of faults and issues with CCTV would be done through the County Wide 

Maintenance Program and service reports could be provided if required.  

 In terms of timescales, if the Executive approved this approach and the Thames Valley 

Police agreed to take the lead on the procurement, then the project would likely start 

in the Autumn and be completed by the end of the calendar year. 

 In section 5.12 and section 6.5 of the report the total figures did not match. The figures 

in 5.12 were the correct figures.  

 Carterton Town Council was paying more for cameras due to transferred images and 

there were large costs involved in that; however, steps were currently being 

implemented to reduce those costs.  

 Any required upgrades to CCTV would be completed relatively quickly and the review 

time would be ongoing with the funding formula adjusted accordingly.  

 The Partnership Model would bring additional resources and real time monitoring. 

However, Officers would ask Thames Valley Police if they believed this would improve 

response times.  

 Security of the footage was believed to be secure due to the Thames Valley Police 

being complaint with the Commissioner Code and the quantifiable benefits of adopting 

the model were covered in section 2 of the report. If Members required more specific 

statistics Officers would need to request them from the Thames Valley Police. 

 Capital Expenditure had not been broken down within the report; however, Officers 

were happy to circulate those figures. 

 

RESOLVED that the Committee AGREED to submit the following recommendations to the 

Executive on 12 June 2024: 

Recommendation: That the priority order of the steps that will be taken to 

address the funding shortfall of up to £55,000 (paragraph 4.7) are adjusted so 

that steps c) and d) were moved up to become the new a) and b). 

Page 3Page 9



Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

05/June2024 

 

 

 

 

9 Service Performance Report 2023-24 Quarter Four  

The Leader introduced the report that provided details of the Council’s operational 

performance for the end of 2023-24 Quarter Four (Q4).  

Overall, the Council's performance had been positive, with commendable progress in a 

number of areas including visits to the leisure centres, Official Land Charge Search Times and 

Processing times for Council Tax Support and Housing Benefit. Sections 3.1 and 3.2 of the 

report highlighted where the service was in terms of targets. 

The Senior Performance Analyst explained that the report in the pack was now correct as it 

had a few minor errors in some of the figures. Sections 3.1 and 3.2 of the report highlighted 

where the service was above and fell below targets respectively.  

Questions were answered from Members and the following points were to be noted:   

 Within the Action Tracker, Item 23, it was explained that an appointment for the 
Strategic Housing Development and Enabling Manager had been made. The Assistant 

Director of Commercial Development would give an update to Members after the 

meeting. 

 Regarding Salt Cross, there was a separate Steering Group which had been updated; 

Andrea Kenton could provide that update to Members. 

 The installation of Electric Vehicle Charge Points was delayed by 6-8 weeks due to the 

nature of the complex partnership with town councils and authorities; however, 
mitigation was put in place to manage the delay. 

 Regarding Service Delivery Agreements within large developments, Members 

expressed a desire for the Council to take control of those green areas to ensure 

resident savings. Officers agreed to come back with a timeline and look into the issue 

further with the possibility of also looking into Community Land Trusts. 

 Officers would come back on whether the Windrush lottery bid for May had been 

received.  

 Improvement plans and grant schemes under the central government funding would 

continue to be tracked, published on the website and further information 

communicated to residents.  

 In terms of leisure contracts benchmarking, this was only currently being done against 

other Councils and nearest neighbours but Officers would look into benchmarking 

within more sectors.  

 A review of damaged bin replacements had been undertaken in conjunction with other 

councils and complaints had been monitored. The actual cause would be determined 

and assessed to see if any further preventative measures could be taken. 

 

RESOLVED that the Committee AGREED:  

1. To Note the 2023/24 Q4 service performance report. 

10 Salt Cross Garden Village Area Action Plan (AAP)  

The Planning Policy Manager introduced the report that provided an update on the Salt Cross 

Garden Village Area Action Plan (AAP).  

Page 4Page 10



Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

05/June2024 

 

 

Salt Cross was a planned new garden village community to the north of the A40 near 

Eynsham. The area was identified in the adopted Local Plan as a strategic location for growth 

and it was expected to include around 2,200 homes, a 40-hectare science and technology park 

along with schools, open space and other community facilities. To guide the future delivery of 

Salt Cross, the District Council was preparing a new Area Action Plan (AAP). Once adopted, 

the AAP would form part of the statutory development plan alongside the West Oxfordshire 

Local Plan 2031.The purpose of the report was to provide an update Members on the current 

timetable for taking the AAP through to formal adoption following a third-party legal challenge 

last year.  

Furthermore, the Planning Inspectorate confirmed that the examination had been reopened 

and that a new Inspector - Helen Hockenhull BA(Hons) B.Pl MRTPI had been appointed. The 

Inspector wrote to the Council on the same day and a copy of her letter was attached at 

Annex B. The letter had also been published on the Garden Village Examination web page. 

Questions were answered from Members and the following points were noted:   

 There was a written ministerial statement published in December after the hearings in 

November; the two events were inter-related and provided authorities with 

instruction on what they could and could not do in regards to planning. However, the 

judge in the November hearing was not able to take the December statement into 

account. The Inspector would now be able to look into the issue and her letter 

attached to the report was clear on what needed to be done in reference to the 

ministerial statement. However, the current legal challenge would now need to be 

taken into account as well. 

 The intention was to make Salt Cross as Net Zero as possible. 

 There was a question of when the houses within the Salt Cross Garden village area 

would be built and it was explained that commencement would take place in 2026. 

However due to the challenge and issues that had occurred the timeframes would 

likely be pushed back to 2028. 

 

RESOLVED that the Committee AGREED:  

1. To note the contents of the report. 

11 Changes To Customer Telephone Access Times  

The Leader of the Council introduced the report that proposed the trial of reduced telephone 

access hours from 9am-2pm become a permanent arrangement to the public, following the 

data gathered and in light of a continuous decline in customer demand for telephone contact.  

The trial reduced telephone access hours from 9am – 2pm to the public and had proved the 

concept that customers were continuing to shift to digital channels. In the original report that 

proposed the trial period, and excluded the Managers and Officers required for the face-to-

face visits at the Welch Way Office, each of the 30 Customer Service Officers across West 

Oxford District Council and Cotswold District Council (24.93 FTE) would have a reduction in 

hours of 0.32 FTE. The reduction across the 30 Officers equated to a total reduction of 7.98 

FTE. This made a total efficiency saving of £238,100 shared equally between West Oxford 

District Council and Cotswold District Council, and was on track to achieve £250,000. 

Therefore, the total saving for each council would be £125,000 per annum. 

The Business Manager, Customer Experience, shared that she had only received one 

complaint about the reduced service and reassured Members that customers could still access 

Page 5Page 11



Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

05/June2024 

 

 

Officers face-to-face until 5pm and that other provisions were in place to ensure contact for 

emergencies etc. 

Questions were answered from Members and the following points were to be noted:   

 Cotswolds District Council had agreed the trial of reduced telephone access hours 

from 9am-2pm as a permanent arrangement to the public verbally but were awaiting 

the end of pre-election period to ratify the decision through their Cabinet. It was 

believed that they would follow through with permanent arrangement as agreed. 

 Some Members felt that they should have been consulted because they had received 

complaints about the reduced service; however, others suggested residents were 

happy with the savings. 

 Members suggested other options, including a Hunt group, given that the numbers of 

calls were so small. This meant that a central line would be dialled in and calls would be 

answered by other staff who may be available and could forward on, etc. Officers 

explained that the reason the number of calls was low was due to the communications 

around the reduced times and if those were withdrawn, call numbers would rise again. 

As resources were now reduced they recommended against this approach. In terms of 

the hunt group approach, Officers felt this approach may frustrate residents as they 

would not get through to the department they required. 

 

RESOLVED that the Committee AGREED:  

1. To note the contents of the report and that the Executive would be asked to agree to 
adopt the reduced telephone access arrangements on a permanent basis. 

12 Report back on Recommendations  

There were no Executive responses to any recommendations because no recommendations 

to the Executive had been agreed at the previous meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee, in April. 

13 Committee Work Programme  

No changes were agreed to the Committee’s Work Programme:  

Councillor Cooper raised a question about a the progress of report that had been requested 

by the Uplands Sub-Committee on world heritage buffer zone. The Business Manager for 

Democratic Services agreed to follow up after the meeting. 

 

14 Executive Work Programme  

The following was to be noted on the Executive Work Programme:  

 The Executive meeting on 22 July would be held at 2pm. 

 Various meeting had been moved back to avoid staff being briefed on the Publica 

Transition in the days leading up to the Parliamentary General Election, which many 

affected staff would be focused on delivering. 

 Arrangements for Sustainable Development for this period were still on the work plan. 

15 Leisure and Wellbeing Task and Finish Group Membership Change  

Page 6Page 12



Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

05/June2024 

 

 

The Committee agreed to appoint Councillor Joy Aitman to the Leisure and Wellbeing Task 

and Finish Group to replace Councillor Rizvana Poole who was now part of the Executive and 

therefore could not be involved in Overview and Scrutiny. 

16 Date of Next Meeting  

The Committee was asked to move the date of the next meeting from 3 July 2024 to 17 July 

2024 to avoid staff being briefed on the Publica Transition in the days leading up to the 

General Election. 

RESOLVED that the Committee AGREED 

1. The date of the next meeting would be 17 July 2024 at 5.30pm. 

 

 

 

The Meeting closed at 6.50 pm 

 

CHAIRMAN 

Page 7Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 14



 

 

WEST OXFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

Name and Date of 

Committee 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY – 17 JULY 2024 

EXECUTIVE – 22 JULY 2024 

Subject PUBLICA TRANSITION PLAN 

Wards Affected All 

Accountable Member Councillor Andy Graham – Leader of the Council. 

andy.graham@westoxon.gov.uk 

Accountable Officer Giles Hughes – Chief Executive. 

giles.hughes@westoxon.gov.uk 

Report Author Andrew Pollard – Interim Programme Director 

andrew.pollard@westoxon.gov.uk 

Summary To consider the Detailed Transition Plan, to note its contents and to 

approve the recommendations therein. 

Annexes Annex A – Detailed Transition Plan 

Annex B – Equalities and Rurality Impact Assessment 

Recommendations That Executive resolves to Recommend to Full Council to: 

1. Approve the implementation of Phase 1 of the Publica Transition on 

the basis of the Detailed Transition Plan; 

2. Delegate to the Chief Executive in consultation with the Leader of the 

Council the decision to deal with any final detail matters arising from 

the Detailed Transition Plan;  

3. Delegate authority to the Director of Governance in liaison with the 

Leader to update the constitution by making any consequential changes 

required as a result of Phase 1 of the Publica Transition. 

4. Carry out a budget re-basing for the 2026/7 financial year so that the 

funding provided to Publica is proportionate to the services received. 

Corporate Priorities   Putting Residents First 

 A Good Quality of Life for All 

 Working Together for West Oxfordshire 

Key Decision 1.1. YES 

Exempt 1.2. NO 

Consultation 1.3. Chief Executive, Director of Finance, Director of Governance, Leader, 

Deputy Leader, Executive Members, Publica Review Programme Director, 

Page 15

Agenda Item 6

mailto:andy.graham@westoxon.gov.uk
mailto:giles.hughes@westoxon.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.pollard@westoxon.gov.uk


Publica Interim Managing Director and through a facilitated workshop with 

Local Partnerships, Publica Assistant Directors.     

 

  

Page 16



 

 

1. BACKGROUND 

 

1.1 Council services are currently delivered through Publica, a joint vehicle owned by the Council 

together with Cotswold District Council, Cheltenham Borough Council and Forest of Dean 

District Council. An options appraisal review of Council services and the way in which they 

are delivered was undertaken in 2023 by external advisors Human Engine.  Their final report 

recommended that the majority of services should move from Publica and return to being 

under greater control of the Councils.  In November, the Council’s Executive resolved to 

support in principle the direction recommended in the Human Engine report to return a range 

of services back to the Council and reshape Publica (Minute no 112 refers).  This work has 

been developed following the appointment of an Interim Programme Director in January 2024, 

leading to the Detailed Transition Plan having been prepared. 

 

1.2 Local Partnerships, supported by the Local Government Association (LGA), South West 

Region transformation funding, subsequently delivered a report in February 2024, endorsing 

the Human Engine Report findings, providing additional supporting detail and setting out two 

phases under which the majority of services should be repatriated: phase 1 comprising a 

significant number of services expected to be in/around October 2024 and phase 2 expected 

to be in/around March 2025.  

 

1.3 To support the Chief Executives of the Shareholders Councils and elected members in 

implementing the transition of services, an Interim Programme Director was appointed at the 

end of January 2024 to lead the Publica Transition Programme. The scope of this Programme 

referenced the Human Engine Report delivered in Autumn 2023 which recommended 

retaining selected services within Publica, meaning that the majority of services would move 

to direct control, be shared, via Publica or some other model on a case-by-case basis.    

 

1.4 In March 2024, the Council received the Local Partnerships report which built on the 

recommendations set out in the Human Engine report, and which was subsequently 

considered by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and by Executive. The Council’s 

Executive noted the findings and recommendations in the report and instructed the Interim 

Programme Director to prepare a Detailed Transition Plan (Minute no 161 refers). 

 

1.5 To facilitate this, the Interim Programme Director established a small, focused Programme 

Management Office, comprised of an HR expert / lead and a Business Partner Accountant. The 

programme team engaged with Council and Publica key staff (including the Section 151’s and 

Monitoring Officers) via the creation of a number of workstreams (Finance, Legal, HR, ICT 

and Communications, initially) as the ‘spokes’ to the Programme Management Office (PMO) 

‘hub’.   This flexible model has provided engagement that is both broad and technically defined. 

In addition, a workshop jointly facilitated with Local Partnerships took place with senior 

Publica executives and retained officers from the Councils to understand more about the 

views of the wider stakeholder group regarding the transition. This information was then used 

Page 17



to develop an outline framework for the transition of services to enable the PMO to take the 

Programme forward.  

 

1.6 A governance structure was developed to provide oversight, support and decision making by 

way of an Officer Transition Board (comprised of each Council CEO, the Interim Managing 

Director of Publica and the Interim Programme Director), with a Councils’ Programme Board 

providing the bridge link back to the Councils.  

 

1.7 In developing the Detailed Transition Plan, the PMO carefully considered the Councils’ 

objectives expressed through their corporate plan objectives, the design led principles outlined 

at high level by Local Partnerships in their report and the aims of the Transition in relation to 

services and service delivery to: 

 

 Deliver more defined local priorities 

 Better reflect Member priorities and Corporate Plans 

 Be more agile 

 Be more sustainable 

 Ensure better control over service 

 Define services more to locality, with residents at the heart. 

 

1.8 In addition to the initial workshop, and project governance meetings, the PMO has undertaken 

fact finding meetings with a number of officers at the Councils and Publica to help inform the 

Transition Plan. This helped to develop the rationale for the transition of services back to the 

Councils.  

 

1.9 Significant work has been undertaken to model the costs associated with the transition of 

services back to the council, involving the CEO’s and S151 officers at each Council. Costings 

were modelled, beginning with ensuring an assured baseline onwards, together with a 

consideration of risk, opportunity and risk mitigation, with each element informing the overall 

project brief.  Opportunities for sharing of certain services and roles were considered and 

refined following a CEO workshop. Taken together, this has enabled a Programme GANTT 

chart (a bar chart showing the project schedule) to be refined over time which provides the 

backbone to the programme. Through the process, it became clear that Phase 1 needed to 

take effect on 1 November to allow sufficient time for workforce consultation.  The focus of 

the Detailed Transition Plan has therefore been on Phase 1 and the relevant steps for this are 

set out in the GANTT chart. A full programme of Communications has been developed in 

support, together with documents developed by HR in support of the transition.  There are 

no ICT systems implications and ICT are engaged in developing a series of Council employee 

portals to support Councils from the 1 November “go live” date onwards.  

2. THE DETAILED TRANSITION PLAN 

2.1 The Detailed Transition Plan attached in Appendix A sets out the services proposed to 

transfer, the process including phasing, consideration of risks and opportunities, cost 

implications, practicalities and timelines.  It makes recommendations for a number of elements 

to be noted and for the phasing for the Transition to be approved. 

Page 18



 

2.2 The service areas transferred in Phase 1 will include: 

 Democratic Services and Elections 

 Forward Planning 

 Development Management (but not ‘planning validation and planning support’) 

 Ecology 

 Conservation, Heritage & Design 

 Building Control  

 Economic Development  

 Tourism 

 Communities and wellbeing  

 Climate change  

 Strategic Finance (to include all finance roles apart from transactional finance (AP / 

AR), procurement, insurance and Treasury Management) 

 Communications 

 Strategic Housing 

 Corporate Planning, policy and partnerships 

 Executive Assistants and Support.  

 

2.3 In addition a HR Business Partner is to be seconded, to the Council, ahead of transfer, meaning 

that there will be a dedicated in-house Council resource at an early stage to support the 

Council directly pre- and post-transfer. 

 

2.4 The Detailed Transition Plan has an accompanying employee communications and engagement 

plan to ensure that all the key information is passed to employees, they are engaged in the 

process and they are consulted with as part of the transition process. The plan follows best 

practice HR and communications and will follow a clear and prescribed process to ensure the 

right information is communicated at the right time to ensure employment law is correctly 

followed and Publica employees are treated fairly. It also focusses to supporting employees 

through the process and explaining what the future will look like post transfer via the correct 

channels.  

3. THE COUNCIL PLAN 

3.1 The Council adopted an ambitious Council Plan in January 2023.  This outlines the following 

vision for West Oxfordshire: 

“Shaping West Oxfordshire as a District which offers a fulfilling and meaningful quality 

of life for our residents with opportunities for all to flourish. A thriving and prosperous 

place for entrepreneurs and businesses, where local people and visitors can enjoy the 

beauty and heritage of our landscape, built, farmed and natural environment.” 

Page 19



3.2 To achieve the Council Plan there are five priorities, of equal importance, which will guide the 

work we do: 

 Putting Residents First  

 Enabling a Good Quality of Life for All  

 Creating a Better Environment for People and Wildlife  

 Responding to the Climate and Ecological Emergency  

 Working Together for West Oxfordshire  

4. BUSINESS CASE  

4.1 The Publica Review provides an opportunity to restructure the Council and invest to deliver 

the vision and priorities set by the Council Plan. 

4.2 The rationale for the additional costs of Phase 1 is: 

 A more focused and defined approach to driving the delivery of the Council’s priorities 

as set through the Council Plan.  

 Much better definition between Policy and high-level strategy on the one hand and 

delivery on the other.  More defined control for the Council. 

 Greater clarity over roles, responsibilities and accountabilities – and where direction 

is set from. 

 Greater clarity and focus for those functions remaining with Publica – such as Revenues 

and Benefits, and ICT. 

 Enabling performance and value for money be more clearly defined and measured by 

the Council. 

 Simplification of processes and in determining whether and how resources can be 

deployed and redeployed as priorities shift. 

 Greater responsiveness and agility, so as to be able to deliver Member priorities and 

adapt to changing circumstances. 

 Greater focus on locality and local services.  

 Employing people locally, using this in support of economic growth (e.g. 

apprenticeships), being more accessible and visible and foster the spirit of the West 

Oxfordshire community.  

 Opportunity to group services to accelerate efficiencies, by identifying synergies 

between certain services before moving and re-defining services.  

 Being responsive and business like – adopting a commercial mindset when considering 

engagement with businesses, residents and key stakeholders, ensuring a cost recovery 

approach is used where appropriate to maximise service efficiencies, whilst balancing 

with community benefit. 

 Better focus and ability to drive the sustainability agenda of the Council. 

Page 20



4.3 It is assumed within the Detailed Transition Plan that with the significant changes to Publica, 

there would also be a budget re-basing for the 2026/7 financial year.  This is timed to follow 

the implementation of Phase 1 of the Publica Review and will sit alongside the consideration 

of Phase 2.  It will ensure that the funding provided to Publica is proportionate to the services 

received. 

5. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 The financial implications of the Publica Review have been the subject of extensive due 

diligence since programme inception in February 2024. The resulting financial modelling output 

reflects robust programme assumptions and a detailed audit trail of movements between 

baseline costing, of delivery via the current Publica model, to the new WODC structure post 

transition, as proposed in the Detailed Transition Plan. The key financial implications of the 

Detailed Transition Plan are: 

 

 Indicative enduring annual increase to West Oxfordshire District Council revenue 

budget of £185k per annum (pro rata for 2024/25 would be £77k) with one-off costs 

of restructuring between £207k to £301k, being the “most likely” and “maximum” 

scenario respectively. 

 

5.2 The ‘Waterfall’ chart below highlights the core movements in cost from the Publica baseline 

costing to the WODC new structure post transition. The key assumptions which underpin 

the Phase 1 cost movements are: 

 

 The Council model assumes all Phase 1 roles are opted-in to Local Government 

Pension Scheme (LGPS) at the point of transfer (November 2024) with no subsequent 

opt out.  

 Newly created roles are in accordance with service delivery requirements under the 

Council model post Phase 1. Proposed organisational structures have been developed, 

to facilitate this cost modelling, and these will be refined and finalised after consultation 

with staff involved in Phase 1. 

 “Direct savings” result from roles not transferring to an equivalent role within the 

Council operating structure. 

 “Indirect savings” result from a Senior Management restructure within Publica. These 

savings are offered in entirety underneath the scope of Phase 1, therefore no further 

executive management savings are anticipated for future Phases.  

 For modelling purposes, both the one-off costs of transition and the savings (direct & 

indirect) have been split equally across Councils (one third each). 

 This paper does not consider any impact of the Council restructure on Retained 

Officers’ remuneration. 

 As mentioned, Local Partnerships envisaged a phased approach to this transition and 

Phase 2 will be the subject of a future report.  

Page 21



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 22



 

5.3 In terms of the budget implications: 

 The 2024/25 budget, approved in February 2024, included £200k for Publica Review 

one off costs (primarily project office related) and £75k for ongoing pensions costs. 

 Section 2.19 of the 2024/25 Report of the Chief Financial Officer stated: 

 

Initially one-off costs will be funded from earmarked reserves and ongoing costs will be 

included in the 2025/26 base budget when there is more certainty with regards to the 

transition plan 

 

 The Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) identified the Publica Review as a risk 

area, alongside Local Government Funding, Statutory Override for Financial 

Instruments and Investment Property, and earmarked reserves were set aside to 

mitigate these risks. In the 2024/25 budget cycle £500k was set aside for the Publica 

Review one off costs. 

 

 The full year impact of the Publica Transition on 2025/26 budget (£185k per annum) 

and MTFS will be considered in the autumn as part of the budget setting process. 

 

6. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

6.1 The Councils established a Legal Workstream with a membership composed of the Monitoring 

Officers for all four partner councils to Publica, the Interim Head of Legal Services, Business 

Manager for Business Continuity, Governance and Risk and the Interim Programme Director. 

This has met regularly to identify legal issues yielded by the proposed transition. 

 

6.2 The Legal Implications of transferring services back to the Council fall into three principal 

areas: 

 Contractual Obligations (internal and external) 

 Governance  

 Employment law  

Internal Contractual arrangements 

The contractual relationship between the Council and Publica Group Ltd is the subject of 

various legal agreements including: 

 A members’ agreement dated 25 May 2017 between FoDDC, CDC (Cotswold 

District Council) and WODC (West Oxford District Council) 

 Admission Agreements in relation to the Gloucestershire County Council Local 

Government Pension Scheme dated 14 November 2017 and in relation to 

Oxfordshire County Council scheme dated 30 November 2017 

 A Services Agreement dated 31 October 2017, with a commencement date of 1 

November 2017. 

The Services Agreement sets out the contract periods for general services, support services 

and for commissioning services, which come to an end on 31 October in 2024, 2026 and 

2027 respectively. For now, the Council has agreed with Publica via a series of side letters 

Page 23



that the contract will continue in respect of all these services until the Council has made a 

decision whether or not to transfer services back in-house, whereupon it will vary the 

contract or give notice. 

 

External Contractual Arrangements 

Existing contracts with external parties would require novation if the current party were 

Publica instead of the Council. This was identified as a potential risk in early meetings of the 

legal workstream, but it has not materialised. The contracts register appears to show that 

contracts have been completed in the name of the Council. 

 

Shared Working 

Phase One of the transition for the most part proposes services coming back in-house on a 

“sovereign council” basis. If there are any proposals to deliver via a shared service, this will 

have to be established by a legal agreement. Both the existing Counter Fraud and 

Enforcement Unit and Legal Service partnerships offer examples of different legal models for 

shared services delivered by retained officers. 

Any standalone shared posts (not within a shared service) will need to be secured by way of 

a suitable legal agreement whereby the employing council agrees that its employee is 

available to carry out duties for the partner council. This is particularly important for posts 

which discharge statutory functions within the Council’s Scheme of Delegation. 

 

Governance 

The Council will need to evaluate its existing non-executive scheme of delegation and satisfy 

itself that it either employs or has available to it (for example through shared services) the 

officers empowered to discharge delegated powers. The Council will also need to remove 

references to Publica in its Constitution where these are no longer applicable.  It is 

proposed that the Monitoring Officer be given the power to make all consequential 

amendments to the Constitution that result from members’ decision. 

 

Best Value Consultation 
External legal advice has been sought and obtained on whether or not the Council is obliged 

to carry out a public consultation under Section 3 Local Government Act 1999 on its 

proposals. Based on that advice, the Interim Head of Legal Services and Monitoring Officers 

are satisfied that no duty to consult arises.  

 

Employment Law 

Clearly, the proposal has at its core a change in the employment relations of all staff it 

impacts. Whilst this has principally been within the remit of the HR Workstream, The Legal 

Workstream has interrogated aspects of applicable employment law. There has been 

extensive discussion with external lawyers over the extent to which the Transfer of 

Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 2006 (“TUPE”) applies to the 

insourcing of services. The conclusions of this are set out in section 4.0 of the Detailed 

Transition Plan. 

 

Where TUPE does apply, the employment of any employees assigned to an organised 

grouping will transfer automatically to the Council unless they object to the transfer. They 

would be employed on the same terms and conditions, save for gaining an entitlement to 

join the Local Government Pension Scheme.   

 

6.3 Where a role is fragmented (shared) and will no longer remain shared post transfer, TUPE 

will not apply. In these instances, formal consultation will be undertaken with the impacted 

employees in line with the Publica Redundancy Policy and Procedure following ACAS best 

Page 24



practice. Consideration will be given to alternative measures to minimise or avoid 

redundancies including, but limited to, suitable alternative suitable employment within Publica, 

or through employment opportunities with the Shareholder Councils. 

 

7. RISK ASSESSMENT 

7.1 The Workstreams, the Officer Transition Board and the Council’s Programme Board regularly 

review the Programme Risk Register and the Programme is reviewed periodically through 

Publica’s own risk management framework.  This approach of risk management will continue 

through the Programme.  

 

8. EQUALITIES IMPACT 

8.1 Under equality legislation, the Council has a legal duty to pay ‘due regard’ to the need to 

eliminate discrimination and promote equality in relation to:  

o Race 

o Disability 

o Gender, including gender reassignment  

o Age  

o Sexual Orientation  

o Pregnancy and maternity  

o Religion or belief 

When considering this recommendation, no barriers or impact on any of the above groups 

has been identified. 

 

An Equality Impact Assessment has been prepared and is attached.  

 

Trade Union recognition is being considered for the Council.  Publica currently has Trade 

Union recognition agreements.  Council and Publica Officers are currently in contact with 

relevant Trade Unions on this. 

 

9. CLIMATE AND ECOLOGICAL EMERGENCIES IMPLICATIONS 

9.1 This recommendation has no direct climate change implications.  

 

10. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

o Annex A - Detailed Transition Plan  

 

 

 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

A Detailed Transition Plan for Council Services and Publica 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 27



 

2 
 

Contents 

1.0 Background 

2.0 Transition Planning 

3.0 Planning the Order of Service Transition 

4.0 Service Transition Practicalities 

5.0 Systems and Processes 

6.0 Programme Risks and Opportunities 

7.0 Financial modelling assumptions and outputs 

8.0 Steps to Transition and Communications  

9.0 Ongoing Transition Planning 

10.0 Conclusions / Summary Recommendations 

 

Appendix I – Project Initiation Document 

Appendix II – Transition Framework 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 28



 

3 
 

1.0 Background 

In February 2024, Local Partnerships was asked to support the shareholders of Publica 

through the Local Government Association’s South West transformation grant funding 

programme. The brief was to further develop an initial study delivered by Human Engine in 

Autumn 2023 as a bridging document to inform the preparation and implementation of a 

Detailed Transition Plan to repatriate the majority of services from Publica to the District 

Councils in 2024 and onwards. In their report, Local Partnerships confirmed that doing so 

would improve control, accountability and delivery of the Councils’ corporate objectives. 

In consideration of a Detailed Transition Plan, Local Partnerships stated: “Each council will 

need to articulate its ambitions for success and consider if this aligns with other councils. 

Corporate plans will need to be assessed in terms of their alignment to one another and the 

shared ambition. This should assist in embedding the councils to a new organisational culture 

into the ways of working, rather than creating a like-for-like structure”. 

In future the district Councils will drive directly the provision of the majority of services 

through holding the majority of the resources, with some retained through Publica.  This 

contrasts with the position currently where the service delivery vehicle holds the principal 

resource with which to do this. It is this change which is central to this Transition. 

The Local Partnerships’ report, published on 16 February 2024 was approved by the Councils 

and: 

 Built on the work of the Human Engine report and verified much of the early stages 

work carried out there 

 Clarified the portfolio of Publica services to remain; the sovereign services to be 

carved out and the services that may be jointly shared in future 

 Set the design guidelines  

 Confirmed the target to extract key services in 6 months from April 2024 

 Confirmed the need for a Programme Management Office to drive the transition. 

 

This Detailed Transition Plan builds on the earlier work of Local Partnerships and Human 

Engine through detailed discussion, analysis and fieldwork, involving a significant number of 

Publica and Council officers.  In particular, it references the detailed financial modelling that 

has taken place. 

 

Executive sponsors for this work are: 

 

Rob Weaver, Chief Executive, Cotswold District Council 

Nigel Brinn, Chief Executive, Forest of Dean District Council 

Giles Hughes, Chief Executive, West Oxfordshire District Council. 

 

Links to the Human Engine Report and the Local Partnerships Report are here: 

 

 Human Engine Report: Strategic Review of Publica Services 

 Local Partnerships Report: Insourcing from Publica 

  

Page 29

https://publicagroup.uk/media/su0f3igp/2023-10-25-strategic-review-of-publica-services_v21-final.pdf
https://publicagroup.uk/media/wkjhkonp/publica-review-local-partnerships-report-february-2024.pdf


 

4 
 

2.0 Transition Planning 

A small Programme Management Office (PMO) was established in February 2024 in support 

of the transition comprising an Interim Programme Director plus two Publica employees; one 

a HR specialist; the other a chartered accountant/modelling specialist.  The PMO was set up 

to operate on ‘hub and spoke’ principles, with the spokes being a set of subject area 

workstreams: Finance, Legal, Communications, ICT and HR comprising subject matter 

experts from Publica and the Retained Officer Group. 

These workstreams have formed part of a comprehensive Transition Programme Governance 

Framework, shown below.  

 

A Programme Initiation Document was created by Publica with progress monitored monthly 

(see Appendix I).  The workstreams have provided significant support to the development of 

the Programme.  By way of example, the ICT workstream informed the Programme on key 

operational elements and risks, as well as providing the basis for consideration of additional 

infrastructure to support the new Councils’ operations in the form of employee portal 

development.  In addition, statutory officers have contributed to a critical friend brief which, 

with the output of the workstreams, has made a significant contribution to the development 

of this Detailed Transition Plan.   

A key focus for the Transition Planning was on modelling the potential impacts, risks and 

delivery planning.  Reference was made to Local Partnerships’ advice, the principal elements 

of which are in the Transition Framework table, updated, at Appendix II. 

Page 30



 

5 
 

Key goals for the Transition, discussed with the Executive Sponsors, have included ensuring: 

 A more focused and defined approach to driving each council’s priorities through their 

corporate plan strategies.  

 Greater clarity and focus for those functions remaining with Publica. 

 Greater clarity over roles, responsibilities and accountabilities – and where direction 

is set from. 

 How performance and value for money is understood and managed and how it can be 

more clearly defined and measured. 

 Simplification of processes and in determining whether and how resources can be 

deployed and redeployed as priorities shift. 

 Greater responsiveness and agility so as to be able to deliver Member priorities. 

 Greater focus on locality and local services.  

 Employing people locally, using this in support of economic growth (e.g. 
apprenticeships), being more accessible and visible and foster the spirit of 

communities.  

 Much better definition between Policy and high-level strategy on the one hand and 

delivery on the other.  More defined control. 

 Opportunity to group services to accelerate efficiencies, by identifying synergies 

between certain services before moving and re-defining services.  

 Being responsive and business like – adopting a more commercial mindset when 

considering engagement with businesses, residents and key stakeholders, ensuring a 

cost recovery approach is implemented whenever possible to maximise service 

efficiencies. 

 Better focus and ability to drive the sustainability agendas of all Councils. 

These are linked to ‘design led principles’ to ensure that services can maximise delivery of the 

Councils’ corporate plans and Administrations’ Values.  These include: 

 Councils shaping the delivery of services - being more mindful of efficient working 

methodologies and in relation to the Council’s corporate plan objectives, which are 

key.  

 

 Councils considering the repatriation approach - where Publica employees work 

across multiple councils, considering factors such as historic pension strain, 

relationship led roles with specific councils, otherwise whether roles are shared, in 

other words whether the majority of work is undertaken principally for a particular 

Page 31



 

6 
 

council or not.  Also, an approach to the potential future sharing of services by 

Councils, if appropriate. 

 

 Consideration of cost – recognising that there is a cost to bringing services back in-

house and it may be difficult to quantify any savings such as on management costs in 

the short term. 

 

 Councils employing people locally, being accessible and visible, with the ambition of 

making services more local with greater accountability and transparency, building in 

apprenticeship and graduate programmes to ensure succession planning and improve 

Equity, Diversity & Inclusion metrics. 

 

 Grouping services together to accelerate efficiencies, by identifying synergies between 

certain families of services before moving services. A good example would be that 

under the broad header of Sustainability, could sit climate change, environment, flood 

etc. Grouping services in this way would support efficiencies assuming that employees 

were employed under a broader brief than is currently the case.  

 

 Addressing anomalies and driving efficiencies by way of straight through processing 
where possible. In the longer term, an example might be grouping planning validation 

with the whole of planning, rather than in a separate administrative function, as now 

and potentially, in future, using technology to help triage in the first instance. 

 

 

A key focus for the transition is to ensure that teams are structured around delivery of the 

Councils’ corporate plans and priorities. Throughout the Councils’ corporate plans there are 

strong areas of common focus around environment, sustainability and climate change related 

areas, community and local economic development. These aspects have been considered 

carefully in the modelling of appropriate Council structures. 
 

 

Recommendations: 

 

1. Note the Design Led principles 

 

2. Note the Key Goals for the Transition 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 32



 

7 
 

3.0 Planning the Order of Service transition 

Local Partnerships had suggested that the following services could be transitioned in Phase 1, 

around October 2024 (using the descriptions set out in their report): 

 Development and Building Control 

 Local Plan Team  

 Democratic Services and Elections 

 Corporate Plan and Policy 

 Economic Development 

 Communities 

 Climate change/environment/sustainability  

 Strategic finance  

 Strategic HR 

 Strategic Housing 

 Community Wellbeing; 

with the following suggested for Phase 2, in/about March 2025: 

 Food Safety and Licensing 

 Environmental Health 

 Performance and Business Intelligence 

 Property and Estates 

 Project Management 

 Communications. 

Local Partnership’s work did not include modelling the baseline establishment of Publica, nor 

did it include an analysis of systems associated with service delivery.  In addition, the scope 

did not allow for significant fieldwork. On analysis, however, a helpful distinction can be drawn 

from the work that Local Partnerships delivered in that the identified Phase 1 grouping 

comprises services where only a very modest proportion of employees work across more 

than one Council, whereas in Phase 2, employees are typically working across several 

Councils.  Such a distinction is helpful in planning for the Transition. 

The Transition programme discussions on council priorities clarified that all planning/ planning 
policy (except for planning validation, and planning support, where there was a consensus on 

having the resilience associated with sharing across the three councils at this time).  

The Transition phases will significantly change Publica’s scale and operations as services 

transition back to the Councils.  Accordingly, an assumption has been made that the Publica 

organisation is simultaneously to be re-structured, together with its governance. 

 

 

  

Page 33



 

8 
 

4.0 Service Transition Practicalities 

The Transfer of Undertakings Protection of Employees (‘TUPE’) legislation has been in 

force in the UK since 1981 and applies in many, though not all, instances. It is designed to 

protect the rights of employees when there is a transfer of the business in which they work 

resultant either from: 

 The transfer from one employer to another of an organised grouping of resources 

which has the objective of pursuing an economic activity; or 

 

 A service provision change, where activities are switching from one employer to 

another, and there is an organised grouping of employees whose principal purpose 

is carrying out those activities. 

A number of the services are provided by Publica to a single Council by employees that 

are now and always have been focused 100% on one Council.  This is the case for the 

majority of Phase 1.  It would therefore be reasonable for the Councils to conclude that 

for the most part, TUPE will apply to the insourcing of the services and hence employees 

in Phase 1. In those instances where TUPE does not apply, which relates to roles which 

are fragmented and/or will no longer remain shared, processes that are objectively fair, 

reasonable and transparent would be applied.  

 

HR have checklists ready and available for TUPE transfers for both Transferor and 

Transferee and will also have a suite of documentation ready for use as Councils move to 

initiate, carry out and complete the TUPE process. Ensuring the process is followed 

correctly reduces risk and supports employees and the organisations effectively.  The aim 

will be to ensure that employees have a smooth transition from Publica into the Councils 

to ensure services and the customer experience continue throughout the process to 

underpin success. 

Whilst planning is ongoing, it is imperative that confidentiality is maintained so far as 

practicably possible.  The Programme Office, HR and Communications have working on 

the basis that the transition of services is under consideration and no more than that.  Any 

direct conversations between Council management and Publica employees could be 

construed as consultation before formal consultation has been initiated and should 

therefore be avoided.  

All communications to any or all employee(s) in relation to the transition should be 

conducted through official channels whether that is through the Communications Team or 

by HR, Trade Unions and the joint consultation process.   

 

 

 

 

  

Page 34



 

9 
 

5.0 Systems and processes 

A key element of the transition is ICT as this underpins all operations. It also links closely to 

communications, which will be key in delivering a successful Transition.  

Many of the ICT systems are inter-linked.  Some of the systems licences are owned by 

Publica, some by a single Council, some by all four Councils. No particular issues were 

identified through the ICT Workstream in terms of systems and processes for the 

transition.  The current ICT set up is flexible to an extent that will relatively easily support 

the transition that is envisaged, though this will require significant focus and resource from 

the ICT Team to be able to deliver this. 

Microsoft Tenants are becoming more important over time.   When Publica was created, 

Microsoft Tenants in their present form did not exist.  Subsequently a single Tenant was 

created for the three District Councils aligned to objectives for Publica.  Whilst this should 

be maintained for at least Phase 1 and Phase 2 of the transition, logic dictates that the three 

Councils should move, ultimately, to a single Microsoft Tenant for each Council, as each 

Council begins to assume a greater role in direct service delivery.  

All employees currently have access to a Publica portal and there are three Councillor portals 

(one for each District Council) in addition.  All are hosted and created using a product called 

Lumapps. In the medium term, it would make sense to look at moving this functionality to 

Microsoft 365.   This is not a sensible approach until there are dedicated Microsoft Tenants 

for each Council as there is a one-to-one relationship between portals and tenants in 

Microsoft. The short-term solution is to create three new portals in the Lumapps product, 

one for each Council and the Councillor portals could potentially be merged in and this is to 

be progressed to ensure that each Council has its own employee portal ahead of Phase 1 ‘go 

live’ at no additional cost. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 35



 

10 
 

6.0 Programme Risks and Opportunities 

A Programme Risk and Opportunity Register has been developed aligned to each Council’s 

Risk Management Policy with input through the Workstreams and Retained Officers and 

is available for viewing via the PMO.  

Key risks that require continued focus throughout the transition and are elevated on the 

Risk Register centre around: 

 Processes linked to the transition, and the need to follow the law and due process 

 People, the need to continue to motivate, attract and retain 

 Communications, the need to ensure effective and timely communications for each 

relevant audience. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 36



 

11 
 

7.0 Financial modelling assumptions and outputs  

 

The Detailed Transition Plan (“DTP”) provides the framework for services to transition from 

Publica to each Council and will have a significant impact on the cost-of-service delivery. 

 

Given the scale and complexity of the Publica Review programme, extensive due diligence on 

the Human Engine review and Local Partnerships report recommendations has been 

undertaken. 

 

A detailed financial model has been developed, tested and reviewed with a key output from 

the financial model considering the affordability of service delivery choices through 

identification and quantification of:  

 

 Additional costs associated with service delivery of services transferring from Publica 

to each Council in Phase 1 

 Reductions in the Publica contract sum as a result 

 

There are two financial models that have been developed in support of the financial due 

diligence.  A Baseline Model (“BM”) developed from Publica’s payroll data and reconciled 

against the agreed Publica Contract Sum (“PCS”).  A subsequent Council Model (“CM”) was 

developed building on the agreed output from the BM with additional post included to support 

Phase 1 services in each Council.  The output from the CM is therefore considered within 

this section of the Detailed Transition Plan. 

 

Publica Contract Sum/ Baseline Model 

 

The agreed Publica Contract Sum (excluding mark-up and transformation) for the 2023/24 

and 2024/25 financial years is shown in the Table below. 

 

 
 

The Baseline Model was developed from Publica Payroll data and reconciled back to the 

2023/24 base contract sum.  Several material differences were identified and investigated 

through the reconciliation process: 

 

 Vacant posts – duplication of vacant post due to creation of new post references 

rather than utilising the vacant post reference. 

 Post reference discrepancies between payroll, service establishments and working 

papers supporting the contract sum budget – allocation of new post references as 

above. 

A. Contract S um  Reconcilia tion TOTAL  (£)

Cheltenham  

B orough 

Council (£)

F orest of 

Dean District 

Council (£)

West 

Oxfordshire 

District 

Council (£)

Cotswold 

District 

Council (£)

2023/24 Base Contract Sum 30,358,576 966,439 7,388,247 11,266,710 10,737,179

2024/25 Base Contract Sum 32,137,769 826,653 7,888,763 12,259,122 11,163,232

Page 37



 

12 
 

 

Posts funded outside of the contract sum (i.e., time-limited posts funded from each Council’s 

other resources such as earmarked reserves). 

 

The BM was subject to check and challenge/peer review by s151 officers through the Finance 

Workstream.  S151 officers were content that the BM was based on accurate and reliable 

financial data, included reasonable financial assumptions to support financial forecasting, and 

had been prepared following best practice financial modelling principles (ICAEW Financial 

Modelling Code). 

 

The key output from the BM is the identification of the baseline cost of posts/services that 

transfer to each Council under Phase 1 of the transition plan and the impact on the baseline 

cost resulting from the additional employer pension contribution costs associated with the 

Local Government Pension Scheme (“LGPS”). 

 

 
 

Council Model (RAG rating for each assumption/output) 

 

The CM builds on the outputs from the BM and includes the costs of additional Council roles 

that are required to support Phase 1 services. 

S ervice Area
B aseline 

Cost (£)

P hase 1 

Cost (£)

Change in 

Cost (£)

% 

Change 

in Cost

P osts

BUC001: Building Control 784,321 827,054 42,733 5.45% 19

CCR001: Community Engagement 824,080 873,493 49,413 6.00% 31

COM001: Community Intelligence 125,119 125,119 0 0.00% 2

COM801: Health Delivery 140,244 154,160 13,916 9.92% 18

COR801: Corporate Support 213,682 229,745 16,063 7.52% 5

DEV001: Development Management 2,930,793 3,147,609 216,816 7.40% 64

DRM005: Committee Services 440,648 485,089 44,441 10.09% 12

ECD001: Economic Development 468,704 489,391 20,687 4.41% 9

ELE001: Elections Services 368,726 377,317 8,591 2.33% 12

HOS001: Housing Strategy 245,878 260,182 14,304 5.82% 6

PLP001: Planning Policy 1,136,952 1,187,840 50,888 4.48% 25

PLP004: Heritage & Conservation 901,857 974,956 73,099 8.11% 26

REG023: Environmental Strategy 410,980 463,412 52,432 12.76% 11

SUP003: Human Resources 175,352 175,352 0 0.00% 3

SUP009: Accountancy 721,152 758,499 37,347 5.18% 13

SUP018: Communications 678,593 754,996 76,403 11.26% 15

TOU001: Tourism 221,221 233,880 12,659 5.72% 5

TOTAL 10,788,301 11,518,093 729,792 6.76% 276

Page 38

https://www.icaew.com/-/media/corporate/files/technical/technology/excel/financial-modelling-code.ashx
https://www.icaew.com/-/media/corporate/files/technical/technology/excel/financial-modelling-code.ashx


 

13 
 

 

Key assumptions and observations made in the CM are listed below and assess in terms of 

robustness, confidence, and materiality on a Red, Amber, Green basis. 

 

 
 

 GREEN All staff currently outside of the Local Government Pension scheme are auto 

enrolled.  Assumption is that there is no subsequent opt-out from LGPS (i.e., 100% of 

staff eligible to join LGPS do not opt-out).  For the purposes of the model, this is a 

prudent assumption with likely opt-out rates expected to be very low. 

 Whilst the Model includes Publica contract sum reductions, as shown in the Waterfall 

charts below, this is for completeness and to demonstrate the net financial impact of 

the changes associated with Phase 1.  Contract Sum amendments, whether increases 

or decreases, are recognised as a change to the General Fund Revenue Budget and 

therefore support the net financial position of the Council.  Contract Sum reductions, 

therefore, should not be viewed as a source of funding for the Phase 1 transition nor 

justification for increased service or structure costs. 

 AMBER It is also important for members to recognise the front-loaded nature of 

Contract Sum reductions.  Cost reductions associated with the removal/deletion of 

post within the Publica senior management structure (Managing Director (MD), 

Assistant Director (AD) roles have been allocated in full against Phase 1.  As a result, 

no further indirect savings are anticipated across future phases thereby limiting the 

mitigation of additional costs associated with Phase 2 service transfers. 

 GREEN The table and waterfall chart show the full-year enduring impact of the Phase 

1 transfer and decisions taken on Council services.  For the 2024/25 financial year 

there will only be a part-year impact as Phase 1 will not commence until November 

2024.  However, there may be additional costs in 2024/25 associated with recruitment 

and retention that have not been included in the modelling and will be identified and 

reported through each Council’s regular financial reporting to members. 

 GREEN Vacancy Factor – a vacancy factor of 2.5% is applied by Publica to payroll 

budgets at service level.  As services are transferred to Councils it is appropriate for 

the equivalent vacancy factor to be applied to Phase 1 budgets (i.e., the net transfer of 

budget from Publica to each Council will include a reduction equivalent to 2.5%).  Each 

Council will therefore need to determine how to account for and apply their share of 

the vacancy factor. 

RED

• N/A

AMBER

 Front-loaded Publica 
cost reductions

Agency cost 
assumption (not 
included in model)

• Redundancy provision 
(not included in model)

GREEN

 LGPS Assumptions

 Financial analysis 
shown in Waterfall 
Chart

Vacancy Factor

Page 39



 

14 
 

 AMBER The model does not include any provision for agency staff costs.  The CSM 

includes all posts – whether occupied or vacant.  Each Council will need to manage 

services within the available budget and where vacancies are temporarily covered by 

agency staff there may not be sufficient budget at service level.  Whilst the 2023/24 

outturn position in Publica supports the view that at an aggregate level the salary 

savings through vacancy management exceed the cost of agency staff (£1.8m salary 

savings vs. £0.9m agency staff cost), this may be more difficult for each Council to 

achieve.  The regular financial reporting to members will focus on the cost of agency 

staff at service level and identify through variance reporting budget pressures and 

management action that can be taken in mitigation. 

 AMBER For the avoidance of doubt, the model does not include redundancy, payment 

in lieu of notice (PILON), or pension strain cost (where applicable).   These costs are 

one-off in nature with future salary savings accruing back to each Council.  The 

covering report to the Detailed Transition Plan sets out the financial implications for 

each Council and addresses the business case justification for redundancy, 

apportionment of these costs across each Council, and the treatment of salary savings. 

 Note: One-off costs incurred are ‘paid back’ before any cost reduction is recognised 

in the MTFS and will be judgement for each Council’s s151 officer in terms of proper 

accounting treatment. 

 

Explanation of headings in the Waterfall chart are listed below and assess in terms of 

robustness, confidence, and materiality on a Red, Amber, Green basis. 

 

 
 

 

 GREEN 276 roles are included within the Phase 1 review. 

 GREEN The Baseline cost represents the current cost of roles within each service 

area. 

 GREEN 2.5% vacancy factor has been applied as an adjustment to the Baseline. 

 GREEN The ‘Sharing + Pension Impact’ represents any impact of a change in split of 

current role, plus the increase in contributions for new LGPS memberships. This 

analysis assumes all roles are opted in. 

 AMBER New Roles are reflective of any new positions created as part of the transition 

of services back to the Council. (Some of these roles may be offset by ‘Publica Savings 

(Direct)’ 

RED

• N/A

AMBER

New Roles

Publica Contract Sum 
reductions

GREEN

Posts identified

Baseline cost 
assessment

Vacancy Factor

 Sharing/Pension impact

Page 40



 

15 
 

 AMBER ‘Publica CS reduction (Direct)’ are those roles which do not naturally transfer 

to an equivalent position/role within the new Council Organisational structures. 

 AMBER ‘Indirect CS reduction’ are informed by the Senior Management restructure 

across Publica: 

 

The table below summarises the Baseline (starting point) and Enduring Impact (end point) for 

Cotswold District Council, Forest of Dean District Council, and West Oxfordshire District 

Council. 

 

 

Page 41



 

16 
 

COTSWOLD DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

 

P
age 42



 

17 
 

FOREST OF DEAN DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

P
age 43



 

18 
 

WEST OXFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

P
age 44



 

19 
 

Sharing  

The sharing of services is a key element of the design led principles. WODC and CDC have 

confirmed they are open to sharing certain roles, which would TUPE across.  Sharing specialist 

expertise in this way should support WODC and CDC in the delivery of their corporate plan 

objectives avoiding the need to either recruit specialists that are not readily available or use 

of external service providers. It also makes optimal use of specialist skillsets that have been 

developed within Publica. 

 

Civil Contingencies Act 

 

All Councils have a statutory duty under the Civil Contingencies Act, and as part of this, 

Publica currently provides an on-call duty rota 365 days per year to cover Operational and 

Tactical response.  This rota includes Assistant Directors, Business Managers and other key 

personnel who are trained in Emergency Response. It is assumed that those employees who 

are currently on the on-call rota will remain, whether they transfer to one Council or not, 

until a longer-term decision is made on how emergency planning will be managed moving 

forward. This will be covered through a Section 101 agreement. Strategic responsibility (Gold) 

will remain with the Statutory Officers for each Council. 

 

Phase 1 

Aligned to the priorities expressed by Councils through the Transition planning process, 

service areas in Phase 1 will include: 

 Democratic Services and Elections 

 Forward Planning 

 Development Management (but not ‘planning validation and planning support’) 

 Ecology 

 Conservation, Heritage & Design 

 Building Control  

 Economic Development  

 Tourism 

 Communities and wellbeing  

 Climate change  

 Strategic Finance (to include all finance roles apart from transactional finance (AP / 

AR), procurement, insurance and Treasury Management) 

 Communications 

 Strategic Housing 

 Corporate Planning, policy and partnerships 

 Executive Assistants and Support.  

This currently totals 276 roles.   

To support the three District Councils, HR Business Partners are to be seconded, one to each 

Council, ahead of transfer, meaning that there will be a dedicated in-house Council resource 

at an early stage to support the Councils directly pre- and post-transfer. 

Page 45



 

20 
 

In the light of the significant number of posts being repatriated to each Council and in support 

of Councils’ operations going forward, each District Council is to appoint a Director level 

post to join their senior leadership team (in a role called ‘Director for Communities & Place’ 

or similar). This is envisaged to take effect ahead of the Phase 1 ‘go live’, again, to support the 

transition of Phase 1 services to the Council and to ensure the smoothest possible transition, 

with no breaks in service.  It is anticipated that Councils would open up such roles with 

appropriately drafted Role Specifications soon after the Councils resolve to approve the 

Transition Plan.  

At the same time in moving significant numbers of people out of Publica and into the Councils, 

the Publica organisation will naturally change, with less senior management of a smaller cohort 

likely to be needed. An early paper setting out options in relation to a revised Publica, was 

presented at the Publica board at its 8 December 2023 Meeting.  For Publica, a new structure 

has been costed which reflects the reduced size of the organisation, its reduced service needs 

and budget reflective of Phase 1, which based on the agreed Publica Contract Sum for the 

current full financial year 2024/25 would see turnover reduce from circa £32.14m per annum 

to £21.56m.  The savings associated with this have been taken in to Phase 1.  

 

Similarly, it has been assumed that Publica’s board will be streamlined as the shape and size of 
Publica changes. The direction of travel implied by the Publica transition is that the Councils 

will wish to exert much more direct control than is the case today. This implies less need for 

boardroom independence as such and a boardroom that is reflective of an organisation 

structure that will be considerably reduced in scale.   Currently the cost of operating the 

corporate entity is circa £100k per annum.  The two largest elements of this are Non-

Executive Director fees and external audit fees.  

 

In re-structuring the Publica business, it is assumed that the number of Non-Executives could 

reduce. With a smaller board, the boardroom skillset is brought into sharper focus.  It will be 

important that Non-Executives with the right individual and collective skills are selected to 

support and provide strategic oversight and governance to the Publica organisation.  With no 

direction to engage in external trading, there may not be a particular need for independent 

external advisors to the business given that it is clear that the business will, going forward, be 

entirely focused on servicing internal Council shareholder focused business and with a 

narrower focus on support services, particularly systems and process related, as opposed to 

strategic aspects.   

It would be sensible to close the dormant company entities as these have never been used.  

At the same time, it should be possible to streamline external audit and audit fees aligned to 

the streamlined business.   

It is assumed that the Publica board is re-shaped soon after the end of the 2024 calendar year, 

after Phase 1 of the transition is completed. The result should be a simpler, more cost effective 

set up with no less effective governance, delivering a saving of circa £30k per annum.  

It is assumed that with the significant changes to Publica, there would also be a budget re-

basing for the 2026/7 financial year. 

 

 

Page 46



 

21 
 

Recommendations: 

 

Note the Cost Modelling for Phase 1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 47



 

22 
 

8.0 Steps to Transition and Communications 

Subject to the three District Councils deciding to proceed by the end of July 2024, transition 

timings are assumed to be as follows:  

Phase 1 – ‘go live’ 1 November 2024.   

A GANTT chart detailing the transition steps was developed by and is being managed and 

kept up to date by the PMO, focused principally on the steps required for Phase 1.  This is 

available for viewing via the PMO.  As soon as the three District Councils have made a decision 

to proceed with Phase 1, the Programme will move into an implementation phase to deal with 

the practicalities up to ‘go live’.  Consultation will commence in September 2024 aligned to 

the 1 November target transfer date.   

As mentioned, Local Partnerships envisaged that Phase 2 would take effect in/about March 

2025.  Once Councils have decided to proceed with Phase 1, detailed preparatory and 

planning work including financial modelling for Phase 2 can begin. The services identified as 

part of Phase 2 transition typically involve a number of employees working across more than 

one council. This phase has greater complexity and therefore careful planning and engagement 

with operational teams will be required ahead of implementation.  

A Communications Plan outlining the key communication gateways has been developed and 

a full programme of communications leading to ‘go live’ will be delivered.  There has been a 

targeted programme of communications up to this point.  Going forward, a meeting with 

Trade Unions is planned for week commencing 1 July and meetings with Publica executives, 

affected employees (Phase 1) and with all employees in the week commencing 8 July.  Publica 

will lead on the employee communications, however there will also be input from Council 

Chief Executives.  In addition a set of FAQs has been developed in support of the process.  

As mentioned previously, an employee portal through which to deliver Council led 

communications will need to be developed for each of the three District Councils and work 

for this is underway. It is expected that frequent and targeted communications will be 

developed from the Councils’ decision to progress Phase 1 up to “Go Live” and beyond. 

With continued focus on transition into 2025 and with a need for more traditional, rather 

than strategic, programme management capability in the PMO, it is recommended that from 

around October 2024, the Councils consider sourcing a Programme Manager to augment the 

PMO.  At this stage it is anticipated that the role of the Interim Programme Director would 

begin to tail off from then until December to which the current brief runs, though this depends 

on the degree of progress made towards Phase 2.  This was envisaged by the Human Engine 

report at around that stage as the emphasis on traditional Programme Management functions 

increases.   

 

Recommendation: 

Approve the Phasing for the Transition. 

  

Page 48



 

23 
 

9.0 Post-Transition Support 

In addition to a process of pre-transition due diligence. a transition of this kind is unlikely to 

be successful without significant post-transition support and investment on an ongoing basis. 

This is because the transition is engaged in the seeding and establishment of services from 

scratch within Councils that have not themselves delivered these services for a number of 

years.   Culture needs to be built.  This takes considerable time, typically 3 to 5 years minimum 

and requires significant and ongoing investment in time, particularly in senior leadership 

commitment and in an organisational development budget. This culture needs to reflect the 

‘design led principles’ that shapes up how Council senior management and elected members 

want their Council to ‘look and feel’, including brand and identity.  Results need to include: 

 Improved Quality of Service for residents 

 Improved environments 

 Improved operational effectiveness 

 Improved productivity 

Change needs careful planning and good management.  It also needs a full programme of 

ongoing support in each Council, training, Culture Change, through a Culture Development 

Plan, to include consideration of: 

 Values 

 Organisation culture and ways of working 

 Key Performance metrics 

It may be sensible to introduce consultative committees to drive improvement from the 

grassroots of each organisation, including in areas such as Health and Safety, particularly. 

Looking forward, the new organisations will want to: 

 Continuously consider organisational alignment to their evolving corporate plans 

 Identify strengths and weaknesses in service delivery 

 Ensure an optimal organisation structure and/or approach to service delivery.  

 Ensure regular communication and engagement on objectives, opportunities and 

improvements 

 Implement business plans, audit, review, and improvement through further 

engagement. 

 Consider opportunities for further transition and change.  This could include further 

insourcing or shared service arrangements. 

Getting this right will also help the Councils in testing “the putative barriers to recruitment”, 

mentioned by Human Engine as part of Option 6. 

In addition, Councils will want to ensure that Publica, as its key support services delivery 

partner evolves and changes as they wish to evolve and change. 

The process of transition and change is a dynamic one and one that will continue to evolve. 

The new organisations will want to embody culture from the top, fuel this from the middle 

and drive this from the grassroots of the organisations through active engagement.  They will 

wish to promote inclusivity in support of cultural strengthening and to ensure, in a competitive 

Page 49



 

24 
 

environment, the ability to attract and retain the best available employees to the organisations, 

ensuring that they have opportunities to thrive and grow within the organisations and in that 

way, support organisational and cultural development and prosperity and build the reputation 

of the organisations within their communities as employers of choice.   

The Local Government Association is keen to support the council with the Publica Review 

through a further contribution from the South West Transformation fund. It is likely that this 

work will be in the form of assisting the Councils with advice, guidance and recommendations 

on the future form and function of both Publica and the councils. 

In delivering service suites in-house within the Councils, Councils will want to ensure there 

is leadership from the top in building culture and that this involves key Members as well as 

Officers. The Chief Executives at each Council have been working with their retained 

management teams in terms of preparedness for the transition process and the responsibility 

for a greater number of employees.  A programme of further senior level engagement and 

support may be needed in forming new senior teams that will take on these functions ideally, 

beginning before this happens.  

Getting these aspects right, pre- and post-transition, with an appropriate degree of support, 

will be fundamental to being able to deliver effectively from “Day 1” after transition as there 

will then have been suitable preparation for this, smoothing the path to the upcoming and 

potentially ongoing change that will lie ahead.  Ongoing change should be a realistic 

expectation for Councils and services going forward as demands and pressures change and 

technologies in support of delivery changes.  

The starting point will be in building and embedding a culture of trust across the newly forming 

Council service delivery organisations as part of strengthening each organisation and ensuring 

that dynamic conversations of this kind are continuous, with wide engagement. Investment 

into leadership training and development across the Councils and Publica may be helpful in 

building the leadership culture needed to take the organisations forward. 

 

 Recommendation: 

Note the need for Post-Transition support 

 

   

 

 

 

  

Page 50



 

25 
 

10.0 Conclusions / Summary Recommendations 

 

This Detailed Transition Plan is designed to deliver key operational objectives for the three 

District Councils as an evolution of earlier work carried out by Human Engine and Local 

Partnerships to repatriate most services from Publica.  At this stage the focus is on Phase 1 

as the relevant service areas are largely comprised of roles that are now, have always been 

and will be 100% to a particular Council.  In progressing with Phase 1, Councils will have much 

more direct control than before and should be better placed to shape services with residents 

at the heart.   

 

A number of recommendations have been made throughout this report which are 

summarised here: 

 

 

Section 2, Transition Planning. This sets out how the Transition Programme has been taken 
forward, the Design Led principles and summarises the key goals for the Transition. 

Recommendations: 

 

1. Note the Design Led principles. 

2. Note the Key Goals for the Transition. 

 

Section 7, Modelling Assumptions and Outputs.  This sets out the assumptions that have been 

used in the modelling and the outputs relevant to Phase 1. 

Recommendation: to note the cost modelling for Phase 1. 

Section 8, Steps to Transition and Communications.  This sets out the proposed phasing for 

the Transition and key actions.  

Recommendation: to approve the phasing for the Transition. 

Section 9, Post-Transition Support. This outlines how Councils might take forward the 

development of culture and ways of working.  

Recommendation: to note the need for Post-Transition support. 

 

Page 51



 

 

APPENDIX I – Project Initiation Document (Publica) 

Publica transition plan programme                       

Programme Brief 

Aim: To develop and implement a comprehensive transition / change strategy following a decision to transfer the majority of services to each 

Council.  

The success of this programme will be measured through cost, the smooth return of services to the Councils’ direct management and the 

continued smooth running of core transactional functions via Publica. 

Background: In October 2023 the Leaders of Cotswold District (CDC), Cheltenham Borough (CBC), Forest of Dean District (FoDDC) and 

West Oxfordshire District (WODC) Councils announced their intention to transition the majority of services from Publica to Councils. This 

announcement was a result of a review of Publica carried out on their behalf by Human Engine, a management consultancy. The key question that 

the Councils asked Human Engine to report on was: “How will the Councils’ ensure financial and service sustainability and what are the right 

operating models for the future?” The recommendation of this review, which has subsequently been approved subject to due diligence, is Option 

6: Retain Selected Services.  The Councils therefore now wish to retain selected services within Publica and return the majority of services to the 

Councils, or operate these on a shared basis or via some other model on a case by case basis.  

Objectives: 

 Develop a transition/change strategy 

 Develop a transition plan 

 Carry out due diligence, financial, legal and HR prior to seeking agreement to transfer services 

 Seek approval of matters in accordance with schemes of delegation 

 Coordinate the transition programme activity with individual transition activity at each of the Councils and Publica 

 Make any necessary changes to Council constitutions, Publica Articles of Association and contracts 

 Transfer employees, budgets, HR/payroll data, email addresses 

 Work collaboratively with stakeholders at all levels to execute the transition in a synchronised manner to reduce impact on people and 

services 

 Manage change and communications with stakeholders 

 Manage risks to reduce impact on people and services 

P
age 52

https://220ict.sharepoint.com/:b:/r/Shared%20Documents/Portal%20Documents/Staff%20Portal/Publica%20changes/2023%2010%2025%20Strategic%20Review%20of%20Publica%20Services_v2.1-%20Final.pdf?csf=1&web=1&e=3SO1id


 

 

 Ensure effective programme, project management and risk management throughout transfer 

 Ensure probity 

 

Context: This work will need to take into account Employment Law, in particular TUPE regulations, the statutory requirement placed on s151 

officers to ensure a balanced Council budget over a 5 year period, Company Law in relation to changes to Articles of Association and contracts, 

continuity of pay during transfers and continuity of service during transfers, changes to pension liabilities. 

Funding: One off programme funding and transition costs – shared equally between 3 councils (CDC, FoDDC, WODC) 

 

Approach: The following diagram outlines the Publica Transition Plan Programme Governance Framework. The programme board is accountable for 

the successful delivery of the programme and realisation of the consequent benefits. 

P
age 53



 

 

 

 

Each partnership workstream, individual 

Council workstream and Publica workstream 

will have a single responsible workstream 

lead. Each workstream will produce a 

workstream brief, risk register and 

implementation plan agreed by the 

programme board and provide regular 

progress reports to ensure successful 

coordination of the transition. Where there 

is a lot of activity to manage that is on the 

critical path, workstreams will involve a 

project manager.   

Partnership workstream leads will be 
responsible for coordinating activity with 

individual workstreams.  

An overall transition plan and risk register 

(of significant/escalated risks) will be 

managed by the programme director and 

overseen by the programme board. 

Key stakeholders: This is a significant and complex change that has the potential to unsettle staff and hence have an impact on services. As such 

excellent change management and effective collaboration amongst stakeholders will be critical to the success of this programme and the ongoing 

success of benefits realisation.  Key stakeholders are staff, managers, senior leadership, trade unions, Cabinets/Executive, Scrutiny, Shareholder Forum 

and Publica Board,  

Key risks: A risk register will be developed. Primary risks are around staff retention, staff morale, service provision, cost of transition, compliance with 

employment law and accuracy of financial due diligence, in support of timely decision making. 

P
age 54



 

 

 

Reason for this piece of work:   

The council’s aims are: 

● More autonomy over service delivery and shaping future services 

● Greater control over service spend 

● Greater ability to recruit 

● Council specific focus on key service areas and programmes 

● Ability to be more ‘fleet of foot’ - shaping services specifically to the needs of residents and communities rather than adopting a one size fits all 

approach 

 

The expected benefits, as summarised in the Human Engine report are: 

i. Provide flexibility for councils in their approach to delivering individual strategic objectives and greater responsibility in doing so. 

ii. Return a critical mass of strategic oversight to councils, enabling councils to better manage the strategic direction of the organisation. 

iii. Increasing capacity within each council’s core operating team(s). 

iv. Greater ownership to deliver own savings plans, through a range of different service arrangements that best align to each council’s priorities. 

v. Provides individual council identity for services where this is not currently the case and ensuring council identity where services are delivered 

through Publica hosted but council specific teams (for example, Planning Services). 

vi. Maintain services within the current model where there is agreement that the service is working well – and therefore removing risk of 

performance reduction during transition. 

vii. Maintain economies of scale and resilience in back-office services where there is less need for a council-specific USP. 

viii. Reduce the risk of recruitment challenges for local government specific roles. 

ix. Minimising risk disruption to large stakeholder groups (staff, residents, businesses) through the ability to prioritise (or deprioritise) services to be 

P
age 55



 

 

retained. 

x. Reduction in corporate overheads of services retained in the Publica model. 

 

  

P
age 56



 

 

APPENDIX II – Transition Framework 

Phase 

  

Action Features Points to note Indicative 

timescales 

Dependencies 

1  Programme office set 

up 

 

Completed 

Membership, TOR, 

reporting 

mechanisms  

  

Staff roles and responsibilities agreed and 

staff seconded into teams 

TOR for programme agreed 

PID produced 

Meeting schedule developed  

Project plans including timelines, 

dependencies, milestones established  

Immediate Reporting lines to 

be established e.g. 

to each council’s 

cabinet 

Delegation of 

authority/decision

-making agreed 

1  Creation of 

Programme Board to 

support alignment of 

all stakeholders  

 

Completed 

  

Articulation of 

agreed principles 

underpinning the 

project 

Any red lines of each council to be noted  

Recorded and minutes of meeting 

required 

Immediate  Details may take 

time to be agreed  

1  Development of 

Target Operating 

Model 
 

Completed 

Stages of transfer, 

confirm which 

services are moving 
and when, what is 

remaining in Publica 

  

Development and 

agreement of design-

led principles 

  

Ethos of new organisations to be 

established and new organisation design 

developed – see below 
  

Early indication of the future look of 

Publica and its relationship with councils 

Review services coming across and in 

what order 

Defining new approach e.g. more 

commercial approach to service delivery 

Councils may not all agree on principles 

and phasing of transition 

Immediate  Other 

partnerships 

(shared services) 
may be being 

considered in 

parallel but not to 

be a distraction 

  

Agreement may 

not be reached by 

June 2024 

1  Organisational Design 
Model incorporating 

Review current 
management 

Review the current management structure 
within each council in order to identify any 

June 2024 TOM / Design 

principles to be 

P
age 57



 

 

individual 

organisations 

organograms 

 

Completed 

structure to ensure 

adequate capacity to 

manage and lead 

future insourced 

functions  

functional/capacity gaps e.g. Human 

Resources, OD/Culture and 

transformation requirements  

Primary responsibility sits with each of the 

councils to determine their own 

organograms with the assistance of Publica 

to share details on current staffing 

arrangements/alignment etc. 

 Purpose to set a clear direction of travel 

for the councils, to review and evaluate 

and update its practices, policies, 

procedures and ways of working, ensuring 

an improved customer experience post 

transfer of services 

agreed to trigger 

what is 

implemented  

1 Development of 

Target Operating 

Model 

Completed 

    

Phase 1 outcome: a settled and detailed transition plan ready for cabinet approvals  

 2 Financial plans and 

future operating 

budgets developed 

and agreed 

  

Detailed financial 

analysis of impact of 

transfer  

Costs of transfer including programme 

board costs, transfer related costs, any 

redundancies, branding etc. Benefits may 

be measured against these 

June 2024 Depending on 

decision regarding 

Publica’s future 

look 

2 Consultation with 

recognised Trade 

Unions 

Establishing a 

partnership 

approach with Trade 

Unions so that their 

views and those of 

their members can 

be taken into 

Dialogue should commence in good time 

to allow for meaningful consultation (and 

where appropriate) negotiation and as a 

minimum in line with statutory 

requirements 

Consultation documents to be developed 

including business case for change, benefits 

July 2024 TOM and 

Organisation 

Design/ 

organograms 

completed and 

approved. 

P
age 58



 

 

consideration when 

developing 

transitional plans. 

to services to be realised, current and 

future establishments and any resulting 

impacts on staff etc 

Financial plans 

and budgets 

developed and 

agreed 

2 
  

Communications  Staff engagement 
strategy required. 

  

Regularised updates 

to be shared with 

elected members 

including 

backbenchers 

Engagement and Communications strategy 
developed and detailed plan produced 

utilising Platforms e.g. Yammer 

  

July 2024   

2 Individual Employee 

Consultation 

Within the wider 

consultation process 

and in addition to 
the formal 

consultation process 

undertaken between 

management and 

Trade Union 

representatives.  

Individual consultation with affected staff 

should commence once business case for 

change has been developed and shared 

with Trade Unions 

Employees given the opportunity to 

express their own preference as to where 

they transition to prior to any final 

decisions being taken by management 

July 2024 Consultation 

document 

prepared and 
shared with 

Trade Unions. 

2 Managing Change 

protocols 

Single agreed set of 

protocols to be 

developed and 

consistently applied 
by all councils when 

filling new vacancies 

arising out of TOM 

/Organisation 

Design. 

A single, transparent, fair and equitable 

approach to ‘Managing Change’ protocols 

should be developed and adopted by all 

parties in consultation with Trade Unions, 
incorporating i) appointment process ii) 

redeployment process iii) Pay protection 

and iv) Employment law 

Post July 2024   

P
age 59



 

 

2 Organisation 

Development/Culture 

change programme  

Encouraging 

dialogue/ identify 

Staff champions 

Recognising that change is a difficult 

process consideration as to how staff will 

be supported through the transition 

should be developed 

Managers will have a key responsibility 

throughout the process and therefore, 

appropriate OD interventions, training 

and use of other support facilities should 

be made available 

Post July 2024 Link to 

communications 

and organisational 

design and 

development 

review. 

2 Internal Governance  Identification of all 

relevant governance 

boards and 

reporting lines to 

each by the Officer 

Transition Board  

 

Consideration of 

cross-party working 

group  

Audit and Scrutiny Committee 

Cabinet 

Shareholder Forum 

Scrutiny Panel  

Formation of Member Transition Group 

to be considered 

 

All-member briefing to gather views on 

what ‘success’ looks like 

 

Post July 2024   

2 Publica governance  Implementation of 

new governance 

system for Publica 

following transfer 

Shareholder Forum revised to meet 

current needs 

  

Revised structure of Publica board 

Post July 2024   

 2 Risk management Development of risk 

register 
  

Monitoring arrangements Post July 2024   

 2 Transfer of existing 

staff 

Transfer of staff 

from Publica to 

sovereign councils 

Regulation 3 of the Transfer of 

Undertakings (Protection of Employment) 

Regulations 2006 will apply where a 

service provision of an organised group is 

Post 

September 

2024 

  

  

  

P
age 60



 

 

transferred back into one or more of the 

councils 

Since TUPE transfers can be detailed, time 

consuming and fought with legal and 

contractual challenges, Councils are 

recommended to obtain specific and more 

detailed HR and legal advice a part of the 

Officer Transition Board 

Indicatively: 

  

Phase 1 – 6 

months 

  

  

 

2  Transfer of other 

assets 

  

As above  As above  As above    

Phase 2 outcome: completion of phase 1 transfers in October 2024 

3 Development of new 

roles e.g. client 

commissioner roles, 

new senior team 

officers  

  

Client roles to be 

set up to manage 

contracts remaining 

with Publica  

May be drawn/appointed from Publica 

transferees subject to Managing Change 

protocols 

Post July 2024   

3 Explore further 

opportunities for 

sharing 

Opportunities to 

share between each 

other and/or with 

others  

This could be carried out as a second 

stage 

Post July 2024   

3 Benefits realisation 

assessment  

Reviewed regularly 

to ensure no 

problems escalate  

Part of Transition team’s remit and 

circulated to stakeholders 

Post July 2024  

Phase 3 outcome: Completion of identification of further operational efficiencies leading to phase 2 transfer  

 

P
age 61



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Equality Impact Assessment Template Version – December 2021 

 

Equality and Rurality Impact Assessment Form 

 

When completing this form you will need to provide evidence that you have considered how the ‘protected characteristics’ may be impacted upon by this 

decision.  In line with the General Equality Duty the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard for the need to:  

a) Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited by or under the Equality Act 2010; 

b) Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; 

c) Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

This form should be completed in conjunction with the guidance document available on the Intranet 

Once completed a copy should be emailed to cheryl.sloan@publicagroup.uk  to be signed off by an equalities officer before being published.  

 

1. Persons responsible for this assessment: 

Names: Andrew Pollard, Interim Programme Director 

 

Date of assessment: 24/06/2024 

 

Telephone: 01993861297 

Email: andrew.pollard@westoxon.gov.uk 

 

2. Name of the policy, service, strategy, procedure or function: 

Is this a new or existing one?  

 

New. Proposal to in-source a number of services currently provided by Publica, back into the respective Councils (Cotswold, West Oxfordshire, Forest of 

Dean). This will impact on circa 270 job roles, currently delivered through Publica. 

 

 

3. Briefly describe it aims and objectives  

 

 A more focused and defined approach to driving each council’s priorities through their corporate plan strategies.  

 Greater clarity and focus for those functions remaining with Publica. 

 Greater clarity over roles, responsibilities and accountabilities – and where direction is set from. 

 How performance and value for money is understood and managed and how it can be more clearly defined and measured. 

 Simplification of processes and in determining whether and how resources can be deployed and redeployed as priorities shift. 

 Greater responsiveness and agility so as to be able to deliver Member priorities. 

P
age 63



Equality Impact Assessment Template Version – December 2021 

 

 Greater focus on locality and local services.  

 Employing people locally, using this in support of economic growth (e.g. apprenticeships), being more accessible and visible and foster the spirit of 
communities.  

 Much better definition between Policy and high-level strategy on the one hand and delivery on the other.  More defined control. 

 Opportunity to group services to accelerate efficiencies, by identifying synergies between certain services before moving and re-defining services.  

 Being responsive and business like – adopting a more commercial mindset when considering engagement with businesses, residents and key stakeholders, 
ensuring a cost recovery approach is implemented whenever possible to maximise service efficiencies. 

 Better focus and ability to drive the sustainability agendas of all Councils. 

 

 

 

4. Are there any external considerations? (e.g. Legislation/government directives) 

 

Services which are proposed to transfer from Publica back into the Council will statutory services and therefore a smooth transition with minimal impact to 

BAU is required. 

 

 

 

 

5. What evidence has helped to inform this assessment? 

Source ✔ If ticked please explain what 

Demographic data and other statistics, including census findings ☐  

Recent research findings including studies of deprivation  ☐  

Results of recent consultations and surveys  ☐  

Results of ethnic monitoring data and any equalities data  ☐  

Anecdotal information from groups and agencies within 

Gloucestershire  
☐  

Comparisons between similar functions / policies elsewhere ☐  

P
age 64



Equality Impact Assessment Template Version – December 2021 

 

Analysis of audit reports and reviews X 

The proposal to insource services has been developed 

through the commissioning of two reviews / reports from 

Human Engine and Local Partnerships. Links to reports can 

be found here: 
Human Engine Report: Strategic Review of Publica Services 
Local Partnerships Report: Insourcing from Publica 

 

Other:  ☐  

 

6. Please specify how intend to gather evidence to fill any gaps identified above: 

 

If the proposal is approved through Cabinet / Executive, Council and Overview and Scrutiny, a full meaningful consultation process will commence with the 

services and roles which are impacted by this proposal. This will be a formal consultation process under the Transfer of Undertakings, Protection of 

Employment (TUPE). Any feedback from the consultation process will feed into the decision-making and any proposals which are then taken forward. 

 

 

 

7. Has any consultation been carried out? 

No 

 

Formal consultation will commence should the proposals be agreed at Cabinet / Executive, Council and Overview and Scrutiny, which will be subject to formal 

consultation. 

Consultation will commence in September and is scheduled to complete early to mid October, with a proposed transfer date of 01/11/24. 

 

 
If NO please outline any planned activities 

 

 

8. What level of impact either directly or indirectly will the proposal have upon the general public / staff? (Please quantify where possible) 

P
age 65

https://publicagroup.uk/media/su0f3igp/2023-10-25-strategic-review-of-publica-services_v21-final.pdf
https://publicagroup.uk/media/wkjhkonp/publica-review-local-partnerships-report-february-2024.pdf


Equality Impact Assessment Template Version – December 2021 

 

Level of impact Response 

NO IMPACT – The proposal has no impact upon the general public/staff ☐ 

LOW – Few members of the general public/staff will be affected by this proposal ☐ 

MEDIUM – A large group of the general public/staff will be affected by this proposal X 

HIGH – The proposal will have an impact upon the whole community/all staff ☐ 

Comments: e.g. employees will be impacted by this proposal. Circa 270+ roles have been identified as potentially transferring under TUPE subject to 

consultation. TUPE will protect the terms and conditions of employees who transfer.  

There will be a small number of employees who will fall outside of TUPE due to their role being fragmented. A formal consultation process will also be 

completed for these employees. 

 

 

9. Considering the available evidence, what type of impact could this function have on any of the protected characteristics? 

Negative – it could disadvantage and therefore potentially not meet the General Equality duty;  

Positive – it could benefit and help meet the General Equality duty;  

Neutral – neither positive nor negative impact / Not sure 

 
Potential 

Negative 

Potential 

Positive 
Neutral Reasons Options for mitigating adverse impacts 

Age – Young People   x Under TUPE, the new employer should step into 

the shoes on the old employer, with minimal 

impact on the transferring employees. 

Formal consultation process will be 

undertaken with all employees who are in 

scope. 

 

Any roles which are fragmented and will not 

remain shared will have the opportunity to 

take new roles at one of the Councils. 

 

Any employee who is not on a Local 

Government Pension scheme will be auto-

enrolled onto LGPS. 

Age – Old People   x 

Disability   x 

Sex – Male   x 

Sex – Female   x 

Race including Gypsy 

and Travellers 

  x 

Religion or Belief   x 

Sexual Orientation   x 

Gender Reassignment   x 

Pregnancy and 

maternity 

  x 

P
age 66



Equality Impact Assessment Template Version – December 2021 

 

Geographical impacts on 

one area  

   

Other Groups    
Rural considerations: 

ie Access to services; 

leisure facilities, transport; 

education; employment; 

broadband. 

    This will not be impacted as the same 

service will be delivered, it will just be 

managed directly by the Council rather than 

through Publica. 

 

10. Action plan (add additional lines if necessary) 

Action(s) Lead Officer Resource Timescale 

Employee Consultation Cheryl Sloan / John Llewellyn Supported by HRBPs Commencing 2nd September 2024. 

    

    

    

  

11. Is there is anything else that you wish to add? 

 

 

 

 

 

Declaration 

 

I/We are satisfied that an equality impact assessment has been carried out on this policy, service, strategy, procedure or function and where an negative 

impact has been identified actions have been developed to lessen or negate this impact.  We understand that the Equality Impact Assessment is required by 

the District Council and that we take responsibility for the completion and quality of this assessment. 

 

Completed By:  Andrew Pollard Date: 24 June 2024 

Line Manager:  Date:  

P
age 67



Equality Impact Assessment Template Version – December 2021 

 

Reviewed by Corporate 

Equality Officer: 
Cheryl Sloan Date: 24 June 2024 

 

 

P
age 68



 
 
 
 

 

WEST OXFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

Name and Date of 

Committee 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY – 17 JULY 2024 

EXECUTIVE – 22 JULY 2024 

Subject ONE YEAR PUBLICA BUSINESS PLAN  

Wards Affected All  

Accountable Member Councillor Andy Graham – Leader of the Council. 

Email: andy.graham@westoxon.gov.uk 

Accountable Officer 

 
Giles Hughes – Chief Executive Officer. 

Email: giles.hughes@westoxon.gov.uk  

Report Author Bill Oddy – Assistant Director, Commercial Development. 

Email: bill.oddy@publicagroup.uk  

Purpose To consider the Draft Publica Business Plan 2024-25, produced by the 

Publica Board in consultation with Directors and Shareholders, and to 

recommend that the Leader (as Shareholder Representative) approves the 

plan. 

Annexes Annex A – Publica Board Report and Draft Publica Business Plan 2024-

2025  

Recommendations That the Executive resolves to: 

1. Note the 2024/25 Publica Business Plan; and  

2. Note that the Leader of the Council, as shareholder representative, 

will approve the Publica Business Plan 2024-2025 in due course. 

Corporate Priorities  Putting Residents First 

 A Better Environment for People and Wildlife 

 Responding to the Climate and Ecological Emergency 

Key Decision YES 

Exempt NO 

Page 69

Agenda Item 7

mailto:andy.graham@westoxon.gov.uk
mailto:giles.hughes@westoxon.gov.uk
mailto:bill.oddy@publicagroup.uk


 
 
 
 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

1.1 Publica’s Articles of Association has twelve reserved matters for Shareholder Council 

approval, these ensure they retain the necessary control over their Teckal company.  

  

1.2 Adopting or amending the Business Plan is one of the reserved matters. The 

Shareholder Councils adopted the current 2022-25 Business Plan in April / May 2022.   

 

1.3 Although the current plan has twelve months to run, the priorities and the narrative 

is now out of date following the Publica review and the decision to in-source services. 

Publica and the partnership is now in what could be described as a ‘transitional period’. 

The Local Partnerships report, commissioned by the Shareholder Councils in January 

2024, recommends that the Publica Business Plan should be reviewed.  

2. MAIN POINTS 

 

2.1 The main purpose of the revised plan is to:   

  

 Acknowledge Publica (and the Shareholder Councils) are in a ‘transitional 

period’ to staff and interested parties such as Councillors and Ubico, 

Publica’s sister Teckal company;   

 Provide clear messages to employees and interested parties on the priorities 

over the next year as part of a change management strategy;  

 Ensure there is a clear focus on supporting Publica employees through 

transition and manage service changes effectively;  

 Focus on the planning for the ‘New Publica’ and co-creating a new operating 

model in partnership with the Shareholder Councils; 

 Working with the Shareholder Council’s to enable a smooth transition of 

services back under Council control. 

 

2.2 The three priorities in the current business plan (Place, People, and Planet) are 

supplemented by a further priority called Transition in the revised plan. This will 

ensure the organisation is focused on delivering the councils’ priorities as well as 

supporting our employees through the transition to a new operating framework over 

the next year. The priorities in the refreshed plan are:  

 

 Place – Deliver Council priorities & effective operational services;   

 People – Supporting our employees through transition and manage service 

changes effectively;  

 Planet – Reach Net-Zero Carbon and obtain carbon literacy accreditation;   

 Transition – Support the transfer of services to the Councils & explore 

options for a new operating model for services retained within Publica. 

 

2.3 As part of the development of the Business Plan, the Shareholder Councils Chief 

Executives and the Interim Transition Programme Director have been consulted and 

their feedback has been incorporated. 

 

Page 70

file:///C:/Users/Bill.Oddy/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/N9SEN3NP/publica-company-articles-of-association-and-members-agreement.pdf%20(publicagroup.uk
https://publicagroup.uk/media/vmkgjb5b/publica-business-plan-2022-to-2025.pdf
https://meetings.westoxon.gov.uk/documents/s10080/Publica%20Review%20Final%20Report.pdf


 
 
 
 
2.4 The Business Plan was considered by the Shareholder Forum (which includes the 

Council Chief Executives and the Publica Shareholder Representatives – Council 

Leaders) on 24 April 2024 and agreed. 

 

2.5 One of the Publica Assistant Directors will attend the Executive meeting and be able 

to answer any questions. 

 

2.6 The Leader of the Council, as shareholder representative, has delegated authority to 

approve the Publica Business Plan, and there is no need, other than to support 

transparency for a report to be considered and noted by executive. 

 

3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 There are no additional financial implications associated with the Ubico Business Plan 

as the budget has already been approved. 

4. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

4.1 The Business Plan has to be adopted in accordance with the Shareholder Agreement 

for Publica. 

5. RISK ASSESSMENT 

5.1 There are no specific risks in adopting the Publica Business Plan.  

6. EQUALITIES IMPACT 

6.1 Not Applicable 

7. CLIMATE, BIODIVERSITY, AND ECOLOGICAL EMERGENCIES IMPLICATIONS 

7.1 Planet is one of the four priorities in the Business Plan. 

8. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

None 

 

(END) 

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

Business Plan  
2024-2025

Page 73



2 2 

We are proud to present to the shareholder councils the  
Publica Business Plan for 2024-2025. 

Our three priorities in the current business plan 
(Place, People, Planet) are supplemented by a 
further priority called Transition. This will ensure the 
organisation is focused on delivering the councils’ 
priorities as well as supporting our employees 
through the transition to a new operating 
framework over the next year. 

Firstly, Place - We are committed to delivering the 
Shareholder Councils’ priorities and realising the 
benefits for local communities. We are also focused 
on maintaining our high performance and service 
quality through the transition, with residents and 
businesses are the heart of what we do. 

Next, our People - We are incredibly proud of our 
employees and their commitment to delivering 
public services; they frequently go the extra mile to 
help and support residents. We are committed to 
supporting them through the transition and working 
with Trade Unions and Shareholder Councils.

Next, Planet - Tackling climate change is the 
challenge of our generation, and with each 
shareholder council declaring a climate emergency 
as well as an ecological/biodiversity emergency, we 
will make our response central to all we do.

Finally, The Transition - As part of the transition, 
we will support the Shareholder Councils 
implement a partnership operating model to reflect 
the new arrangements and we are fully committed 
to working collaboratively to deliver a safe and 
secure structure and governance arrangements that 
delivers the ambitions of the councils and meets the 
needs of residents.

This business plan and the priorities will be 
delivered against a very significant local government 
financial challenge with latest forecasts suggesting 
that our shareholder councils will need to fill an 
emerging funding gap in the future. 

Christine Gore 
Chair of the Board

Frank Wilson 
Interim Managing Director

In August 2023 the shareholder councils commissioned a review of Publica to 
examine whether the business model still suited the needs of the councils moving 

forward. The review’s conclusions were presented to the Councils in the Autumn and 
recommended that most services be transferred back to council control. Over the 

following two months the councils took decisions to endorse the recommendations 
in the report. As a consequence of this decision the current three-year 2022-2025 

business plan needs refreshing for the final year.

Page 74



3 

Authentic
We act genuinely and transparently. We do the right thing for our 

customers, our organisation and each other.

Modern
We are not set in our ways. We are constantly looking to find ways to 

innovate and do things smarter.
Flexible

We are agile - adapting how and what we do to meet the demands of 
our customers, our colleagues, our local communities and the needs of 

the modern world.
Thoughtful

We take pride in delivering a great service, taking the time to 
understand and care about the planet and the environment, as well as 

our customers and their needs.

The Publica Business Plan
Publica’s Articles of Association have twelve reserved matters for Shareholder Council 

approval, these ensure they retain the necessary control over their Teckal company. 
Adopting or amending the Business Plan is one of the reserved matters. 

Focus  
Focus the organisation on delivering the Shareholder Councils priorities. 

Provide 
Provide clear messaging to employees on the priorities over the  

next year.
Acknowledge 

Acknowledge Publica (and the shareholder councils) are in a ‘transition 
period’.
Ensure 

Ensure there is a clear focus on supporting Publica employees through 
transition and manage service changes effectively.

Focus 
Focus on the planning for the ‘New Publica’ and co-creating a new 

operating model and governance arrangements in partnership 
 with the Shareholder Councils.

The previous business plan was for three years, but this one is for twelve months to reflect the 
transition period the partnership is in. The main purpose of this plan is to:

The Publica Values
The Publica values will continue to help and guide us through the transition.

Page 75



4 

Our Priorities

Deliver council priorities

Deliver effective services

Support our employees 
through transition

Manage service changes 
effectively

Deliver zero carbon

Carbon literacy accredited

Support the transfer  
of services

Explore options for a  
new operating model

PeoplePlace Planet

Transition

Page 76



Place: Deliver council priorities & 
effective operational services

Deliver council priorities 
Shareholder councils have ambitious plans to 
deliver their priorities which are outlined below. 
We are committed to delivering key projects with 
the shareholder councils, being flexible and agile to 
emerging priorities, and realising the benefits for 
local communities. The Councils and Publica produce 
annual reports which highlight progress against their 
priorities and key achievements.

Deliver effective services
Publica delivers a collection of front line operational, 
back-office support, and strategic policy functions for 
the shareholder councils. Effective, modern services 
are at the heart of ensuring that we deliver the best 
possible outcomes for local residents and businesses 
at the best possible value for the shareholder 
councils.

Services work closely with a multitude of local 
stakeholders to deliver Council priorities including 
community groups, the voluntary sector, and Town 
and Parish Councils. They also have contracts with 
service providers delivering services like leisure and 
waste. 

We know that these services are performing 
effectively because national headline performance 
reports place shareholder councils well above the 
midpoint, in the upper and top quartiles, when 
compared to other district authorities. Through the 

transition period we will carefully monitor business 
performance through the Performance Board and 
corporate reporting, ensuring that the hard work 
we have put into improvement is maintained. 
Recent advances, enabling the provision of current 
performance information, will be critical in supporting 
a high level of assurance to the councils during the 
transition.

The Shareholder Councils and Publica have already 
delivered £3m of recurring annual savings since 2017 
(Total cumulative cash savings are forecast to reach 
£21m by the end of March 2025 based on current 
projections) alongside making significant investment 
and progress in transforming and modernising 
services, leading to high levels of customer 
satisfaction. The challenge is to maintain this progress 
during and after transition to the new operating 
framework.

5 

The Shareholder Councils and Publica 
have already delivered £3m of recurring 
annual savings since 2017

3,000,000

Page 77



6 

Cotswold District 
Council 

Cheltenham Borough 
Council

Forest of Dean District 
Council

West Oxfordshire 
District Council

• Delivering Good Services

• Responding to the Climate 
Emergency

• Delivering Housing

• Supporting Communities

• Supporting the Economy

• Enhance Cheltenham's 
reputation as the cyber 
capital of the UK

• Working with residents, 
communities and 
businesses to help make 
Cheltenham net zero by 
2030

• Increasing the number of 
affordable homes through 
our £180m housing 
investment plan

• Ensuring residents, 
communities and 
businesses benefit from 
Cheltenham’s future 
growth and prosperity

• Being a more modern, 
efficient and financially 
sustainable council

• Thriving Communities - 
To foster resilient and 
inclusive communities 
that are motivated and 
competent to adapt 
to the challenges and 
opportunities posed by 
the climate and nature 
emergencies

• Decarbonisation and 
Nature Recovery - For the 
Forest of Dean to have a 
protected and enhanced 
natural environment, and 
be on target to be carbon 
neutral by 2030

• Sustainable Economy 
- To foster economic 
prosperity while 
ensuring environmental 
sustainability and social 
well-being

• Putting Residents First 

• Enabling a Good Quality  
of Life for All

• Creating a Better 
Environment for People 
and Wildlife Creating a 
Better Environment for 
People and Wildlife

• Responding to the Climate 
and Ecological Emergency 

• Working Together for West 
Oxfordshire

Page 78



As a people organisation, we are very proud of our employees and their commitment 
to delivering public services; they frequently go the extra mile to help and support 
residents. We will only accomplish our collective aims and deliver our priorities if the 
very best in class people work for us across our partnership. We need to harness the 
enthusiasm our employees have to deliver great services and ensure that they are 
focused on delivering council priorities over the next year through the transition period. 

7 

Supporting our people through transition
During 2023, an options appraisal was undertaken 
by the shareholder councils. The final report 
recommended that a number of operational services 
should be moved back to the councils to provide 
them with more autonomy over individual strategies 
for service delivery and shaping future services. 
This will leave the Publica of the future as a leaner 
organisation. Each of the four councils are working 
in partnership to create a phased transition plan to 
establish which services and the order in which they 
will be transferred. We are committed to working 
with them and our recognised trade unions to ensure 
the transition is seamless for our employees and 
minimises the impact on service performance or 
quality.

Manage service changes effectively
A transition team, led by a Programme Director, has 
been established to oversee the entire transition 
process. The team will be responsible for managing 
and coordinating a programme of change and 
providing a clear route forward in agreement with the 
Shareholder Councils. As our employees are at the 
heart of all we do, we recognise the importance of 
keeping them informed and engaged with the change 
process and this will include:

	 Clear communication and engagement channels 
- We have already held employee briefings and 
created a dedicated page on the portal 

	 A clear migration proposal and consultation plan 
to ensure that the transition is expeditious and 
successful

	 Upskilling managers to ensure that they have 
the necessary skills and knowledge to support 
employees through change - We have completed 
a training needs survey with our employees that 
will shape this

	 Raising awareness of employees’ support services 
to maintain employee wellbeing - We provide 
our employees with an extensive free wellbeing 
support programme.

We have already completed an employee welfare 
survey and adopted an action plan to improve 
wellbeing as part of monitoring the impact of the 
transition on our employees. We are also committed 
to working with recognised trade unions to achieve 
the best possible outcomes for employees. Our 
meetings with local and regional trade union 
representatives, as well as the Employees Forum, 
provide the framework by which we can obtain 
useful feedback, share ideas and discuss issues.

1V

111

11

1

People: Supporting our employees 
through transition and manage service 
changes effectively

Page 79



8 

Tackling climate change is a global challenge. Each shareholder council has declared a 
climate emergency as well as an ecological and biodiversity emergency, and we will 
continue to make our response to these crises central to all we do. Tackling the climate 
emergency will become a key focus through all our activity at Publica, meaning we will 
put it at the centre, so it has the urgent focus it requires.

2030 
Working together to 

reach a target of net-zero carbon by

Publica’s carbon footprint is intrinsically linked with 
that of our shareholding councils, so it is vital that 
we play our full part in the push to achieve net 
zero carbon by 2030. We will demonstrate our 
commitment to net zero carbon by putting the 
climate emergency at the heart of service delivery, 
ensuring all staff understand and consider climate and 
ecological impacts in their day-to-day work and the 
decisions that they advise on. We will do this by: 

	 Rolling out formal Carbon Literacy Training to our 
employees, aiming to be recognised as a Gold 
Level Carbon Literate Organisation 

	 Securing advanced climate emergency training 
for planning officers and other employees, whose 
professional role requires that they have a greater 
understanding of issues around energy use, low 
emission building and transport technologies

	 Embedding climate, ecological and social value 
considerations in procurement processes to 
maximise the use of sustainable suppliers and 
support local businesses

	 Making climate implications a core consideration 
in decision making, alongside finance, legal and risk

	 Implementing our Agile Working Strategy, which 
will reduce unnecessary business travel, staff 
commuting journeys, in addition to excess heating 
and lighting in under occupied offices

	 Making use of our video-link technology as the 
default option for internal meetings and events, 
which is already reducing business mileage 
dramatically. By halving our business mileage, we 
can save the equivalent of 98 tonnes of carbon 
dioxide each year

VI

V

1V

111

11

1

Planet: Reach Net-Zero Carbon and 
obtain Carbon Literacy Accreditation

Page 80



9 

We recognise that this is a significant and complex change programme but we are 
committed to supporting the Shareholder Councils to develop and implement a new 
target operating model for local and shared services. 

The Local Partnerships report , commissioned by 
the Shareholder Councils, stated that “It is likely
that in the short-medium term, Publica will be leaner 
and focused on a smaller number of largely support/
back-office services.” As Publica transitions into this 
leaner organisation, we are committed to working 
collaboratively with Shareholder Councils to 
deliver a safe and secure structure and governance 
arrangements that deliver the ambitions of the 
councils and meets the needs of residents.

In accordance with the recommendations made in 
the Local Partnerships report, Publica will support 
the councils in strengthening those key governance 
areas that the councils have identified as requiring 
focus; including:

	 Refreshing the Shareholder Forum through a 
review of composition and Terms of Reference to 
ensure that it has sufficient oversight of Publica

	 Reviewing the Board of Directors, ensuring that its 
size and nature is appropriate for the revised size 
of Publica, and that Non-Executive Directors have 
the relevant skills to steer the company through 
the next phase i.e. transition/business change skills

	 Ensuring that council committees such as Audit 
and Governance, Overview & Scrutiny are 
regularly reviewing the performance of the 
company, as opposed to council services, in 
accordance with the councils’ requirements

	 Supporting a strong client function to manage 
the day-to-day oversight of the remaining Publica 
contract. Including improving clarity over the 
contract specification and quantifying deliverables.

1V

111

11

1

As we emerge from the initial stage of transition 
planning we will need to focus on building on our 
strengths within Publica for the services that remain 
and which are critical to the broader partnership of 
Councils including Ubico, our sister Teckal company. 

It is likely that in the short-medium term, 
Publica will be leaner and focused on a 
smaller number of largely support/back-
office services.

https://meetings.cotswold.gov.uk/documents/s9696/Local%20Partnerships%20Final%20Report.pdf

Transition: Support the transfer of 
services & explore options for a new 
operating model

Page 81

Highlight



Publica Business Plan 2024-2025

Page 82



 
 
 
 

 

WEST OXFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

Name and date of 

Committee 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – 17 JULY 2024 

Subject WASTE SERVICE UPDATE AND THE FUTURE 

Wards affected All 

Accountable member Councillor Lidia Arciszewska, Cabinet Member for Environment   

Email: Lidia.Arciszewska@westoxon.gov.uk 

Accountable officer 

 
Bill Oddy, Assistant Director - Commercial Development  

Email: bill.oddy@publicagroup.uk 

Report author Simon Anthony, Business Manager – Environmental Services  

Email: simon.anthony@publicagroup.uk 

Summary/Purpose To provide members with an update of current waste services.  And to 

provide a timeline and options for future service design and delivery. 

Annexes None 

Recommendation(s) That Overview and Scrutiny Committee resolves to: 

1. Note the contents of the report and provide feedback where 

necessary. 

Corporate priorities  Putting Residents First 

 A Better Environment for People and Wildlife 

 Responding to the Climate and Ecological Emergency 

 Working Together for West Oxfordshire  

Key Decision NO 

 

Exempt NO  

 

Consultees/ 

Consultation  

  

 

Page 83

Agenda Item 8



 
 
 
 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.1 West Oxfordshire District Council (WODC) has contracted with Ubico for waste 

collection, street cleansing, grounds and other ancillary services since 1 April 2015.  Ubico is 

a Teckal company wholly owned by its shareholder councils, WODC is a shareholder 

partner of Ubico. Ubico’s contract with WODC is due to end on 1 April 2026. 

1.2 Ubico’s performance, particularly in terms of key waste areas of missed bins and container 

deliveries has improved significantly over the last 12 months, particularly since the 

introduction of a shared improvement plan between Ubico and Publica. 

1.3 The contract requires WODC to notify Ubico of its intentions regarding a future contract 

before 1 April 2025.  This report provides a suite of options for a future contract. 

2. BACKGROUND 

2.1 Arrangements between WODC and Ubico are through a Teckal route, which means 

WODC are part owners and client of Ubico.  Teckal arrangements give WODC full control 

of Ubico to directly award services without the need for procurement, the Teckal approach 

also means that expensive local authority pension costs are avoided.  Teckal contracts allow 

a significant amount of flexibility between the client and contractor, however contract 

management can be more difficult as contract charges (defaults) are not normally present in 

Teckal contracts as this would be equivalent to WODC fining itself.   

2.2 WODC is part of the Oxfordshire Resources and Waste Partnership (ORWP), which, in 

summary is senior officers and members working collegiately on ways to deliver key 

corporate objectives by close partnership working.  The partnership has already delivered 

significant savings on a future recycling disposal contract. 

2.3 There has recently been a change in national government, this is likely to bring a change to 

waste management policy.  The Labour Party’s manifesto was light on waste policy, however 

it is very likely that Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR) will continue as a policy 

objective. 

3. EXISTING SERVICE DELIVERY 

3.1 The WODC waste service has improved significantly over recent months.  Missed bins and 

container deliveries are the key metrics often used to evaluate a waste service as these are 

the two most heavily used areas of the waste service and most likely to lead to an increase 

in complaints if there are significant levels of missed bins and delays to container deliveries. 

3.2 In October 2023 Publica and Ubico came together to work collaboratively on missed bins 

and container delivery improvements.  Both parties agreed to an improvement plan which 

identified key underlying areas that needed attention, weekly meetings were arranged 

between the Publica client team and Ubico operations, these were used to track progress 

and set actions.   

3.3 Table 1 below shows the impact of these improvement meetings on missed bins: 

Table 1.  Missed bins from June 2023. 

Page 84



 
 
 
 

 

3.4 Table 1 reflects a positive improvement in missed bins, this demonstrates how effectively 

both Ubico and Publica teams can work. 

3.5 Similarly, container deliveries have improved as Ubico is delivering containers typically 

within 10 working days, this is against a contractual target of 28 working days. 

3.6 As the service has stabilised improvement plan meetings have ceased.  However, this has 

allowed the service to focus on more strategic elements in the coming months which 

include looking at the following items: 

 Greening the Fleet and transitioning away from standard fuel vehicles, 

 Street Cleansing review 

 Round Optimisation modelling 

 Zero Based budgeting exercise 

 Depot improvements including Fuel bunkering, vehicle wash facilities, vehicle 

workshop. 

3.7 The above listed projects are ESIP (Environmental Service Improvement Plan) projects and 

are scheduled to be progressed this financial year.  The projects are either projected to 

deliver savings, efficiencies and / or environmental benefits.   

4. FUTURE CONTRACT OPTIONS 

4.1 The current WODC waste services contract ends on 1 April 2026.  As part of a typical end 

of contract process several options are being considered about future waste service delivery 

models and design.  The review includes how the waste service will be delivered, this means 

either in-house, Teckal or outsourced delivery.  The review considers options around what 

the service may look like at the doorstep particularly how waste is collected in terms of the 

bins and boxes offering to residents. 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

WODC Missed Bins

Missed Bins per week Missed Bin target

Page 85



 
 
 
 

4.2 The end of contract review has started and will start to generate findings in the coming 

months.  A consultancy firm called Activist is supporting WODC with this review.  Ubico 

have been made aware of this work.  

5. PARTNERSHIP AND NATIONAL OPTIONS 

5.1 WODC is a key partner of the Oxfordshire Waste and Resources Partnership.  The 

partnership is a very active collection of like-minded local authorities who are aiming to find 

collaborative ways of working to generate savings, efficiencies, environmental improvements, 

and other corporate objectives.  WODC has led a review of strategic container purchasing 

across the partnership and identified quick wins for neighbouring authorities to make 

significant savings on their container purchasing.  WODC have been named on a partnership 

contract for sale of recycling material, this joint contract is projected to provide significant 

savings for WODC, a paper is being prepared seeking approval for this contract. 

5.2 The partnership is also considering wider joint working options including: 

 Shared back-office software systems, 

 Shared container ordering, 

 Joint procuring of waste processing facility, 

 Shared depot use, 

 Share vehicle management including procurement and usage. 

5.3 The partnership continues to meet regularly with a strong cross-section of officers and 

members from each organisation.  Meetings range from partnership boards with members, 

to operations and Health and Safety meetings with junior officers. 

5.4 The main certainty for WODC in terms of national policy will be the introduction of 

Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR) which starts in earnest with local authorities in 

2025.  EPR will see waste producers (for example manufacturers) paying for their portion of 

waste services rather than citizens paying through general taxation.  Defra is overseeing this 

new approach to waste funding in the UK and has already begun collecting from producers.  

Defra is currently reviewing the mechanism by which money will be passed to local 

authorities.  To be clear EPR is likely to have a significant positive impact on WODC’s waste 

budget, however there may be strings attached to this money in the coming years, 

particularly around how waste services are delivered in terms of collection systems offered 

to residents. 

5.5 Labour’s manifesto talks about being “…committed to reducing waste by moving to a 

circular economy”.  There is very little detail behind this statement, and it would be 

challenging to predict with any certainty what actually might come in the future, however a 

reasonable assessment could advise that a push to reduce general waste collections, i.e. a 

move to 3 or 4 weekly general waste collections could be seen.  

 

 

Page 86



 
 
 
 

6. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

6.1 N/A 

7. CONCLUSIONS 

7.1 The paper provides Overview and Scrutiny Committee with a high-level review of waste 

services in WODC and gives an assessment of options for the future and potential contract 

and partnership options.    

8. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

8.1 N/A 

9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

9.1 N/A 

10. RISK ASSESSMENT 

10.1 N/A 

11. EQUALITIES IMPACT 

11.1 N/A 

12. CLIMATE AND ECOLOGICAL EMERGENCIES IMPLICATIONS 

12.1 N/A 

13. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

13.1 None submitted, slides on this report will be delivered at the Overview and Scrutiny 

session. 

(END) 

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 

 

WEST OXFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

Name and Date of 

Committee 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – 17 JULY 2024 

EXECUTIVE – 22 JULY 2024 

Subject COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL) DRAFT CHARGING 

SCHEDULE 

Wards Affected ALL 

Accountable Member Councillor Charlie Maynard – Executive Member for Planning and 

Sustainable Development 

Email: charlie.maynard@westoxon.gov.uk 

Accountable Officer 
 

Charlie Jackson – Assistant Director, Planning and Sustainability. 

Email: charlie.jackson@publicagroup.uk   

Report Author Chris Hargraves – Planning Policy Manager. 

Email: chris.hargraves@westoxon.gov.uk 

Purpose To consider a draft CIL charging schedule which has been prepared in 

response to updated viability evidence.  

Annexes 

 

Annex A – Draft CIL Charging Schedule (June 2024) 

Annex B – CIL Viability Report (May 2024) 

Recommendations That the Executive resolves to: 

1. Approve the Community Infrastructure Levy Draft Charging Schedule 

(DCS) attached at Annex A for the purposes of a six-week period of 

public consultation in accordance with the Community Infrastructure 

Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended);  

2. Delegate authority to the Planning Policy Manager to make any minor 

factual/typographical amendments to the CIL Draft Charging Schedule 

(DCS) following consultation with the Executive Member for Planning 

and Sustainable Development, prior to publication;  

Page 89

Agenda Item 9

mailto:charlie.maynard@westoxon.gov.uk
mailto:charlie.jackson@publicagroup.uk
mailto:chris.hargraves@westoxon.gov.uk


 
 
 
 

3. Recommend to Council to delegate authority to the Planning Policy 

Manager to submit the CIL charging schedule for independent 

examination in accordance with the Community Infrastructure Levy 

Regulations 2010 (as amended) including any minor modifications, 

following consultation with the Executive Member for Planning and 

Sustainable Development, subject to there being no significant issues 

raised during the six-week consultation period; and 

4. Ensure that appropriate mechanisms are put in place to enable Town 

and Parish Councils to meaningfully contribute with regard to potential 

Section 106 planning obligations when these are being negotiated. 

Corporate Priorities  Putting Residents First 

 A Good Quality of Life for All 

 A Better Environment for People and Wildlife 

 Responding to the Climate and Ecological Emergency 

 Working Together for West Oxfordshire 

Key Decision NO 

Exempt NO 

Consultees/ 

Consultation  

Subject to the approval of Members, the draft CIL charging schedule 

attached at Annex A will be published for a 6-week period of public 

consultation.  

 

 

 

  

Page 90



 
 
 
 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1 Members will be aware that the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is a charge that may be 

levied on most forms of development to help fund infrastructure.  

1.2 Despite several previous public consultations, CIL has not been adopted in West Oxfordshire 

and so last year, Members agreed that fresh viability evidence should be commissioned with 

a view to public consultation taking place on a new CIL draft charging schedule. 

1.3 That viability evidence has now been completed and a new draft charging schedule has been 

prepared.  

1.4 The purpose of this report is to summarise the main outcomes of the viability work and the 

updated draft CIL charging schedule.  

2. BACKGROUND 

2.1 The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is a charge that may be levied on most forms of 

development to help fund the infrastructure that is needed to support the future growth of 

an area. CIL is intended to complement Section 106 planning obligations. 

2.2 Subject to certain exceptions, CIL is generally payable on all new dwellings and on other forms 

of development which involve the creation of more than 100m2 net additional floorspace. The 

amount charged through CIL must be based on evidence of viability to ensure that it does not 

hinder development from coming forward.  

2.3 CIL rates must be set out in a document called a ‘Charging Schedule’ which explains what 

types of development are liable for CIL and the relevant rates that apply. Rates are expressed 

as pounds (£) per square metre.   

2.4 An initial CIL charging schedule was submitted for examination in 2015 but suspended 

alongside the Local Plan in 2016. A revised CIL charging schedule was then published in January 

2017 but not progressed to examination as the Local Plan Inspector did not want to examine 

CIL and the Local Plan concurrently. 

2.5 Further consultation took place in 2020 but the draft charging schedule at that time was not 

progressed to examination. Subsequently, last year it was agreed that new viability evidence 

should be commissioned to inform both CIL and in due course, the new Local Plan 2041. 

2.6 The first stage of that viability work is now complete and has informed the preparation of a 

new draft CIL charging schedule.  

  

Page 91



 
 
 
 

3. DRAFT CIL CHARGING SCHEDULE 

3.1 The new draft CIL charging schedule is attached at Annex A. It is based on the viability 

evidence attached at Annex B.  

Proposed residential CIL rates 

3.2 The draft charging schedule identifies the following CIL rates (£ per m2) for residential uses:  

CIL Zone £ per m2 Notes 

Residential District-wide 

(Greenfield) 

£225 Includes mixed housing 

development (i.e. a mix of 

housing and flats).  

 

On-site affordable 

housing on 11+ units. 

 

Nil Affordable Housing 

on sites between 1-10 

units.  

 

Affordable Housing 

financial contributions 

apply on sites between 6-

10 units in the Cotswolds 

National Landscape 

(formerly AONB). 

 

Residential District-wide 

(Previously developed land) 
£125 As above. 

100% Flatted only development 

District-wide 
£25 Nominal rate. 

Strategic Sites £0 Nil rated. 

 

3.3 Key points to note are that: 

 In setting a single CIL rate for residential development on undeveloped greenfield sites 

and a single CIL rate for residential development on previously developed (brownfield) 

sites, the charging schedule reflects the Government’s Written Ministerial Statement1 

of 19 February 2024 and updated CIL Planning Practice Guidance2 which state that 

higher residential CIL rates should not be set for developments which are not major 

developments on the grounds that these sites are not required to provide affordable 

housing contributions; 

                                                
1 https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-statements/detail/2024-02-19/hcws264  
2 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/community-infrastructure-levy - Paragraph 024 

Page 92

https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-statements/detail/2024-02-19/hcws264
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/community-infrastructure-levy


 
 
 
 

 The proposed rate for residential schemes on previously developed (brownfield) sites 

is lower (£125 per m2) than greenfield sites because of the additional costs associated 

with bringing such sites forward; 

 100% flatted developments have additional costs which warrant the application of a 

nominal CIL charge (£25 per m2); 

 Strategic local plan sites (Salt Cross, West Eynsham, North Witney, East Witney and 

East Chipping Norton) are proposed to be CIL exempt because of the significant 

infrastructure costs associated with bringing such developments forward, which will 

be secured through other mechanisms including Section 106 agreements. 

Proposed non-residential CIL rates 

3.4 The draft charging schedule identifies the following CIL rates (£ per m2) for non-residential 

and commercial uses: 

CIL Zone £ per m2 Notes 

Large Format Retail e.g. 

Supermarkets, Foodstores, 

Retail Warehousing 

£125  

All other non-residential 

development 

£0 Nil rated 

 

3.5 It is relevant to note that on viability grounds, the only form of ‘non-residential’ development 

which is able to support a CIL charge is large format retail such as supermarkets, foodstores 

and retail warehousing.  

4. NEXT STEPS 

4.1 The draft CIL charging schedule will be considered at a meeting of the Council’s Executive on 

12 June 2024, and, subject to the outcome of that meeting, will then be considered by Full 

Council on 24 July 2024, after which point it will be published for a 6-week period of public 

consultation.  

4.2 Following the consultation, the responses received will be considered and any necessary 

minor modifications to the draft charging schedule will be made before it is formally submitted 

for independent examination.  

4.3 The examination stage is likely to involve a hearing session (noting that CIL examination 

hearings tend to be only 1 or 2 days) after which point the appointed CIL examiner will issue 

their report.   

5. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

5.1 The District Council could choose not to progress CIL, but this would represent a missed 

opportunity to seek additional funding from new development towards the supporting 

infrastructure that is needed to support growth within the District.  

Page 93



 
 
 
 

6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

6.1 The progression of CIL to adoption will allow the District Council to charge qualifying 

developments with the CIL revenues received able to be spent on infrastructure provision as 

appropriate. 

6.2 A proportion of future CIL receipts can be used to cover the relatively modest costs of 

consultation, submission, examination and adoption/implementation.   

7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

7.1 The report raises no direct legal implications. Subject to the approval of Members, the draft 

charging schedule will be published for consultation and submitted for examination in 

accordance with legislative requirements.  

8. RISK ASSESSMENT 

8.1 The report presents no significant risks.  

9. EQUALITIES IMPACT 

9.1 Affordable housing schemes will be exempt from CIL and therefore the report is not 

considered to raise any particular implications for any of the characteristics protected under 

the Equality Act 2010.  

10. CLIMATE AND ECOLOGICAL EMERGENCIES IMPLICATIONS 

10.1 The report raises no direct implications although a proportion of future CIL receipts may be 

spent on infrastructure projects that have a climate change and ecological focus.  

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

11.1 None.  

Page 94



 

Annex A 

 

 

 

 

West Oxfordshire District Council 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

Draft Charging Schedule 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

June 2024  

Page 95



2 
 

 

Contents         Page 

1. Introduction       3 

2.  About CIL – what is it and why is it needed?  3 

3. Proposed CIL rates in West Oxfordshire   5 

4. Reliefs and exemptions      7 

5. Payment of CIL       7 

6. Spending and Reporting on CIL     8 

7.  Reviewing CIL       8 

8. Responding to the consultation    9 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 – Calculation of CIL chargeable amount  10 

Appendix 2 – Summary of the CIL collection process  13 

Appendix 3 – Draft Charging Schedule Availability   14 

  

Page 96



3 
 

1. Introduction 

1.1 The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is a charge which can be levied by local authorities 

on new development in their area to help fund supporting infrastructure. The levy only 

applies in areas where a local authority has consulted on, and approved, a charging schedule 

which sets out its levy rates and has published the schedule on its website. 

1.2 This Draft Charging Schedule (DCS) sets out the proposed CIL rates for West Oxfordshire 

associated with development coming forward under the adopted West Oxfordshire Local 

Plan 2031. It also sets out a brief overview of the CIL process. The DCS will be the subject of 

a 6-week period of public consultation before being submitted for independent 

examination.  

1.3 The District Council is aiming to adopt its CIL charging schedule by the end of 2024.  

2.  About CIL – what is it and why is it needed?  

 What is CIL? 

2.1 The Community Infrastructure Levy or ‘CIL’ is essentially a tariff or standard charge that can 

be placed on most forms of new development to help fund local infrastructure such as 

transport, flood defences, schools, green space and community and cultural facilities.  

2.2 CIL is charged on a pounds (£) per square metre basis and can be used to increase the 

capacity of existing infrastructure or to repair failing existing infrastructure, where necessary 

to support development. 

2.3 CIL is intended to operate alongside other, more traditional developer contributions 

including Section 106 planning obligations and Section 278 highway agreements. Unlike 

those agreements which deal with site-specific infrastructure needed to make particular 

developments acceptable in planning terms, CIL payments go into a general funding pot and 

can be spent on infrastructure across the District.  

2.4 Importantly, the CIL regulations now allow for the same item of infrastructure to be funded 

through CIL and other forms of developer contribution including Section 106 planning 

obligations1. There are also no longer any restrictions on the number of planning obligations 

that may be ‘pooled’ together to fund the same item of infrastructure.   

 Why is CIL needed? 

2.5 Evidence prepared in support of the West Oxfordshire Local Plan2 identified the 

infrastructure that is needed to  support future growth in the District up to 2031. Whilst 

some of this is already funded, or at least able to be funded through other mechanisms such 

as Section 106 planning obligations and central Government funding, there remains a large 

infrastructure ‘funding gap’ which CIL will contribute towards.  

                                                           
1 Subject to any planning obligation meeting the relevant tests set out in Regulation 122 of the CIL regulations 
(as amended) - http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2010/948/regulation/122/made 
2 Adopted in September 2018 

Page 97

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2010/948/regulation/122/made


4 
 

 What kind of development is required to pay CIL? 

2.6 Subject to viability considerations, CIL may be payable on any non-residential development 

which creates new or additional internal area, where the gross internal area (GIA) of new 

build is 100 square metres or more. For residential development, CIL can be charged on all 

new dwellings (houses, flats etc.) irrespective of size.  

2.7 The following are not required to pay CIL: 

 Development of less than 100 square metres, unless this consists of one or more 

dwellings/annexes and does not meet the relevant self-build criteria; 

 Buildings into which people do not normally go; 

 Buildings into which people go only intermittently for the purpose of inspecting or 

maintaining fixed plant or machinery; 

 Structures which are not buildings, such as pylons and wind turbines; and 

 Specified types of development which local authorities have decided should be 

subject to a ‘zero’ rate and specified as such in their charging schedules. 

2.8 The following can also be subject to an exemption or relief where the relevant criteria are 

met, and the correct process is followed: 

 Residential annexes and extensions; 

 Self-build houses and flats; 

 Social housing that meets certain specific relief criteria;  

 First Homes 

 Charitable development that meets certain specific relief criteria. 

2.9 Where the levy liability is calculated to be less than £50, the chargeable amount is deemed 

to be zero, so no levy is due. Mezzanine floors, inserted into an existing building, are not 

liable for the levy unless they form part of a wider planning permission that seeks to provide 

other works as well. 

 Charging CIL 

2.10 Once the CIL charging schedule has been adopted, the District Council will assume the role 

of ‘charging authority’ for the purposes of CIL in West Oxfordshire. This means that the 

Council will calculate the chargeable amount (subject to any indexation as appropriate) and 

issue the relevant liability notice to the parties that are liable to pay the charge. Further 

information on how the chargeable amount will be calculated is set out at Appendix 1.  

 Collecting CIL 

2.11 The District Council will also be the collection authority for CIL in West Oxfordshire. The CIL 

collection process involves a number of stages as summarised at Appendix 2.   

       

  

Page 98



5 
 

How is CIL calculated? 

2.12 In most cases, the amount of levy that is payable is calculated by multiplying the additional 

gross internal area (GIA) by the proposed CIL rate for that particular development type. Two 

very simple examples are provided below.  

Example – One Dwelling 

Size of dwelling (GIA) – 130 m2 

CIL rate - £100 per m2 

Amount payable through CIL - £13,000 (i.e. 130 m2 x £100) 

Example – Ten Dwellings 

Total size of dwellings (GIA) – 1,300 m2 

CIL rate - £100 per m2  

Amount payable through CIL – £130,000 

2.13 Gross Internal Area (GIA) will be calculated using use the definition contained in the Royal 

Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) Code of Measuring Practice (currently in its 6th 

edition). The Council must also apply an index of inflation to keep the levy rate responsive to 

market conditions. 

3. Proposed CIL rates in West Oxfordshire 

3.1 It is important that CIL rates are set at a level that does not hinder new development coming 

forward, striking an ‘appropriate balance’ between additional investment to support 

development and the potential effect on the viability of developments. This balance is at the 

centre of the charge-setting process. 

3.2 New viability evidence has been prepared3 on this basis and has informed the preparation of 

this draft charging schedule.  

  

  

                                                           
3 Dixon Searle CIL Viability Assessment – May 2024 

Page 99



6 
 

Residential Uses 

3.3 The proposed CIL charges for residential development in West Oxfordshire are set out 

below.  

CIL Zone £ per m2 Notes 

Residential District-wide (Greenfield) £225 Includes mixed housing 
development (i.e. a mix 
of housing and flats).  
 
On-site affordable 
housing on 11+ units.  
 
Nil Affordable Housing on 
sites between 1-10 units. 
 
Affordable Housing 
financial contributions 
apply on sites between 6-
10 units in the Cotswolds 
National Landscape 
(formerly AONB). 
 

Residential District-wide (Previously 
developed land) 

£125 As above.  

100% Flatted only development (District-
wide) 

£25 Nominal rate. 

Strategic Sites 
 

£0 Nil rated for CIL due to 
significant S106 and other 
development costs. 
 

 
3.4 In considering the proposed CIL rates for residential uses, the following key points have been 

taken into consideration: 
 

 In setting a single CIL rate for residential development on undeveloped greenfield sites 

and a single CIL rate for residential development on previously developed (brownfield) 

sites, the charging schedule reflects the Government’s Written Ministerial Statement4 of 

19 February 2024 and updated CIL Planning Practice Guidance5 which state that higher 

residential CIL rates should not be set for developments which are not major 

developments on the grounds that these sites are not required to provide affordable 

housing contributions; 

 The proposed rate for residential schemes on previously developed (brownfield) sites is 

lower (£125 per m2) than greenfield sites because of the additional costs associated with 

bringing such sites forward; 

                                                           
4 https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-statements/detail/2024-02-19/hcws264  
5 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/community-infrastructure-levy - Paragraph 024 

Page 100

https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-statements/detail/2024-02-19/hcws264
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/community-infrastructure-levy


7 
 

 100% Flatted developments have additional costs which warrant the application of a 

nominal CIL charge (£25 per m2); 

 Strategic local plan sites (Salt Cross, West Eynsham, North Witney, East Witney and East 

Chipping Norton) are proposed to be CIL exempt because of the significant infrastructure 

costs associated with bringing such developments forward, which will be secured through 

other mechanisms including Section 106 agreements. 

 

Non-Residential Uses 

3.5 The proposed CIL charges for non-residential development in West Oxfordshire are set out 

below.   

CIL Zone £ per m2 Notes 

Large Format Retail e.g. Supermarkets, 
Foodstores, Retail Warehousing  
 

£125  

All other non-residential development 
 

£0 Nil rated. 

 
3.6 The key point to note here is that on viability grounds, the only form of ‘non-residential’ 

development which is able to support a CIL charge is large format retail such as 
supermarkets, foodstores and retail warehousing. 

 
4. Reliefs and exemptions 

4.1 The CIL Regulations make a number of provisions for charging authorities to give relief from 

CIL. Some types of relief are mandatory, others are offered at the charging authority’s 

discretion.  

4.2 The District Council will offer mandatory relief in accordance with the CIL regulations (as 

amended) but does not currently intend to offer any form of discretionary relief from CIL. 

The decision not to offer discretionary relief from CIL at the present time will be reviewed as 

part of any initial review of CIL.  

5. Payment of CIL 

5.1 When planning permission is granted, the District Council will issue a liability notice setting 

out the amount payable through CIL, and the payment procedure.  Typically, CIL payments 

must be made within 60 days of the commencement of any chargeable development. 

However, recognising the importance of assisting the timely delivery and viability of new 

development, the District Council proposes to accept the payment of CIL by instalments in 

respect of larger CIL payments and will publish a separate instalments policy in accordance 

with the CIL Regulations (as amended). 

5.2 Where development is permitted on the basis of specific phases of development, each phase 

will be considered as a separate chargeable development and will therefore be liable for 

payment in line with the Council’s proposed instalment policy.   

Page 101



8 
 

6. Spending and reporting on CIL 

6.1 CIL payments can be used to fund a wide range of infrastructure including transport, flood 

defences, schools, green space and community and cultural facilities. It can be used to 

increase the capacity of existing infrastructure or to repair failing existing infrastructure, if 

that is necessary to support development. It cannot be used to fund affordable housing.  

6.2 Since December 2020, the District Council has been required to prepare an ‘Infrastructure 

Funding Statement’ setting out what it intends to spend CIL revenue on as well as 

information on the payments received through CIL and section 106 planning obligations 

during the previous financial year.  

6.3 In accordance with the CIL regulations, up to 5% of the District Council’s CIL receipts may be 

spent on administrative expenses associated with the operation of CIL.   

6.4 Where all or part of a chargeable development is within the area of a Parish Council, the 

District Council is required to pass a proportion of the CIL receipts from the development to 

the Parish Council. The basic amount payable is 15% which increases to 25% where an 

adopted Neighbourhood Plan is in place (see below).  

 

6.5 The Parish Council must use the CIL receipts passed to it to support the development of the 

Parish Council’s area by funding the provision, improvement, replacement, operation or 

maintenance of infrastructure; or anything else that is concerned with addressing the 

demands that development places on the area. Parish Councils must prepare a report for 

any financial year in which it receives any CIL payments.  

7.  Reviewing CIL 

7.1 Once adopted, the District Council will keep its charging schedule under review to ensure 

that levy charges remain appropriate over time. The Council may seek to review its charging 

schedule in whole or in part taking account of relevant considerations including changes in 

market conditions and infrastructure needs.  

7.2 In particular, the charging schedule will be reviewed to take account of the policies of the 

new West Oxfordshire Local Plan 2041 as those reach a more advanced stage.  

Page 102

https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/planning-and-building/community-infrastructure-levy/infrastructure-spending-and-funding/
https://www.westoxon.gov.uk/planning-and-building/community-infrastructure-levy/infrastructure-spending-and-funding/


9 
 

8. Responding to the consultation 

8.1 A 6-week consultation period will apply to this draft charging schedule. The draft schedule 

will be made available online and at various locations across the District (see Appendix 3). 

Copies will be sent to Town and Parish Councils. Other interested parties will be notified and 

invited to comment. 

8.2 Responses should be sent to the following email address:  

 planning.consultation@westoxon.gov.uk  

8.3 Unless there are any materially significant issues raised during the 6-week consultation, it is 

anticipated that the draft charging schedule will then be submitted for examination, 

together with copies of any representations received and supporting background evidence.  

8.4 A date for any CIL hearings will then be agreed and it is hoped that the Council will be in a 

position to formally adopt its charging schedule by the end of 2024.    

Page 103

mailto:planning.consultation@westoxon.gov.uk


10 
 

Appendix 1 – Calculation of CIL chargeable amount 

Chargeable amount: standard cases 

1.—(1) The chargeable amount is an amount equal to the aggregate of the amounts of CIL chargeable at 

each of the relevant rates. 

(2) But where that amount is less than £50 the chargeable amount is deemed to be zero. 

(3) The relevant rates are the rates, taken from the relevant charging schedules, at which CIL is chargeable 

in respect of the chargeable development. 

(4) The amount of CIL chargeable at a given relevant rate (R) must be calculated by applying the following 

formula— 

 

where— 

 A = the deemed net area chargeable at rate R, calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph 

(6); 

 IP = the index figure for the calendar year in which planning permission was granted; and 

 IC = the index figure for the calendar year in which the charging schedule containing rate R 

took effect. 

(5) In this paragraph the index figure for a given calendar year is— 

(a)in relation to any calendar year before 2020, the figure for 1st November for the preceding calendar year 

in the national All-in Tender Price Index published from time to time by the Royal Institution of Chartered 

Surveyors; 

(b)in relation to the calendar year 2020 and any subsequent calendar year, the RICS CIL Index published 

in November of the preceding calendar year by the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors; 

(c)if the RICS CIL index is not so published, the figure for 1st November for the preceding calendar year in 

the national All-in Tender Price Index published from time to time by the Royal Institution of Chartered 

Surveyors; 

(d)if the national All-in Tender Price Index is not so published, the figure for 1st November for the preceding 

calendar year in the retail prices index. 

(6) The value of A must be calculated by applying the following formula— 

 

where— 

Page 104

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2019/9780111187449/images/ukdsi_9780111187449_en_003
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2019/9780111187449/images/ukdsi_9780111187449_en_004


11 
 

 G = the gross internal area of the chargeable development; 

 GR = the gross internal area of the part of the chargeable development chargeable at rate R; 

 KR = the aggregate of the gross internal areas of the following— 

(i) retained parts of in-use buildings; and 

(ii) for other relevant buildings, retained parts where the intended use following completion of the 
chargeable development is a use that is able to be carried on lawfully and permanently without 
further  planning permission in that part on the day before planning permission first permits the 
chargeable development; 

E = the aggregate of the following— 

(i)  the gross internal areas of parts of in-use buildings that are to be demolished before completion of 
the chargeable development; and 

(ii) for the second and subsequent phases of a phased planning permission, the value Ex (as 
determined under sub-paragraph (7)), unless Ex is negative, 

provided that no part of any building may be taken into account under both of paragraphs (i) and (ii) above. 

(7) The value Ex must be calculated by applying the following formula— 

 

 

where— 

EP = the value of E for the previously commenced phase of the planning permission; 

GP = the value of G for the previously commenced phase of the planning permission; and 

KPR = the total of the values of KR for the previously commenced phase of the planning permission. 

(8) Where the collecting authority does not have sufficient information, or information of sufficient quality, to 

enable it to establish that a relevant building is an in-use building, it may deem it not to be an in-use 

building. 

(9) Where the collecting authority does not have sufficient information, or information of sufficient quality, to 

enable it to establish— 

(a) whether part of a building falls within a description in the definitions of KR and E in sub-

paragraph (6); or 

(b) the gross internal area of any part of a building falling within such a description, 

it may deem the gross internal area of the part in question to be zero. 

  

Page 105

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2019/9780111187449/images/ukdsi_9780111187449_en_005


12 
 

(10) In this paragraph— 

“building” does not include— 

(i) a building into which people do not normally go; 
(ii) a building into which people go only intermittently for the purpose of maintaining or inspecting 
machinery; or 
(iii) a building for which planning permission was granted for a limited period; 

“in-use building” means a building which— 

(i) is a relevant building, and 
(ii) contains a part that has been in lawful use for a continuous period of at least six months within the 
period of three years ending on the day planning permission first permits the chargeable development; 

“new build” means that part of the chargeable development which will comprise new buildings and 

enlargements to existing buildings, and in relation to a chargeable development granted planning 

permission under section 73 of TCPA 1990 (“the new permission”) includes any new buildings and 

enlargements to existing buildings which were built pursuant to a previous planning permission to which the 

new permission relates; 

“relevant building” means a building which is situated on the relevant land on the day planning permission 

first permits the chargeable development; 

“relevant charging schedules” means the charging schedules which are in effect— 

(i) at the time planning permission first permits the chargeable development, and 
(ii) in the area in which the chargeable development will be situated; 

“retained part” means part of a building which will be— 

(i) on the relevant land on completion of the chargeable development (excluding new build), 
(ii) part of the chargeable development on completion, and 
(iii) chargeable at rate R. 

  

Page 106



13 
 

Appendix 2 – CIL collection process 

 

Page 107



14 
 

Appendix 3 – Draft Charging Schedule Availability 

West Oxfordshire District 

Council 

Witney Town Centre Shop 

3 Welch Way 

Witney 

OX28 6JH 

Tel: 01993 861000 

Open: Monday – Friday 9am 

to 5pm 

Witney Town Council  

Town Hall 

Market Square 

Witney 

OX28 6AG 

Tel: 01993 704379 

Open: Mon, Tues and Thurs 

8.30am to 5pm, Wed 9.30am 

to 5pm and Fri 8.30am to 

4.30pm. 

Carterton Town Council 

19 Alvescot Road 

Carterton 

OX18 3JL 

Tel: 01993 842156 

Open: Monday – Friday 

9.30am to 4.00pm 

Chipping Norton Town 

Council 

The Guildhall 

Market Place 

Chipping Norton 

OX7 5NJ 

Tel: 01608 642341 

Open: Monday – Friday 9am 

to 1pm 

Bampton Library 

Old Grammar School 

Church View 

Bampton 

OX18 2NE 

Tel: 01993 850076 

Burford Library 

86A High Street 

Burford 

OX18 4QF 

Tel: 01993 823377 

Carterton Library 

6 Alvescot Road 

Carterton 

OX18 3JH 

Tel: 01993 841492 

Charlbury Library 

Charlbury Community Centre 

Enstone Road 

Charlbury 

OX7 3PQ 

Tel: 01608 811104 

Chipping Norton Library 

Goddards Land 

Chipping Norton 

OX7 5NP 

Tel: 01608 643559 

Eynsham Library 

30 Mill Street 

Eynsham 

OX29 4JS 

Tel: 01865 880525 

North Leigh Library 

Memorial Hall 

Park Road 

North Leigh 

OX29 6SA 

Tel: 01993 882935 

Stonesfield Library 

Village Hall 

Longore 

Stonesfield 

OX29 8EF 

Tel: 01993 898187 

Witney Library 

Welch Way 

Witney 

OX28 6JH 

Tel: 01993 703659 

Woodstock Library 

The Oxfordshire Museum 

Fletcher's House 

Park Street 

Woodstock 

OX20 1SN  

Tel: 01993 814124 

07759 140531 

Wychwood Library 

29 High Street 

Milton-under-Wychwood 

OX7 6LD 

Tel: 01993 830281 

 

Page 108



 
 
 
 

 

WEST OXFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

Name and Date of 

Committee 

EXECUTIVE – 22 JULY 2024 

Subject COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL) DRAFT CHARGING 

SCHEDULE 

Wards Affected All 

Accountable Member Councillor Andy Graham – Leader of the Council. 

Email: andy.graham@westoxon.gov.uk 

Accountable Officer 

 
Chris Hargraves – Planning Policy Manager. 

Email: chris.hargraves@westoxon.gov.uk   

Report Author Chris Hargraves – Planning Policy Manager. 

Email: chris.hargraves@westoxon.gov.uk 

Purpose To recommend that the Council approves a new draft CIL charging 

schedule for the purpose of public consultation prior to submission for 

independent examination.   

Annexes 

 

Annex A – Draft CIL Charging Schedule (June 2024) 

Annex B – CIL Viability Report (June 2024) 

Recommendations That the Executive resolves to: 

1. Approve the Community Infrastructure Levy Draft Charging Schedule 

(DCS) attached at Annex A for the purposes of a six-week period of 

public consultation in accordance with the Community Infrastructure 

Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended);  

2. Delegate authority to the Planning Policy Manager to make any minor 

factual/typographical amendments to the CIL Draft Charging Schedule 

(DCS) following consultation with the Executive Member for Planning 

and Sustainable Development, prior to publication;  

Page 109

mailto:andy.graham@westoxon.gov.uk
mailto:chris.hargraves@westoxon.gov.uk
mailto:chris.hargraves@westoxon.gov.uk


 
 
 
 

3. Recommend to Council to delegate authority to the Planning Policy 

Manager to submit the CIL charging schedule for independent 

examination in accordance with the Community Infrastructure Levy 

Regulations 2010 (as amended) including any minor modifications, 

following consultation with the Executive Member for Planning and 

Sustainable Development, subject to there being no significant issues 

raised during the six-week consultation period; and 

4. Ensure that appropriate mechanisms are put in place to enable Town 

and Parish Councils to meaningfully contribute with regard to potential 

Section 106 planning obligations when these are being negotiated. 

Corporate Priorities  Putting Residents First 

 A Good Quality of Life for All 

 A Better Environment for People and Wildlife 

 Responding to the Climate and Ecological Emergency 

 Working Together for West Oxfordshire 

Key Decision NO 

Exempt NO 

Consultees/ 

Consultation  

Subject to the approval of Members, the draft CIL charging schedule 

attached at Annex A will be published for a 6-week period of public 

consultation.  

 

 

 

  

Page 110



 
 
 
 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1 Members will be aware that the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is a charge that may be 

levied on most forms of development to help fund infrastructure.  

1.2 Despite several previous public consultations, CIL has not been adopted in West Oxfordshire 

and so last year, Members agreed that fresh viability evidence should be commissioned with 

a view to public consultation taking place on a new CIL draft charging schedule. 

1.3 That viability evidence has now been completed and a new draft charging schedule has been 

prepared.  

1.4 The purpose of this report is to summarise the main outcomes of the viability work and to 

agree that the new draft CIL charging schedule is published for consultation.   

2. BACKGROUND 

2.1 The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is a charge that can be levied on most forms of 

development to help fund the infrastructure that is needed to support the future growth of 

an area. CIL is intended to complement and ‘co-exist’ alongside the current system of Section 

106 planning obligations.  

2.2 Whereas S106 agreements focus on site-specific matters and are agreed through a process of 

negotiation, CIL is effectively a fixed charge that can be spent on new and enhanced 

infrastructure across the whole District.   

2.3 Section 106 agreements will remain a matter for negotiation based on site specific and local 

considerations and it therefore important that key stakeholders, in particular Town and Parish 

Councils, are given the opportunity to input into such discussions. This is reflected in the 

report recommendation 4).  

2.4 The key advantage of CIL is that, unlike Section 106 agreements, which tend to apply to larger 

developments only, CIL can be charged on much smaller scales of development, thus ensuring 

that the cumulative impact of such development can be addressed through new and improved 

infrastructure provision.  

2.5 Specifically, subject to certain exceptions, CIL is generally payable on all new dwellings and on 

other forms of development which involve the creation of more than 100m2 net additional 

floorspace. The amount charged through CIL must be based on evidence of viability to ensure 

that it does not hinder development from coming forward.  

2.6 CIL rates must be set out in a document called a ‘Charging Schedule’ which explains what 

types of development are liable for CIL and the relevant rates that apply. Rates are expressed 

as pounds (£) per square metre.   

2.7 An initial CIL charging schedule was submitted for examination in 2015 but suspended 

alongside the Local Plan in 2016. A revised CIL charging schedule was then published in January 

2017 but not progressed to examination as the Local Plan Inspector did not want to examine 

CIL and the Local Plan concurrently. 

2.8 Further consultation took place in 2020 but the draft charging schedule at that time was not 

progressed to examination. Subsequently, last year it was agreed that new viability evidence 

should be commissioned to inform both CIL and in due course, the new Local Plan 2041. 

Page 111



 
 
 
 

2.9 The first stage of that viability work is now complete and has informed the preparation of a 

new draft CIL charging schedule.  

3. DRAFT CIL CHARGING SCHEDULE 

3.1 The new draft CIL charging schedule is attached at Annex A. It is based on the viability 

evidence attached at Annex B.  

Proposed residential CIL rates 

3.2 The draft charging schedule identifies the following CIL rates (£ per m2) for residential uses:  

CIL Zone £ per m2 Notes 

Residential District-wide 

(Greenfield) 
£225 Includes mixed housing 

development (i.e. a mix of 

housing and flats).  

 

On-site affordable 

housing on 11+ units. 

 

Nil Affordable Housing 
on sites between 1-10 

units.  

 

Affordable Housing 

financial contributions 

apply on sites between 6-

10 units in the Cotswolds 

National Landscape 

(formerly AONB). 

 

Residential District-wide 

(Previously developed land) 

£125 As above. 

100% Flatted only development 

District-wide 

£25 Nominal rate. 

Strategic Sites £0 Nil rated for CIL due to 

significant S106 and other 

development costs. 

 

 

3.3 Key points to note are that: 

 In setting a single CIL rate for residential development on undeveloped greenfield sites 

and a single CIL rate for residential development on previously developed (brownfield) 

sites, the charging schedule reflects the Government’s Written Ministerial Statement1 

                                                
1 https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-statements/detail/2024-02-19/hcws264  

Page 112

https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-statements/detail/2024-02-19/hcws264


 
 
 
 

of 19 February 2024 and updated CIL Planning Practice Guidance2 which state that 

higher residential CIL rates should not be set for developments which are not major 

developments on the grounds that these sites are not required to provide affordable 

housing contributions; 

 The proposed rate for residential schemes on previously developed (brownfield) sites 

is lower (£125 per m2) than greenfield sites because of the additional costs associated 

with bringing such sites forward; 

 100% flatted developments have additional costs which warrant the application of a 

nominal CIL charge (£25 per m2); 

 Strategic local plan sites (Salt Cross, West Eynsham, North Witney, East Witney and 

East Chipping Norton) are proposed to be CIL exempt because of the significant 

infrastructure costs associated with bringing such developments forward, which will 

be secured through other mechanisms including Section 106 agreements. 

Proposed non-residential CIL rates 

3.4 The draft charging schedule identifies the following CIL rates (£ per m2) for non-residential 

and commercial uses: 

CIL Zone £ per m2 Notes 

Large Format Retail e.g. 

Supermarkets, Foodstores, 

Retail Warehousing 

£125  

All other non-residential 

development 
£0 Nil rated 

 

3.5 It is relevant to note that on viability grounds, the only form of ‘non-residential’ development 

which is able to support a CIL charge is large format retail such as supermarkets, foodstores 

and retail warehousing.  

4. NEXT STEPS 

4.1 Taking the draft CIL charging schedule forward to consultation and submission for 

examination is a significant step forwards toward the implementation of CIL in West 

Oxfordshire. Public consultation on planning matters often results in concerns being raised 

about the impact of new development on infrastructure and the ability of such infrastructure 

to ‘cope’ whether that be in relation to wastewater capacity, school places or health care.  

4.2 CIL represents an important potential source of infrastructure funding and importantly, unlike 

Section 106 planning obligations which tend to focus on larger developments, will help to 

ensure that the cumulative impact of smaller developments is addressed by ensuring that they 

                                                
2 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/community-infrastructure-levy - Paragraph 024 

Page 113

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/community-infrastructure-levy


 
 
 
 
make a reasonable contribution towards infrastructure costs, whilst making sure that such 

developments remain viable.    

4.3 Subject to the approval of Members, the draft CIL charging schedule will be published for a 6-

week period of public consultation which is expected to take place from early August to mid-

September 2024 (exact dates to be confirmed).  

4.4 Following the consultation, the responses received will be considered and any necessary 

minor modifications to the draft charging schedule will be made before it is formally submitted 

for independent examination.  

4.5 The examination stage is likely to involve a hearing session (noting that CIL examination 

hearings tend to be only 1 or 2 days) after which point the appointed CIL examiner will issue 

their report.   

5. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

5.1 The District Council could choose not to progress CIL, but this would represent a missed 

opportunity to seek additional funding from new development towards the supporting 

infrastructure that is needed to support growth within the District. In particular it would 

mean that the cumulative impact of smaller development schemes which tend not to attract 

Section 106 planning obligations, would not be properly addressed.   

6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

6.1 The progression of CIL to adoption will allow the District Council to charge qualifying 

developments with the CIL revenues received able to be spent on infrastructure provision as 

appropriate. 

6.2 A proportion of future CIL receipts can be used to cover the relatively modest costs of 

consultation, submission, examination and adoption/implementation.   

7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

7.1 The report raises no direct legal implications. The draft charging schedule will be published 

for consultation and submitted for examination in accordance with legislative requirements.  

8. RISK ASSESSMENT 

8.1 The report presents no significant risks.  

9. EQUALITIES IMPACT 

9.1 Affordable housing schemes will be exempt from CIL and therefore the report is not 

considered to raise any particular implications for any of the characteristics protected under 

the Equality Act 2010.  

10. CLIMATE AND ECOLOGICAL EMERGENCIES IMPLICATIONS 

10.1 The report raises no direct implications although a proportion of future CIL receipts may be 

spent on infrastructure projects that have a climate change and ecological focus.  

Page 114



 
 
 
 

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

11.1 None.  

Page 115



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 

 

WEST OXFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

Name and Date of 

Committee 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – 17 JULY 2024 

EXECUTIVE – 22 JULY 2024 

Subject FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2023/24 QUARTER FOUR 

Wards Affected All 

Accountable Member Councillor Alaric Smith – Executive Member for Finance.  

email: alaric.smith@westoxon.gov.uk  

Accountable Officer 

 
Madhu Richards – Director of Finance.  

email: madhu.richards@westoxon.gov.uk  

Report Author Georgina Dyer – Chief Accountant. 

email: georgina.dyer@westoxon.gov.uk  

Purpose To report the financial performance of the Council in 2023/24.  

Annexes Annex A – Revenue Outturn 

Annex B – Capital Outturn and Capital Slippage 

Recommendations That the Executive resolves to: 

1. Note the 2023/24 financial performance; 

2. Recommend to Council to carry forward the capital budget of 

£4,086,328; 

3. Recommend to Council to approve the transfers to and between 

Earmarked Reserves as detailed in the report. 

Corporate Priorities  Working Together for West Oxfordshire 

Key Decision YES 

Exempt NO 

Consultees / 

Consultation 

N/A 

 

  

Page 117

Agenda Item 10

mailto:alaric.smith@westoxon.gov.uk
mailto:madhu.richards@westoxon.gov.uk
mailto:georgina.dyer@westoxon.gov.uk


 
 
 
 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.1 2023/24 was a financially challenging year. In February 2023, the Council set a balanced 

budget using £350,129 of general fund reserves and the in-year quarterly reporting 

consistently forecast a higher figure for the use of general funds.  

1.2 At year end the overspend on cost of services is £972,473. This is driven by pressure on fee 

earning activities such as Building Control, Land Charges and Development Management. In 

addition, there is a significant overspend on the Ubico contract, due to the impact of the 

NJC pay award and additional costs for vehicle hire. Voids and rent free periods in our 

Investment Property portfolio exacerbated this year end position. 

1.3 The final outturn position is a contribution to general fund reserves of £11,215. This is due 

to one off beneficial variances which are specific to 2023/24 and are unlikely to reoccur in 

the future.  

1.4 Firstly, there is an additional £503,703 treasury management investment income where the 

Council has benefited from high interest rates for the full financial year in our Money Market 

account trading and high yield returns on our Pooled funds. The global economic 

circumstances that have held up this position for the last 12 months i.e. high inflation and 

high interest rates, are now starting to change. Inflation has been falling across developed 

economies for the last few months and our Treasury advisors believe that interest rates in 

the UK are likely to start falling in the Autumn of 2024.  

1.5 The uncertainty around the Leisure Contract at the time of budget setting made it prudent 

to include an income contingency and to reduce the amount of management fee income that 

was expected to be received. However, during the year ongoing discussions with GLL have 

meant that fee income was invoiced at the contracted level and all but 12% had been paid by 

the year end. The resulting underspend of £997,853 had a significantly positive impact on 

our cost of services. The budget for 2024/25 does not include an income contingency or 

reduced management fee income, therefore no variance is expected to be reported in the 

next financial year. 

1.6 Publica returned a net refund to the Council of £251,000 relating to early delivery against 

savings targets and a slightly higher employee turnover position. The Publica Transition will 

have an impact on the revenue budget in future years and the impact of this will be built into 

the 2025/26 budget process.  

1.7 The Capital Programme for the year was approved at £14.4m but expenditure by year end 

was only £4.2m. Much of the expenditure in the Capital Programme was budgeted to be 

from external borrowing with the resulting interest costs and MRP (Minimum Revenue 

Provision) included in the 2023/24 budget. MRP is the charge that must be made to revenue 

to pay off the principal amount of borrowing taken out to fund the capital programme, 

similar to depreciation in the private sector. 

1.8 The lower level of capital expenditure was due to the lack of suitable investment 

opportunities for the Investment Recovery Programme and the slippage of major projects 

Page 118



 
 
 
 
such as Carterton PSDS, Waste Vehicle replacement and the Agile Working project (which 

includes monies for Elmfield); all of which will be undertaken in 2024/25. 

1.9 The reduced capital expenditure meant that the Council did not need to take out external 

borrowing in the year, saving £516,348 in budgeted interest costs and correspondingly, 

without additional assets, the MRP is £311,775 below budget. 

1.10 The budget for 2024/25 has been set based on lower interest rates and a smaller capital 

programme. The variances that we have seen this financial year are not expected to feature 

in the next financial year. 

 

There are a number of budget variances identified in the report across a range of service 

areas, commentary for the most significant of these is set out below. A full list of variances by 

cost centre is listed in Annex A.  

 

These figures are subject to External Audit review; however no material change is expected 

from what is being reported here.   

 

 

Quarter 4

Original Budget 

2023/24

Current 

Budget

Actual Exp Variance 

(under) /  

over spend

£ £ £ £

Service Area

Democratic and Committee Services 1,194,664 1,217,467 1,241,925 24,458 

Environmental & Regulatory Services 594,312 601,812 740,231 138,419 

Environmental Services 8,041,444 7,870,525 8,706,734 836,209 

Finance, Human Resources & Procurement 1,035,476 1,076,080 1,090,668 14,588 

ICT, Change & Customer Services 2,210,013 2,105,529 2,031,862 (73,667)

Land, Legal & Property 1,147,227 1,172,814 1,339,992 167,178 

Leisure & Communities 1,282,513 1,272,765 230,784 (1,041,981)

Planning & Strategic Housing 1,174,379 1,215,027 1,390,694 175,667 

Revenues & Housing Support 1,406,799 (853,884) (1,164,702) (310,818)

Investment Property and Retained Services (3,125,286) (1,556,043) (513,622) 1,042,420 

Total cost of services 14,961,541 14,122,092 15,094,566 972,473 

Plus:

Investment income receipts (1,102,228) (1,277,228) (1,780,931) (503,703)

Cost of services before financing: 13,859,313 12,844,864 13,313,634 468,770 

Funding

General Government Grants (2,941,995) (3,086,995) (3,210,979) (123,984)

Retained Business Rates (4,349,327) (5,349,327) (5,145,342) 203,985 

Interest Payable 522,375 522,375 6,027 (516,348)

MRP 813,391 813,391 501,616 (311,775)

RCCO 540,100 540,100 494,683 (45,417)

Earmarked Reserves (542,252) 2,050,017 2,069,668 19,651 

Disposal of fixed assets 0 0 (74,430) (74,430)

Covid 0 0 18,058 18,058 

Capital Charges (1,731,690) (2,026,458) (2,026,311) 147 

Contribution from GF (350,129) (350,129) 0 350,129 

Council Tax (5,819,781) (5,819,781) (5,819,781) 0 

Contribution to General Fund 0 138,057 126,844 (11,215)

Revenue Budget Monitoring 2023/24 - Quarter 4, 1st April to 31st March 2024

WEST OXFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL - Budget Monitoring

Page 119



 
 
 
 

2. FINANCIAL REPORTING – REVENUE  

2.1 Building Control  

Throughout the financial year, reporting has shown a consistently pessimistic picture of the 

performance of Building Control income against budget. Income for 2023/24 is £135,000 

below target, compared to £77,000 in 2022/23. The service continues to struggle against 

competition from the private sector and the general state of the economy. With interest 

rates remaining at 5.25% mortgage and borrowing costs continue to impact the volume of 

house renovations and moves which shrinks the market for Building Control commercial 

services. Some mortgage rates are beginning to come down and the advice from our 

Treasury Advisors is that interest rates will begin to fall incrementally in the Autumn. This 

should boost demand and it will be important to try and maintain our market share. The 

income budget for 2024/25 has been reduced by £93,000 and performance in Q1 of 2024/25 

is on target.  

 

2.2 Land Charges 

Income is £77,000 below target but is on par with income achieved in 2022/23. The income 

budget for 2024/25 has been reduced by £75,000 and Q1 2024/25 results are close to 

target. Competition from Personal Search companies remains strong, putting pressure on 

our market share.  

 

2.3 Leisure Contract 

A prudent income contingency and a reduced income target was included in the 2023/24 

budget representing the uncertainty, in February 2023, of the level of achievable income 

from the leisure contract. Discussions have been ongoing with GLL to review the nature of 

the contract subject to a change of HMRC policy on VAT recovery and the potential impact 

of the PSDS projects at Carterton and Witney Leisure Centres.  

Income invoiced in the year is £713,000 more than budgeted, only 12% of which remained 

unpaid at year end; and the income contingency provides an underspend of £400,000. This is 

offset against expenditure on equipment purchase of £91,000 and professional fees relating 

to the repairs at Chipping Norton Leisure Centre of £25,000. Expenditure on updating the 

internal areas of Chipping Norton Leisure Centre will be incurred in 2024/25, to repair 

water damage to the walls, floors and reception area.  
The current leisure contract expires in 2027 and is likely to change both the nature of the 

leisure offering in West Oxfordshire and the income return.  

 

2.4 Environmental Services – Waste Contract 

The Waste Contract as a whole is £654,000 overspent, £322,000 of which relates to 

additional Ubico contract costs for vehicle hire and the NJC pay awards for 2022/23 and 

2023/24. 

Recycling - the Suez contract is £243,000 overspent at £1.243m an increase of £171,000 on 

2022/23. The contract with Suez ends in September 2024 with a new contract coming into 

Page 120



 
 
 
 
force with an expected saving of at least £300,000 a year. Work is ongoing with the new 

contractor to determine the annual contract cost.  

Green Waste – the service achieved 97% of its income target (set at £1,525,995) but 

additional costs for the Ubico contract and bins are showing as a revenue overspend of 

£73,000. The 2024/25 budget includes an increase in the green licence fee by £5 a year to 

£50 which is expected to generate an additional £165,000 of income. To set the licence fee 

for 2024/25, the fees of the 10 nearest local authorities were benchmarked. The average 

cost of a licence in those authorities in 2023/24 was £54 versus the West Oxfordshire 

charge of £45. The increase to £50 puts West Oxfordshire as the second lowest licence fee 

out of 11 authorities. 

 

Trade Waste – the performance of Trade Waste is encouraging, at £29,000 above the 

income target. In this financial year we have taken the customer service & administration 

elements back into Publica from Ubico which has enabled quicker resolution to customer 

issues and the introduction of direct debit payments has dramatically reduced issues with 

aged debt. 

Bins & Boxes – there is an overspend of £93,000 on bins and boxes across the service, 

£74,000 of which are for recycling. Overspends are driven not only by additional houses and 

replacement of damaged bins, but also from the long lead time for the suppliers to deliver to 

the Council. It is therefore difficult for the service to accurately predict when orders need 

to be placed to make sure that sufficient stock is held to fulfil requests from residents. 

 

2.5    Development Management Applications  

Planning Application income has always been volatile, with significant variations month on 

month. Much of the volatility is created by major applications and the lengthy discussions 

that are required before an application is submitted. In 2023/24 income is £81,000 below 

budget. The government announced a 25% increase in Planning Application fees in 

December 2023, the full benefit of which should be seen in 2024/25.  

 

2.6 Development Management Appeals 

Over the last 18 months the number of Planning Appeals and subsequent Planning Inquiries 

has increased. For many appeals we are obliged to employ specialist barristers to defend the 

Council’s position. Each appeal, depending on how complicated, costs the Council between 

£20,000 and £40,000 on average. The overspend for 2023/24 is £184,000 or 18.9% of the 

total cost of services overspend for the year. At the time of setting the budget, £90,000 was 

considered a prudent increase to the budget for Planning Appeals, this is now looking 

inadequate and will be monitored and reported in the quarterly budget monitoring reports 

for 2024/25. 

 

 

 

Page 121



 
 
 
 

2.7 Investment Property 

We have seen a mixed year for Investment Property with an overall overspend of £892,00 

due to voids, rent free periods and service charges, driven by Marriotts (£315,585), Des 

Roches (£209,286), Town Centre Properties (£114,576) and Carterton Industrial Estate 

(£176,108). This position is consistent with quarterly budget monitoring reporting 

throughout the year but demonstrates that the 2023/24 budget was not realistic. 

The 2024/25 budget setting process considered the variances in 2023/24, and the 2024/25 

was based on a detailed cashflow, as well as including a budget for service charges and 

business rates, and so we should see less volatility in the quarterly reporting in 2024/25.  

 

Despite the overspend in 2023/24, there is cause for optimism as several new tenants have 

moved into our properties in the last 12 months, reducing our level of voids, with an 

increase in income for Des Roches, Talisman, Marriotts and Elmfield coming through in 

2024/25. As reported in the 2024/25 Budget Report, Between Towns Road is expected to 

be vacant for the whole of the next financial year, reducing our income by £350,000 which 

has been included in the 2024/25 budget. A report will come to Executive on the future of 

the building in due course.  

 

2.8 Publica 

The Publica contract has returned a net refund to the Council of £251,000 relating to early 

delivery against savings targets and a slightly higher employee turnover position. An 

additional 4% is included in the 2024/25 budget to fund the annual pay award, however, if 

consistent with previous years, the actual pay award will not be confirmed until much later 

in the financial year. The Publica Transition will have an impact on the revenue budget in 

future years and the impact of this will be built into the 2025/26 budget process. 

 

2.9 Non Distributed Costs 

There are two elements to the pension contribution the Council makes for employees. 

Firstly, there is the amount paid monthly through payroll which is balanced by a secondary 

cash element paid direct to the LGPS that keeps the payroll contribution at a steady rate 

and funds historic pension liability. The primary contribution of 17.6% has not changed in 

the last five years, but the secondary cash contribution this year is higher than the budget 

and is £141,000 overspent at year end, as reported in quarterly budget monitoring. The 

2024/25 budget includes a confirmed secondary pension cost from the actuary of £766,000, 

an increase of £116,900.  

However, the Publica Transition and TUPE of staff back to the Council is likely to impact 

pension costs during 2024/25 and beyond. The pension scheme actuaries will be able to 

advise on the required pension rate for the remainder of 2024/25, and beyond, once Phase 

1 has been approved and finalised.  

 

 

 

Page 122



 
 
 
 

2.10 Local Council Tax & Business Rates Collection 

Throughout the year the Revenues Team have put a significant amount of resource into 

tackling the backlog of liability orders that go through the Magistrates Court, to collect 

Council Tax and Business Rates arrears. It is a statutory responsibility for the Billing 

Authority to collect arrears which go back into the Collection Fund, of which the Council 

retains 9.85% with the remainder being distributed to the County Council (78.5%) and 

Thames Valley Police (11.65%). 

The income from liability orders however is retained by the Council to cover the costs of 

administering the service. In 2023/24 there is a £279,000 surplus which is not ring fenced to 

Revenues administration but goes into the General Fund to support core Council services. 

 

2.11 Admin Buildings  

Across the Council’s admin buildings there is an overspend of £96,000 which represents a 

combination of overspends on reactive maintenance, the delayed timeline for renting out 

Elmfield and underspends on utility costs. The overall saving on utilities in 2023/24 has been 

£68,000 due to a partnership agreement the Council has entered into with the Publica 

partner Councils and Cheltenham Borough Council and the subsequent change in utilities 

provider mid-year. The 2024/25 budget has been reduced by £77,000 to take into account 

that the Council no longer occupies Elmfield.  

3. FUNDING 

3.1 Retained Business Rates and Pooling 

The accounting arrangements for Business Rates are complex and statute requires recognition 

of items charged in one financial year to be resolved in the following year i.e. the deficit arising 

in 2023/24 (the shortfall in collectable rates vs expected due to the Govt’s reliefs) will be 

repaid to the Collection Fund in 2024/25. This deficit has therefore been budgeted for in 

2024/25 and will be funded by the Business Rates deficit earmarked reserve set up specifically 

for this repayment.  

As the Billing Authority the Council collects 100% of the ‘payable’ income but distributes 50% 

of the ‘budgeted’ income (regardless of whether the actual cash collected has reduced 

significantly due to Govt reliefs) to Central Government and 10% to the County Council on 

a monthly basis. 

The table below shows the calculation of the budgeted / expected Business Rate income for 

the Council vs the Actual.  

 

Page 123



 
 
 
 

 

 

4. TRANSFER TO EARMARKED RESERVES 

The table below shows the proposed movements to earmarked reserves.  

After the proposed movements to earmarked reserves, the final outturn position will be an 

£11,215 surplus which will go to the General Fund.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Budget Actual

2023/24 2023/24

£m £m

Total BR Income 41.305 40.196 Expected vs Collectable

WODC share 40% 16.522 16.522

WODC receive 40%.  50% goes to Govt 

with 10% going to the County, fixed 

through NNDR 1 at Budget Setting. 

Uncollectable income compensated 

by exceptional S31 Grant.

Less Tariff -13.759 -13.759

 This is a Govt specified adjustment to 

reduce our collected rates to the 

baseline funding level they 

determine.

Deficit Payable -0.991 -0.991 Fixed at Budget Setting

S31 Grant 5.074 4.895

Grant received to compensate for lost 

business rates income due to Central 

Gov policy

Renewables 0.272 0.271

Income retained by WODC for 

renewable energy schemes

BR Income 7.118 6.938

Less Levy -2.239 -0.566

This represents 50% of excess funding 

over baseline net of Pool Gain

Net Business Rates 4.879 6.372

Movement to Reserves 0 -1.227

To fund the deficit paid out in 2024/25 

& 2025/26 relating to 2023/24 & 

2024/25

Retained Income 4.879 5.145

Page 124



 
 
 
 

Reserve 
Transfers To 

Reserves 
  

  £   

Business Rates Deficit 

Reserve 
1,227,910 

S31 grant to fund Business Rates deficit 
relating to 2022/23 & 2023/24 to be repaid 

to the Collection Fund in 2024/25 & 

2025/26. 

Project Contingency Reserve 75,000 

Reserve delegated to Director of Finance 

to fund feasibility studies and external 

consultant work for projects i.e. Weavers 

Fold, Housing Option Appraisal, 

Hensington Road etc 

Service Resilience Reserve 30,000 

Part of the ICT underspend in 2023/24 to 

fund migration to the Cloud platform to 

improve data security and management 

software changes to be compliant with ISO 

27001, projects delayed from  2023/24 to 

be implemented in 2024/25 

Climate Change Reserve 49,932 
Grant funding - Coronation Living Heritage 

Fund to be spent in 2024/25 

Homelessness Prevention 

Reserve 
325,000 

Specific grant allocation for Domestic 

Abuse Safe Accommodation county wide 

scheme, Domestic Abuse & Rough Sleeping 

Specialist post and a Flexible Homelessness 

Prevention Fund to reduce reliance on Bed 

& Breakfast accommodation.  

Total Proposed Movement  1,707,842   

 

5. FINANCIAL REPORTING - CAPITAL 

5.1 The capital programme approved by Council as part of the budget for 2023/24 totalled 

£14,440,557. At year end £4,247,831 had been spent against this budget.  

5.2 The majority of the underspend is related to the Investment Recovery Programme, 

budgeted at £5,000,000 but due to high borrowing costs, no suitable financially viable 

projects were identified in the year that complied with the approved Investment Strategy. 

5.3 Other significant underspends represent delays in key projects i.e. Carterton PSDS, 

replacement of Waste Vehicles and the element of Agile working, including Elmfield, that 

will be undertaken in 2024/25. 

5.4 A full breakdown of the schemes for the year and expenditure at 31st March is attached at 

Annex B. 

Page 125



 
 
 
 

6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

6.1 The positive outturn position for 2023/24 is due to one off factors. The underlying cost of 

services overspend is of concern making the budget setting process for 2025/26 likely to be 

a challenging one. 

7. CONCLUSION 

7.1 The outturn for 2023/24, with a cost of services overspend of £972,473 underlines the 

continuing pressure on the Council’s finances, as identified in the MTFS approved by Council 

in February. The uncertainty around future Local Government funding, the end of the 

Statutory override for Pooled Fund investments and the Publica Review remain risks to the 

revenue budget. Mitigation of these risks, through the repurposing of some earmarked 

reserves, was agreed by Council at budget setting for 2024/25. This should, in the short to 

medium term, preserve an adequate general fund balance to endeavour to be able to set a 

balanced revenue budget.   

 

As detailed in this report, there are several key factors which impact the financial stability of 

the Council. Some, such as the recycling and leisure contracts, are within the control of the 

Council while others, such as the financial settlement and interest rate movements, the 

Council has no control over.  

 

By careful financial management and doing the best possible in terms of the factors within 

our control, the Council can put itself in the best position to be able to withstand the 

adverse impact when factors beyond our control go against us.  

 

8. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

8.1 None 

9. RISK ASSESSMENT 

9.1 Not applicable 

10. EQUALITIES IMPACT 

10.1 None 

11. CLIMATE AND ECOLOGICAL EMERGENCIES IMPLICATIONS 

11.1 None 

12. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

None 

  

 

Page 126



 

Annex A - Comparison of Q4 Budget Monitoring 

Profiled Actual Exp Variance 

£ £ £

Democratic Services

DRM001-Democratic Representation and Mgmt 109,280 111,366 2,086 

DRM002-Support To Elected Bodies 465,406 463,307 (2,099)

ELE001-Registration of Electors 84,467 115,550 31,083 

ELE002-District Elections 75,700 84,712 9,012 

SUP001-Administration 482,614 466,990 (15,624)

Total - Democratic Services 1,217,467 1,241,925 24,458 

Profiled Actual Exp Variance 

£ £ £

Environmental & Regulatory Services

BUC001-Building Control - Fee Earning Work (65,879) 75,863 141,742 

BUC002-Building Control - Non Fee Earning Work 3,366 3,372 6 

EMP001-Emergency Planning 14,108 13,785 (323)

ESM001-Environment - Service Mgmt & Supp Serv 102,932 103,463 531 

PSH002-Private Sector Housing-Condition of Dwellings 3,000 2,410 (590)

REG001-Environmental Health General 0 6 6 

REG002-Licensing 36,998 5,533 (31,465)

REG009-Environmental Protection 245,726 245,804 78 

REG011-Authorised Process (11,890) (9,882) 2,008 

REG013-Pollution Control 122,639 126,839 4,200 

REG016-Food Safety 145,472 145,398 (74)

REG021-Statutory Burials 5,000 4,755 (245)

STC011 - Abandoned Vehicles 0 (3,559) (3,559)

TAC309-Other Trading Services - Markets (100) 26,146 26,246 

Total - Environmental & Regulatory Services 601,812 740,231 138,419 

ELE001- The year end position represents the additional expenditure for the new voter ID measures 

and postage which has only partially been offset by one off New Burdens funding

SUP001- Employee costs are £17k underspent from the vacant Director of Governance post until 

filled in July 2023. 

Q4 position

Q4 position

Page 127



 

    Q4 position 

    

Profiled 
Budget 

Actual 
Exp 

Variance 
(under) /  

over 
spend 

    £ £ £ 

ICT, Change & Customer Services         

SUP002-Consultation, Policy & Research   164,478  166,654  2,176  

SUP005-ICT   1,310,908  1,244,496  (66,412) 

SUP006-Telephones   10,000  743  (9,257) 

SUP008-Reception/Customer Services   609,847  609,770  (77) 

SUP014-Cashiers   110  174  64  

SUP041-Business Solutions   12,113  12,136  23  

TMR001-Street Naming & Numbering   0  (695) (695) 

TMR002-Street Furniture & Equipment   (16,102) (10,719) 5,383  

TOU002-Tourist/Visitor Information Centre   14,175  9,302  (4,874) 

          

Total - ICT, Change & Customer Services   2,105,529  2,031,862  (73,667) 

          
SUP005 - tight controls on software licence renewals, rationalisation of software 
requirements and the strategic move to Microsoft 365 have produced the saving against 
budget. 

 

    Q4 position  

    

Profiled 
Budget 

Actual Exp Variance 
(under) /  

over 
spend 

 

    £ £ £ 
 

Land, Legal & Property          
ADB301-3 Welch Way (Town Centre Shop)   56,211  43,762  (12,449)  
ADB302-Guildhall   21,454  5,361  (16,093)  
ADB303-Woodgreen   322,022  309,472  (12,550)  
ADB304-Elmfield   172,507  207,727  35,220   
ADB305-Corporate Buildings   493,434  580,268  86,834   
ADB306-Depot   8,298  23,334  15,036   

BUC001 - Fee income is £135k below target.  Fee income budgets have been reviewed as part of 

24/25 budget setting and have been set at an achievable level. 

TAC309 - Market income is £24k below target. It was agreed by the Executive in December, that we 

would seek a commercial market operator to take over the running of the markets in Witney and 

Chipping Norton for an initial period of 2 years. This would provide a modest saving to base budget 

in 24/25 & 25/26. Efforts are ongoing to contract a commercial operator.

REG002 - income is above target for taxi licences, HMO licences, premises and street trading. 

Page 128



LLC001-Local Land Charges   (150,964) (73,391) 77,573   
SUP004-Legal   270,617  265,354  (5,263)  
TAC303-Swain Court & Newman Court Ind Est 

Witney (20,765) (21,895) (1,130)  
           

Total - Land, Legal & Property   1,172,814  1,339,992  167,178   
           
 
ADB301/302/303 - a significant increase to the cost of utilities was included in the 2023/24 budget due to 
the national energy price increases seen in 2022/23 and into this financial year. However, a change of 
supplier in partnership with the other Publica Councils and Cheltenham Borough Council have produced a 
saving against budget of £68k across the Council. 
 
ADB304 - the timeline for renting out Elmfield slipped with rental income due for 2023/24 £75k below 
target and there has been £14k of expenditure related to a possible upgrade to the heating system and an 
additional £16k liability for Business Rates.  This has been offset by a £72k saving on utilities as the building 
has been vacant since the end of August 2023.  

 
ADB305 - the majority of the overspend, £72k, relates to reactive repairs and maintenance to 
Council buildings. £40k has been spent on survey and upgrade works to Elmfield to bring it 
into a condition to rent out, with the remainder related to repairs at Woodgreen and the 
Guildhall. An unbudgeted for spend of £13k relates to external valuer fees for insurance re-
instatement values for all Council properties. 

 

 
ADB306 - reactive repairs for the year for roof repairs, shutter maintenance and guttering 
have caused an overspend of £15k. 

 

 
LLC001 - income is £77k behind target, consistent with quarterly reporting. The income 
budget for 2024/25 has been reduced to a more achievable level, but strong competition 
from Personal Search companies is likely to further squeeze our market share in future. 
 
 

 

 

    Q4 position 

    

Profiled 
Budget 

Actual Exp Variance 
(under) /  

over spend 

    £ £ £ 

Leisure & Communities         

CCR001-Community Safety (Crime Reduction)   108,381  112,469  4,088  

CCR002-Building Safer Communities  (3,332) 35,932  39,264  

CCR301 - Communities Revenue Grant  218,820  226,818  7,998  

CCT001-CCTV  99,112  81,030  (18,082) 

CSM001-Cultural Strategy   88,939  84,759  (4,180) 

CUL001-Arts Development  57,847  41,603  (16,244) 

ECD001-Economic Development   161,808  163,493  1,685  

ECD010 – SPF Community and Place  (226,195) (226,195) 0  

REC001-Sports Development  63,317  37,882  (25,435) 

Page 129



REC002-Recreational Facilities Development  74,456  90,286  15,830  

REC003-Play  84,390  55,474  (28,916) 

REC301-Village Halls   15,008  15,001  (7) 

REC302-Contract Management  206,507  (791,346) (997,853) 

SUP016-Finance - Performance Review  111,729  111,835  106  

TOU001-Tourism Strategy and Promotion  211,978  191,743  (20,235) 

          

Total - Leisure & Communities   1,272,765  230,784  (1,041,981) 

          
 
CCR002 - a change to the funding arrangements for Domestic Abuse works has produced an 
overspend of £33k from a reduction in contribution from the County Council and Thames 
Valley Police. 
 
CUL001 -underspends against legacy budgets for professional fees, commission and 
subscriptions have produced an £11k saving and unbudgeted income of £5k has been received 
in year. The 2024/25 budget has been reduced to take out the unused legacy budget lines. 

REC001 - income received in the year relating to 2022/23 has created a surplus in this cost 
centre 

REC002 - during the latter part of the year, consultancy work has been undertaken on the 
Strategic Outcomes Planning Model, looking at the future of leisure provision in the district. 
This external consultancy has been partially funded through earmarked reserves with the 
remainder showing as an overspend in this cost centre. 

REC003 - the 2023/24 budget includes £61k for maintenance and repair of Play Areas in the 
district which has proven to be more than required in the year. The budget for 2024/25 has 
been reduced to reflect a prudent level for the ongoing maintenance of the Play Areas 
retained by the Council. 

REC302 - a prudent income contingency is included in the 23/24 budget which represents the 
uncertainty, in February 2023, of the level of achievable income from the leisure contract. 
Discussions are being held with GLL to review the nature of the leisure contract subject to a 
change of HMRC policy on VAT recovery and the potential impact of the PSDS project at 
Carterton. Income invoiced in the year to date is £713k more than budgeted and the income 
contingency provides an underspend of £400k. This is offset against additional expenditure on 
equipment purchase of £91k and professional fees relating to the repairs at Chipping Norton 
Leisure Centre of £25k. 

TOU001 -there is a £20k underspend against the legacy budgets of marketing, software and 
printing. The 24/25 budget has been reviewed to amend these legacy budgets and provide a 
saving of £7k. 
 
 
 

Page 130



 

          
ENI002 - income from Parish & Town Councils for grass cutting is £7k below target and external costs for 
Ubico are £22k over budget. 

ENI303 - additional external contractor fees of £13k for the Kilkenny parking scheme have been incurred in 
the year and there is a £12k overspend on maintenance i.e. drainage works and fencing repairs. 

FLD001- £ 17k ditch clearance works related to 22/23 charged in 23/24 with a further £20k charged for 
23/24. 

REG004 - the overspend relates to the cost of the third party contract to collect stray dogs and the 
kennelling fees. The 24/25 budget has been amended and the third party arrangement has been updated. 
The net effect on the 24/25 budget is a saving of £10k. 

REG018 - a Pest Control service is no longer offered by the Council. This is a legacy budget which has been 
removed in 2024/25. 

REG019 - fee income is £19k below target and there have been repairs due to vandalism of £5k and 
contract cleaning is overspent by £30k due to a contract price increase in year. The 2024/25 budget has 
been adjusted to fund the additional cleaning costs. 

RYC001 - there is a £243k overspend on Suez contract and a further £74k overspend on bins and boxes. The 
Suez contract ends in September 2024 with a new contract expected to save at least £300k a year on 
recycling handling costs. Ubico costs for the year are £110k over budget, mainly due to additional hire costs 
for waste lorries and the NJC pay award. 

Profiled Actual Exp Variance 

£ £ £

Environmental Services

CCC001-Climate Change 224,459 224,814 355 

COR301-Policy Initiatives - Shopmobility 16,479 19,171 2,692 

CPK001-Car Parks - Off Street 410,109 413,105 3,906 

ENI002-Grounds Maintenance 462,337 492,014 29,677 

ENI303-Landscape Maintenance 4,988 30,186 25,198 

FLD001-Flood Defence and Land Drainage 182,453 222,741 40,288 

REG004-Dog Warden 92,991 138,682 45,691 

REG018-Pest Control 14,960 92 (14,868)

REG019-Public Conveniences 169,906 223,023 53,117 

REG023-Environmental Strategy 81,974 81,448 (526)

RYC001-Recycling 3,290,162 3,724,827 434,665 

RYC002-Green Waste (330,633) (257,068) 73,565 

STC001-Street Cleansing 38,310 46,146 7,836 

STC004-Environmental Cleansing 1,106,582 1,157,229 50,647 

TRW001-Trade Waste 25,452 (10,539) (35,991)

TRW002-Clinical Waste (500) (429) 71 

WST001-Household Waste 2,024,383 2,104,623 80,240 

WST004-Bulky Household Waste 34,055 46,435 12,380 

WST301-Env. Services Depot, Downs Rd, Witney 22,085 49,351 27,266 

Total - Environmental Services 7,870,525 8,705,824 836,209 

Q4 position

Page 131



RYC002 - Fee income is £42k below budget and bins are £9k overspent with Ubico costs £37k over budget. 
£15k underspend for printing and postage costs. The 24/25 budget includes an increase in the green licence 
fee by £5 a year to £50. 

STC004 - the overspend is due to the additional costs of the Ubico contract. 

TRW001-income is £29k above budget & there is a £36k underspend on disposal costs paid to OCC a £10k 
overspend on boxes & bins and additional Ubico costs of £18k. 

WST001 - additional Ubico costs are £77k 

    Q4 position 

    

Profiled 
Budget 

Actual Exp Variance 
(under) /  

over spend 

    £ £ £ 

Planning & Strategic Housing         

DEV001-Development Control - Applications  (159,773) (116,155) 43,618  

DEV002-Development Control - Appeals  125,955  310,279  184,324  

DEV003-Development Control - Enforcement   174,924  175,008  84  

ENA001-Housing Enabling   110,493  111,752  1,259  

ENI301-Landscape Initiatives   57,982  61,619  3,637  

HLD315-Growth Board Project (Planning)  148,354  129,626  (18,728) 

PLP001-Planning Policy  510,237  496,915  (13,322) 

PLP003-Implementation   (1,031) (1,033) (2) 

PLP004-Conservation   109,085  100,373  (8,712) 

PSM001-Planning Service Mgmt & Support Serv  138,801  122,309  (16,492) 

          

Total - Planning & Strategic Housing   1,215,027  1,390,694  175,667  

          
DEV001 - fee income is £81k below budget. The government announced a 25% increase in planning 
application fees from 6th December 2023 and the budget for 24/25 has been updated to reflect this 
increase. 

DEV002 - there is a £184k overspend on external legal fees, incurred through Planning Appeals and 
subsequent Planning Inquiries. An additional £90k has been included in the budget for 24/25 but this 
could be insufficient if the number of appeals is at a similar level to 2023/24. 

PLP001 - additional income has been raised in the year by partnering with CDC on the Proptech project 
which increases the use of digital engagement with the Planning process, creating a saving for West 
Oxfordshire. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 132



 

    Q4 position 

    

Profiled 
Budget 

Actual Exp Variance 
(under) /  

over spend 

    £ £ £ 

Retained Services         

COR002-Chief Executive  391,468  412,848  21,380  

COR003-Corporate Policy Making   75,462  81,465  6,003  

COR004-Public Relations   12,310  11,028  (1,282) 

COR005-Corporate Finance  572,704  592,277  19,573  

COR006-Treasury Management   26,700  25,818  (882) 

COR007-External Audit Fees  75,860  163,091  87,231  

COR008-Bank Charges  78,500  204,664  126,164  

COR012 - Publica Review   22,391  22,391  (0) 

COR302-Publica Group  (253,837) (504,920) (251,083) 

FIE341-Town Centre Properties  (598,966) (484,390) 114,576  

FIE342-Miscellaneous Properties  (831,310) (770,223) 61,087  

FIE343-Talisman  (838,533) (911,657) (73,124) 

FIE344-Des Roches Square  (394,455) (185,169) 209,286  

FIE345-Gables at Elmfield  (153,365) (54,734) 98,631  

FIE346 - Marriotts  292,933  608,518  315,585  

NDC001-Non Distributed Costs  649,100  790,892  141,792  

TAC304-Witney Industrial Estate   (166,160) (161,886) 4,274  

TAC305-Carterton Industrial Estate  (503,775) (327,667) 176,108  

TAC306-Greystones Industrial Estate  (10,195) (23,966) (13,771) 

TAC308-Other Trading Services - Fairs   (2,875) (2,000) 875  

          

Total - Retained Services   (1,556,043) (513,622) 1,042,420  
          
          
COR002 - there is a £23k overspend on employee costs which includes advertising costs for the S151 
and Monitoring Officer roles recruited to in the year. 

COR005 -  the net cost of having the S151 Officer post vacant and employing an interim S151 is £45k. 
There is a partial offset of £15k against professional fees. 
 
 
COR007 - external audit fees have increased, over and above the scale fee due to the delays and 
additional work required for the 2021/22 and 2022/23 audits. The Housing Benefit audit fee has also 
increased resulting in an overall overspend of £87k. New scale fees for 24/25 have been set by the 
PSAA and the budget has been updated accordingly. 

COR008 - A new contract is now in place for our Merchant Card acquirer which will bring expenditure 
on card processing charges back within the budget envelope from 24/25.   

COR302 - Publica returned a refund to the Council for 2023/24.  

Page 133



FIE341 - rental income is £116k behind target, £36k of which relates to a lower than budgeted income 
from Woolgate sublease rent which is based on a % of turnover in the year. The remaining £80k 
relates to Marriotts Close. When the Marriotts site was purchased in January 2023 an element of the 
budget was retained in this cost centre in error which has caused an overspend. This has been 
corrected for 2024/25. 

FIE342 -the overspend represents lost income of £118k due to Between Towns Rd being vacant since 
mid November and £46k for Chawley Park which will be vacant from the beginning of Q4. There is an 
offset of £70k from income received from the previous tenant of Yarrow Road in Poole to fund the 
new tenant's rent-free period in 2023/24, as per the lease surrender agreement and £10k additional 
income from rent reviews. In addition, there is unbudgeted income of £23k for surplus assets i.e. 
garage rents, service charges and ground rent. The 24/25 budget has accounted for the income 
reduction for our Investment Properties and any additional associated costs i.e. business rates and 
security. 

FIE343 -the net income position, taking into account the income contingency in the budget is £3k 
below target but there are underspends of £39k in repairs, £22k in Business Rates and £15k in 
marketing costs. 

FIE344 - Rental income is £88k below target due to the first floor of the building being vacant for the 
start of the year and the current rent-free period that is in place. At year end the income deficit was 
£187k but an earmarked reserve for the rent-free period has been used to fund £99k of this deficit. In 
addition, the Council has incurred £55k liability for Business Rates, £12k advertising costs, £13k 
external fees relating to survey and rent review and £41k of repairs to bring the building up to a 
rentable standard.  

FIE345 - the budget includes £100k for renting out Elmfield from Q2 of the year. This timeline has 
slipped into late 2024/25. 

FIE346 - the overspend comes from void units, service costs, business rates and rent-free periods. The 
income position will be markedly improved in 2024/25 as new leases have been completed and some 
rent-free periods come to an end. The 2024/25 budget has been set to include the rent receivable but 
also the service costs applicable to the Council. 

NDC001 - Non-Distributed costs are the secondary pension contribution the Council pays on a 
monthly basis to cover the historic liability of the pension fund. This amount changes year on year 
and has been updated in the 24/25 budget following confirmation from the Actuary. However, this 
cost is likely to change during 2024/25 due to the transfer of staff from Publica back to the Council. 
Variations will be included in the quarterly budget monitoring reports. 

TAC305 - a tenant went into liquidation causing an underachievement of rental income of £129k for 
the year. The base budget is overstated by £47,350 which has been adjusted in the 24/25 budget.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 134



 

 

 
 
 
 

    Q4 position 

    

Profiled 
Budget 

Actual Exp Variance 
(under) /  

over spend 

    £ £ £ 

Revenues & Housing Support         

HBP001-Rent Allowances  301,622  293,445  (8,177) 

HBP003-Local Housing Allowance  0  59  59  

HBP005-Benefit Fraud Investigation  5,888  6,018  130  

HOM001-Homelessness  111,316  118,100  6,784  

HOM004-Refugees  400  400  0  

HOM005-Homelessness Hostel Accommodation  11,571  (3,918) (15,489) 

HOM006 - The Old Court  30,625  12,469  (18,156) 

HOM007-Afghan Resettlement Programme  (492,998) (492,998) 0  

HOM008-Homes for Ukraine  (994,670) (994,476) 194  

LTC001-Council Tax Collection  222,464  (56,740) (279,204) 

LTC002-Council Tax Support Administration   7,134  7,703  569  

LTC011-NNDR Collection  (61,123) (71,687) (10,564) 

PSH001-Private Sector Housing Grants   51,993  51,672  (321) 

PSH004-Home Improvement Service  (58,822) (45,465) 13,357  

          

Total - Revenues & Housing Support   (853,884) (1,164,702) (310,818) 

          
HOM005/HOM006 - both emergency accommodation premises are in surplus for the year. The introduction of 
additional resource in the Housing team has allowed for the more effective administration of clients moving in 
and out of the properties and therefore the Council has been successful in claiming the Housing Benefit due for 
our temporary accommodation clients. 

LTC001/LTC011 - during the course of 2023/24, the Revenues team have put significant resource into tackling 
the backlog of liability orders that go through the Magistrates Court. The result has been a significant rise in 
income resulting in a surplus in these cost centres. This surplus is General Fund income and can be used to 
fund any Council service, it is not restricted to the administration of Council Tax or Business Rates. 

PSH004 - the overspend relates to the additional costs incurred in the year to employ the contractors who 
undertake minor works i.e. installing ramps, key safes, handrails on the Council's behalf. 

 

Page 135



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Annex B 

Capital Slippage - 2023/24 

The annual Revenue Budget setting process requires the Council to put forward a 10 year Capital Programme of estimated future expenditure.  

It is only expenditure that is funded through Revenue that is approved through the budget setting process.  Capital Expenditure funded through Earmarked Reserves, 

S106, Grants, Borrowing or External Contributions all require a business case to be submitted to Members for approval.

The table below shows the incomplete elements of capital projects still outstanding at year end but not included in the 2024/25 budget and therefore recommended to be carried forward.

Scheme
2023/24  

Budget
2023/24 Actual Funded By Over/(Underspend)

Recommended 

c/f

2024/25 Original 

Budget

2024/25 Total 

Budget

Agile Working 2,150,000 702,932 Borrowing -1,447,068 1,447,068 1,447,068 a

Solar PV on Council Buildings Borrowing 0 276,345 276,345

Replacement dog and litter bins 25,000 Borrowing -25,000 

Chipping Norton LC Repairs 1,000,000 265,841 Borrowing -734,159 150,000 150,000

Ubico Fleet - Replace Vehicle Hire Costs 2,000,000 334,490 Borrowing -1,665,510 3,500,000 3,500,000 b

Update to Planning System (Idox) 150,000 Borrowing -150,000 150,000 150,000

Update to Finance System (ABW) 25,000 Borrowing -25,000 25,000 25,000

Electric vehicle charging points 200,000 Borrowing -200,000 200,000 200,000

In Cab Technology Borrowing 0 100,000 100,000

Investment Strategy for Recovery 5,000,000 Borrowing -5,000,000 

CCTV - Upgrading 255,635 Capital Receipts -255,635 255,635 255,635

Shop Mobility - Replacement stock 10,000 Capital Receipts -10,000 10,000 10,000

Affordable Housing in Witney (Heylo) 212,125 253,500 External Contribution/S106 41,375 212,125 212,125Southhill Solar Loan 0

Improvement Grants (DFG) 800,000 771,537 Grant -28,463 880,000 880,000

Carterton Leisure Centre PSDS Project 1,300,000 Grant -1,300,000 1,300,000 1,300,000 c

UKSPF 0 226,195 Grant 226,195
Witney Leisure Centre PSDS Borrowing 0 1,874,000 1,874,000 d

IT Provision - Systems & Strategy 100,000 93,782 Revenue Contribution -6,218 100,000 100,000

Weighbridge at Bulking Station Capital Receipts 0 25,000 25,000

Council Buildings Maintenance Programme 200,000 86,117 Revenue Contribution -113,883 200,000 200,000

IT Equipment - PCs, Copiers etc 40,000 Revenue Contribution -40,000 40,000 40,000

Community Grants Fund 200,000 123,186 Revenue Contribution -76,814 200,000 200,000

Windrush Public Art 35,601 S106 35,601

Weavers Fold 378,000 S106 -378,000 

Play Parks 100,000 S106 -100,000 50,000 50,000

EVCP Woolgate 167,000 S106 -167,000 167,000 167,000

Chipping Norton Creative 8,297 S106 -8,297 

Carterton Connects Creative (Swinbrook s106) 44,500 S106 -44,500 44,500 44,500

Raleigh Crescent Play Area (s. 106) 75,000 S106 -75,000 75,000 75,000

Developer Capital Contributions 1,354,650 S106 1,354,650

14,440,557 4,247,831 -10,192,726 4,086,328 7,195,345 11,281,673

P
age 137



Comments:  

a. The Agile working project has successfully updated the Council Chamber into a community space and work on Woodgreen is nearly complete. In 2024/25 

attention moves to the upgrading of Elmfield.  

b. A Waste Vehicle replacement project group was set up in 2023/24 to investigate the options for the renewal of the waste fleet as 25 vehicles come to the 

end of their economic life in 2024/25. Vehicle type, size and fuel have all been considered and a two week trial of an electric waste lorry was undertaken in 

May 2024. A business case for the renewal of waste vehicles will go to Executive in Q2 2024/25.  

c. The Carterton Leisure Centre PSDS project has been delayed due to the findings of an investment grade appraisal which indicated that the scheme in its 

then format would not be financially viable. The Council is working on an amended scheme for the Autumn round of PSDS funding. 

d. The Witney Leisure Centre PSDS project is at the stage of going out to tender for PSDSc3. The total cost of the project is estimated at £1.8m and a 

mandatory 12%, or £225,000 is included in the Capital Programme for 2024/25 as the Council's contribution. 

 

P
age 138



 
 
 
 

 

WEST OXFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

Name and Date of 

Committee 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – 17 JULY 2024 

EXECUTIVE – 22 JULY 2024 

Subject PUBLIC CONVENIENCE CONTRACT 

Wards Affected All 

Accountable Member Councillor Lidia Arciszewska – Executive Member for Environment. 

Email: lidia.arciszewska@westoxon.gov.uk  

Accountable Officer 

 
Jon Dearing – Interim Executive Director. 

Email: jon.dearing@publicagroup.uk  

Report Author Maria Wheatley – Parking Manager. 

Email: maria.wheatley@publicagroup.uk  

Purpose To consider agree a contract award for the cleaning and maintenance of 

public conveniences. 

Annexes Annex A – Equality Impact Assessment 

Exempt Annex B – Contract Award  

Recommendation That the Executive resolves to: 

1. Award the contract for cleaning and maintenance of public 

conveniences to the preferred contractor. 

Corporate Priorities  A Good Quality of Life for All 

 A Better Environment for People and Wildlife 

 Working Together for West Oxfordshire  

Key Decision NO 

Exempt Exempt Annex B – Contract Award  

Consultees/ 

Consultation  

Nil 

 

Page 139

Agenda Item 11

mailto:lidia.arciszewska@westoxon.gov.uk
mailto:jon.dearing@publicagroup.uk
mailto:maria.wheatley@publicagroup.uk


 
 
 
 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.1 The council owned public conveniences are currently cleaned and maintained by Danfo 

(UK) Ltd under contract.  The contract expires on the 30th September 2024, and a 

procurement exercise has been completed to secure a new contract from 1st October 2024 

for a period of 4 years.  

2. MAIN POINTS  

2.1 The procurement process was carried out with an open tender method. The new contract 

will benefit from economies of scale being a shared contract across Cotswold District 

Council and West Oxfordshire District Council.  The submissions have been evaluated 60% 

for quality and 40% for price.  Quality criteria included an assessment of the bidders’ ability 

to meet the required standards, their arrangements for management and supervision, their 

approach to manage customer complaints, their fleet management arrangements, their 

resilience and their approach to health and safety and sustainability. 

2.2 Officers evaluated the bids, the outcome being that the preferred contractor for 

recommendation is Danfo (UK) Ltd, our current supplier. (Annex B)  

2.3 The Council reserves the right to vary the number of sites within the contract giving the 

contractor 2 months written notice. 

2.4 Any permanent closures of a site will be reflected in the contract price after the 2-month 

notice period. 

3. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

3.1 There was an option to award the contract for a different length of time, however a 4-year 

contract gives stability to both the contractor and the council.  The contract will allow the 

Council the flexibility for fluctuations in the future needs of the service. 

4. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

4.1 Contract costs are £1,624,000.  The council has modified the specification to keep costs as 

low as possible without affecting the quality of the service, for example each site has a 

specified cleaning regime and number of visits depending on usage. The provision for this 

contract in the 2024/25 budget is £155,685, costs in excess of this will need to be offset 

from savings identified elsewhere as part of the 2025/26 budget setting process. 

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 The requirements have been processed through the procurement process in accordance 

with the Council’s Procurement and Contract Management Strategy and The Public 

Contracts Regulations 2015.  

6. RISK ASSESSMENT 

6.1 Failure to award the contract will mean the Council has no arrangements in place for 

cleaning and maintenance when the existing contract ends. 

Page 140



 
 
 
 
 

7. EQUALITIES IMPACT 

7.1 The recommendation will not have an effect on different service users; the access to 

facilities remains free of charge with a RADAR key. (Annex A)  

8. CLIMATE AND ECOLOGICAL EMERGENCIES IMPLICATIONS 

8.1 The approach of each bidder to Environmental and Sustainability issues will be assessed as 

part of the evaluation process. 

9. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

9.1 None.  

 

(END) 

Page 141



This page is intentionally left blank



Equality Impact Assessment Template Version – December 2021 

 

Annex A       Equality and Rurality Impact Assessment Form 

 

When completing this form you will need to provide evidence that you have considered how the ‘protected characteristics’ may be impacted upon by this 

decision.  In line with the General Equality Duty the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard for the need to:  

a) Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited by or under the Equality Act 2010; 

b) Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; 

c) Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

This form should be completed in conjunction with the guidance document available on the Intranet 

Once completed a copy should be emailed to cheryl.sloan@publicagroup.uk  to be signed off by an equalities officer before being published.  

 

1. Persons responsible for this assessment: 

Names: 

Maria Wheatley 

Date of assessment: 

3.6.24 

Telephone: 01285 623228 

Email: maria.wheatley@publicagroup.uk 

 

2. Name of the policy, service, strategy, procedure or function: 

West Oxfordshire District Council 

 

New Contract for the cleaning and maintenance of public toilets 

 

3. Briefly describe it aims and objectives  

The council owned public conveniences are currently cleaned and maintained by Danfo (UK) Ltd under contract.  The contract expires 30th September 2024. 

The report seeks approval to award contract for the cleaning and maintenance of public conveniences within West Oxfordshire District, with the new 

contract to start on the 1st October 2024 for a 4 year period. 

 

 

4. Are there any external considerations? (e.g. Legislation/government directives) 

The provision of public toilets it not a statutory service. 

 

P
age 143



Equality Impact Assessment Template Version – December 2021 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5. What evidence has helped to inform this assessment? 

Source ✔ If ticked please explain what 

Demographic data and other statistics, including census findings ☐  

Recent research findings including studies of deprivation  ☐  

Results of recent consultations and surveys  ☐  

Results of ethnic monitoring data and any equalities data  ☐  

Anecdotal information from groups and agencies within 

Gloucestershire  
☐  

Comparisons between similar functions / policies elsewhere ☐  

Analysis of audit reports and reviews ☐  

Other:  ☐  

 

6. Please specify how intend to gather evidence to fill any gaps identified above: 

 

 

 

 

 

7. Has any consultation been carried out? 

No 

 

 

 

P
age 144



Equality Impact Assessment Template Version – December 2021 

 

If NO please outline any planned activities 

The contract has gone out to tender, officers will evaluate the responses with the support from the procurement team. 

 

8. What level of impact either directly or indirectly will the proposal have upon the general public / staff? (Please quantify where possible) 

Level of impact Response 

NO IMPACT – The proposal has no impact upon the general public/staff ✔ 

LOW – Few members of the general public/staff will be affected by this proposal ☐ 

MEDIUM – A large group of the general public/staff will be affected by this proposal ☐ 

HIGH – The proposal will have an impact upon the whole community/all staff ☐ 

Comments: e.g. Who will this specifically impact? 

The new contract should not impact any members of the public or staff. 

 

 

 

9. Considering the available evidence, what type of impact could this function have on any of the protected characteristics? 

Negative – it could disadvantage and therefore potentially not meet the General Equality duty;  

Positive – it could benefit and help meet the General Equality duty;  

Neutral – neither positive nor negative impact / Not sure 

 
Potential 

Negative 

Potential 

Positive 
Neutral Reasons Options for mitigating adverse impacts 

Age – Young People   ✔   

Age – Old People   ✔   

Disability   ✔   

Sex – Male   ✔   

Sex – Female   ✔   

Race including Gypsy 

and Travellers 

  ✔   

P
age 145



Equality Impact Assessment Template Version – December 2021 

 

Religion or Belief   ✔   

Sexual Orientation   ✔   

Gender Reassignment   ✔   

Pregnancy and 

maternity 

  ✔   

Geographical impacts on 

one area  

  ✔   

Other Groups      
Rural considerations: 

ie Access to services; 

leisure facilities, transport; 

education; employment; 

broadband. 

  ✔   

 

10. Action plan (add additional lines if necessary) 

Action(s) Lead Officer Resource Timescale 

    

    

    

    

  

11. Is there is anything else that you wish to add? 

 

 

 

 

 

Declaration 

 

P
age 146



Equality Impact Assessment Template Version – December 2021 

 

I/We are satisfied that an equality impact assessment has been carried out on this policy, service, strategy, procedure or function and where an negative 

impact has been identified actions have been developed to lessen or negate this impact.  We understand that the Equality Impact Assessment is required by 

the District Council and that we take responsibility for the completion and quality of this assessment. 

 

Completed By:  Maria Wheatley Date: 3.6.24 

Line Manager: Susan Hughes Date:  

Reviewed by Corporate 

Equality Officer: 
Cheryl Sloan Date: 13.6.24 

 

 

P
age 147



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
Executive response to recommendations from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 5 June 2024 

Item Recommendation Agree (Y 

/ N) 

Comment Responsible Executive 

Member 

Lead Officer 

Approval for 

upgrading public space 

CCTV provision and 

new monitoring 

arrangements 

That the priority order of the 

steps that will be taken to 

address the funding shortfall of up 

to £55,000 (paragraph 4.7) are 

adjusted so that steps c) and d) 

are moved up to become the new 

a) and b). 

Yes Given the outcome of the bid 

to the Safer Streets Fund for 

£25,000 is unlikely to be 

known until November 2024, 

and it’s our desire to 

implement the upgrade to HD 

digital cameras, we accept the 

priority order can be adjusted. 

We maintain that value 

engineering should remain as 

the first priority, as all other 

options to meet the shortfall 

are reliant on public money. 

Pending the outcome of the 

bid to the Safer Streets Fund, 

which is to support the 

proposed new cameras in 
Chipping Norton, we should 

progress the upgrades to 

existing cameras in Witney and 

Carterton and seek a 

contribution from Thames 

Valley Police or the relevant 

town council where any new 

cameras are proposed. 

Councillor Geoff Saul – 

Executive Member for 

Housing and Social 

Welfare. 

Andy Barge – Assistant 

Director, Communities 

 

P
age 149

A
genda Item

 12



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

DRAFT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 

3 JUNE 2024 – 30 JUNE 2024 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

The Council currently operates the Strong Leader and Executive form of governance. The Council has appointed one Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

which has the power to investigate Executive decisions and any other matters relevant to the district and its people, making recommendations to the 

Council, Executive or any other Committee or Sub-Committee of the Council. Overview and Scrutiny has an important role in holding the Executive to 

account and in contributing to policy development.  

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee operates a work plan which is agreed annually but provides for flexibility to enable the Committee to respond to 

emerging issues or priorities. The work plan will include a mix of Executive reports that have been selected for pre-decision scrutiny, and reports on other 

Council services, topics or issues which have been specifically requested by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. In setting and reviewing its work plan, 

the Committee will be mindful of the constraints of the organisation and may prioritise based on the following considerations (TOPIC criteria): 

Timeliness: Is it timely to consider this issue? 

Organisational priority: Is it a Council priority? 

Public Interest: Is it of significant public interest? 

Influence: Can Scrutiny have meaningful influence? 

Cost: Does it involve a high level of expenditure, income or savings? 

Call In 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee will consider any “call-in” of an executive decision that has been made but not yet implemented. This enables the 

Committee to consider whether the decision made is appropriate given all relevant information (but not because it would have made a different decision). 

It may recommend that the Executive, an Executive Member or the Council should reconsider the decision.  

 

P
age 151

A
genda Item

 13



 

Item Executive Member Lead Officer 

Wednesday, 5 June 2024 

 

Salt Cross Garden Village Area Action Plan  (AAP) 

 

Leader of the Council - Cllr Andy Graham 

 

Chris Hargraves, Planning Policy Manager  

chris.hargraves@publicagroup.uk 

 

Approval of Upgrade to WODC Public Space 

CCTV Provision and Monitoring Arrangements 

 

Councillor Geoff Saul, Executive Member for 

Housing and Social Welfare 

 

Andy Barge, Assistant Director for Communities  

andy.barge@publicagroup.uk 

 

Service Performance Report 2023-24 Quarter 

Four 

 

Leader of the Council - Cllr Andy Graham 

 

Alison Borrett, Senior Performance Analyst  

Alison.Borrett@publicagroup.uk 

 

Changes to Customer Telephone Access Times 

 

Executive Member for Leisure and Major 

Projects - Cllr Tim Sumner 

 

Michelle Clifford, Business Manager - Customer 

Experience & Resources  

michelle.clifford@publicagroup.uk 

 

Wednesday, 17 July 2024 

 

Waste Service Update 

 

Executive Member for Environment - Cllr Lidia 

Arciszewska 

 

Simon Anthony, Business Manager - Environmental 

Services  Simon.Anthony@publicagroup.uk 

 

Financial Performance Report 2023-24 Quarter 

Four 

 

Executive Member for Finance - Cllr Alaric 

Smith 

 

Georgina Dyer, Chief Accountant  

georgina.dyer@publicagroup.uk 

 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Draft 

Charging Schedule 

 

Leader of the Council - Cllr Andy Graham 

 

Chris Hargraves, Planning Policy Manager  

chris.hargraves@publicagroup.uk 

 

Publica Transition Plan Leader of the Council - Cllr Andy Graham Andrew Pollard, Interim Programme Director  

P
age 152



  Andrew.Pollard@publicagroup.uk 

 

One-Year Publica Business Plan 

 

Leader of the Council - Cllr Andy Graham 

 

Bill Oddy, Assistant Director for Commercial 

Development  Bill.Oddy@publicagroup.uk 

 

Public Convenience Contract 

 

Executive Member for Environment - Cllr Lidia 

Arciszewska 

 

Maria Wheatley, Shared Parking Manager  

maria.wheatley@publicagroup.uk 

 

Wednesday, 4 September 2024 

 

Development Management Improvement 

Programme 

 

Executive Member for Planning and Sustainable 

Development 

 

Phil Shaw, Business Manager - Development 

Management  phil.shaw@publicagroup.uk 

 

Responding to external consultations 

 

Leader of the Council - Cllr Andy Graham 

 

Giles Hughes, Chief Executive  

giles.hughes@westoxon.gov.uk 

 

Climate Change Strategy 

 

Executive Member for Climate Action and 

Nature Recovery 

 

Hannah Kenyon, Climate Change Manager  

hannah.kenyon@westoxon.gov.uk 

 

Service Performance Report 2024-25 Quarter 

One 

 

Leader of the Council - Cllr Andy Graham 

 

Alison Borrett, Senior Performance Analyst  

Alison.Borrett@publicagroup.uk 

 

Financial Performance Report 2024-25 Quarter 

One 

 

Leader of the Council - Cllr Andy Graham 

 

Madhu Richards, Director of Finance  

madhu.richards@westoxon.gov.uk 

 

Wednesday, 2 October 2024 

 

Supporting market town and village centres 

 

Deputy Leader - Economic Development - Cllr 

Duncan Enright 

Philippa Lowe, Business Manager Localities  

philippa.lowe@publicagroup.uk 

P
age 153



  

Knights Court Business Case 

 

Executive Member for Housing and Social 

Welfare - Cllr Geoff Saul 

 

Business Manager Assets & Council Priorities - 

Andrew Turner 

 

Wednesday, 6 November 2024 

 

District Boundary Review - Council Size Proposal 

 

Leader of the Council - Cllr Andy Graham 

 

Andrew Brown, Democratic Services Business 

Manager  andrew.brown@publicagroup.uk 

 

Annual Monitoring Report 

 

Leader of the Council - Cllr Andy Graham 

 

Chris Hargraves, Planning Policy Manager  

chris.hargraves@publicagroup.uk 

 

Financial Performance Report 2024-25 Quarter 

Two 

 

Executive Member for Finance - Cllr Alaric 

Smith 

 

Madhu Richards, Director of Finance  

madhu.richards@westoxon.gov.uk 

 

Wednesday, 4 December 2024 

 

Affordable Housing Delivery 

 

Executive Member for Housing and Social 

Welfare - Cllr Geoff Saul 

 

Charlie Jackson, Assistant Director - Planning and 

Sustainability  charlie.jackson@publicagroup.uk 

 

Service Performance Report 2024-25 Quarter 

Two 

 

Leader of the Council - Cllr Andy Graham 

 

Alison Borrett, Senior Performance Analyst  

Alison.Borrett@publicagroup.uk 

 

Draft Budget 2025 – 2026, Version One 

 

Executive Member for Finance - Cllr Alaric 

Smith 

 

Madhu Richards, Director of Finance  

madhu.richards@westoxon.gov.uk 

 

Wednesday, 8 January 2025 

 

Draft Budget 2025 – 2026, Version Two Executive Member for Finance - Cllr Alaric Madhu Richards, Director of Finance  

P
age 154



 Smith 

 

madhu.richards@westoxon.gov.uk 

 

Wednesday, 5 February 2025 

 

Budget 2025 – 2026 

 

Executive Member for Finance - Cllr Alaric 

Smith 

 

Madhu Richards, Director of Finance  

madhu.richards@westoxon.gov.uk 

 

Wednesday, 5 March 2025 

 

Service Performance Report 2024-25 Quarter 

Three 

 

Leader of the Council - Cllr Andy Graham 

 

Alison Borrett, Senior Performance Analyst  

Alison.Borrett@publicagroup.uk 

 

Financial Performance Report 2024-25 Quarter 

Three 

 

Executive Member for Finance - Cllr Alaric 

Smith 

 

Madhu Richards, Director of Finance  

madhu.richards@westoxon.gov.uk 

 

Community Grants 

 

Executive Member for Stronger Healthy 

Communities - Cllr Rizvana Poole 

 

Andy Barge, Assistant Director for Communities  

andy.barge@publicagroup.uk 

 

Wednesday, 16 April 2025 - no items currently scheduled 

 

P
age 155



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

EXECUTIVE WORK PROGRAMME 

INCORPORATING NOTICE OF DECISIONS PROPOSED TO BE TAKEN IN PRIVATE 

SESSION AND NOTICE OF INTENTION TO MAKE A KEY DECISION 

1 JULY 2024 – 31 OCTOBER 2024 

By virtue of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012, local authorities are required to 

publish a notice setting out the key executive decisions that will be taken at least 28 days before such decisions are to be taken.  The Regulations also require 

notice to be given of any matter where it is proposed that the public will be excluded during consideration of the matter. 

This Forward Plan incorporates both of these requirements.  In the interests of transparency, it also aims to include details of those items to be debated by the 

Executive that relate to either policy/budget formulation, matters which will be subject to a recommendation to the Council, and other matters due to be 

considered by the Executive.  This programme covers a period of four months, and will be updated on a monthly basis.  The timings of items may be subject to 

change. 

It should be noted that although a date not less than 28 clear days after the date of this notice is given in each case, it is possible that matters may be 

rescheduled to a date which is different from that given provided, in the cases of key decisions and matters to be considered in private, that the 28 day notice 

has been given.  In this regard, please note that agendas and reports for meetings of the Executive are made available on the Council’s website at 

www.westoxon.gov.uk/meetings five working days in advance of the meeting in question. Please also note that the agendas for meetings of the Executive will 

also incorporate a necessary further notice which is required to be given in relation to matters likely to be considered with the public excluded. 

There are circumstances where a key decision can be taken, or a matter may be considered in private, even though the 28 clear days’ notice has not been given. 

If that happens, notice of the matter and the reasons will be published on the council’s website, and available from the Council Offices, Woodgreen, Witney, 

Oxfordshire OX28 1NB. 

Key Decisions 

The Regulations define a key decision as an executive decision which is likely –  

(a) to result in the relevant local authority incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to the relevant local 
authority’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates; or  
(b) to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards in the area of the authority”.  

 

The Council has decided that a cost or saving of an amount greater than £150,000 is necessary to constitute expenditure or savings which are significant for the 

purposes of this definition. 

Please note that if a matter is approved by the Council following a recommendation from the Executive, that decision will not be a key decision. 

 

 

 

P
age 157

A
genda Item

 14

http://www.westoxon.gov.uk/meetings


 

Matters To Be Considered in Private 

The great majority of matters considered by the Council’s Executive are considered in ‘open session’ when the public have the right to attend. 

However, some matters are considered with the public excluded.  The public may only be excluded if a resolution is passed to exclude them.  The grounds for 

exclusion are limited to situations where confidential or exempt information may be disclosed to the public if present and, in most cases involving exempt 

information, where in all the circumstances of the case the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 

information.  The definitions of these are set out in the Council’s Constitution. 

Documents and Queries 

Copies of, or extracts from, documents listed in the programme and any which subsequently become available are (subject to any prohibition or restriction on 

their disclosure), obtainable from the following, and this contact information may also be used for any queries.  

Democratic Services – Email: democratic.services@westoxon.gov.uk Tel: 01993 861000. 

 

 

P
age 158

mailto:democratic.services@westoxon.gov.uk


West Oxfordshire District Council: Executive Members 2024/25 

Name of Councillor Title and Areas of Responsibility 

Andy Graham 

(Leader) 

Leader of the Council: Policy Framework; Town and Parish Council engagement, Council Plan; Strategic Partnerships 
including Pan regional Partnership, Future Oxfordshire, South East Councils and OXLEP; Oxfordshire Leaders; Publica 
and partnership authorities and Ubico, Democratic Services; Communications; Legal Services; Counter Fraud; 
Emergency Planning; and Customer Services 
 

Duncan Enright 

(Deputy Leader) 

Economic Development: Business Development; Visitor Economy; Town and Village regeneration; and Customer 
Services. 

Alaric Smith 
 

Finance: Finance & Management; Council Tax and Benefits; Asset Management, South West Audit Partnership; 
Performance management; Capital Investment strategy; Strategic Housing Investment; and Customer Services 
 

Andy Graham 

(Leader) 

Planning and Sustainable Development: Local Plan; Government planning policies and guidance; Conservation and 
Historic Environment; Landscape and Biodiversity; Development Management; and Ensuring planning policies meet 
2030 requirement; and Customer Services 
 

Tim Sumner Leisure and Major Projects: Leisure provision including swimming pools; Culture and Heritage; Public Art; Agile 
Working, Car Parking and Customer Services 
 

Rizvana Poole Stronger Healthy Communities: Voluntary sector engagement; Health and Safety; Community and Public Health; 
Refugee Resettlement Programme; Young People; Equality and diversity; and Customer Services 
 

Geoff Saul Housing and Social Welfare: Housing Allocations; Homelessness; Provision of affordable homes; Sheltered Housing 
Accommodation; Safeguarding – Community Safety Partnership; Crime and Disorder; Neighbourhood Policing; 
Scrutiny of Police and Crime Commissioner; and Assets of Community Value. 
 

Lidia Arciszewska  Environment: Flood alleviation and sewage; Environmental Partnerships – WASP and Evenlode, North East Cotswold 
Cluster; Waste collection and recycling; Street Scene (cleansing, litter and grounds maintenance);  Air Quality; and 
Land, food, farming and Customer Services Delivery 
. 

Andy Graham 

(Leader) 

Climate Action and Nature Recovery: Energy Advice; Renewable energy and retrofit investment; Biodiversity across 
the District; Carbon neutral by 2030; Fossil fuel dependence reduction; Local, national and county wide liaison on 
climate; EV Charging Rollout. and Customer Service 

For further information about the above and all members of the Council please see www.westoxon.gov.uk/councillors

P
age 159

http://www.westoxon.gov.uk/councillors


 

Item for Decision Key 

Decision 

(Yes / No) 

Open or 

Exempt 

Decision – 

Maker 

Date of 

Decision 

Executive Member Lead Officer 

Community Infrastructure 

Levy (CIL) Draft Charging 

Schedule 

No Open 

 

Executive 

 

Council 

22 Jul 2024 

 

24 Jul 2024 

Leader of the Council - Cllr 

Andy Graham 

 

Chris Hargraves, Planning Policy 

Manager  

chris.hargraves@publicagroup.uk  

Financial Performance 

Report 2023-24 Quarter 

Four 

No Open 

 

Executive 

 

22 Jul 2024 

 

Executive Member for Finance - 

Cllr Alaric Smith 

 

Georgina Dyer, Chief Accountant  

georgina.dyer@publicagroup.uk  

Local Plan 2041 – Preferred 

Options Consultation 

 

No Open 

 

Executive 

 

22 Jul 2024 

 

Leader of the Council - Cllr 

Andy Graham 

 

Chris Hargraves, Planning Policy 

Manager  

chris.hargraves@publicagroup.uk  

Our House Project Funding 

Extension 2024-2026 

No Open 

 

Executive 

 

22 Jul 2024 

 

Councillor Geoff Saul, Executive 

Member for Housing and Social 

Welfare 

Caroline Clissold, Housing 

Manager  

caroline.clissold@publicagroup.uk  

Outside Body 

Appointments 

 

 

No Open 

 

Executive 

 

22 Jul 2024 

 

Leader of the Council - Cllr 

Andy Graham 

 

Max Thompson, Senior 

Democratic Services Officer  

max.thompson@westoxon.gov.u

k  

Publica Transition Plan 

 

 

Yes Open 

 

Executive 

 

Council 

22 Jul 2024 

 

24 Jul 2024 

Leader of the Council - Cllr 

Andy Graham 

 

Andrew Pollard, Interim 

Programme Director  

Andrew.Pollard@publicagroup.uk  

One-Year Publica Business 

Plan 

 

No Open 

 

Executive 

 

22 Jul 2024 

 

Leader of the Council - Cllr 

Andy Graham 

 

Bill Oddy, Assistant Director for 

Commercial Development  

Bill.Oddy@publicagroup.uk  

Public Convenience 

Contract 

 

Yes Part Exempt 

 

Executive 

 

22 Jul 2024 

 

Executive Member for 

Environment - Cllr Lidia 

Arciszewska 

Maria Wheatley, Shared Parking 

Manager  

maria.wheatley@publicagroup.uk  

Waste Fleet Purchase 

 

No Open 

 

Executive 

 

11 Sep 2024 

 

Councillor Lidia Arciszewska, 

Executive Member for 

Environment 

Bill Oddy, Assistant Director for 

Commercial Development  

Bill.Oddy@publicagroup.uk  

P
age 160

mailto:chris.hargraves@publicagroup.uk
mailto:georgina.dyer@publicagroup.uk
mailto:chris.hargraves@publicagroup.uk
mailto:caroline.clissold@publicagroup.uk
mailto:max.thompson@westoxon.gov.uk
mailto:max.thompson@westoxon.gov.uk
mailto:Andrew.Pollard@publicagroup.uk
mailto:Bill.Oddy@publicagroup.uk
mailto:maria.wheatley@publicagroup.uk
mailto:Bill.Oddy@publicagroup.uk


 

Mid-Point Review of Car 

Parking Strategy 

 

No Open 

 

Executive 

 

11 Sep 2024 

 

Executive Member for Leisure 

and Major Projects - Cllr Tim 

Sumner 

Susan Hughes, Business Manager 

for Support and Advice  

Susan.Hughes@publicagroup.uk  

Financial Performance 

Report 2024-25 Quarter 

One 

 

No Open 

 

Executive 

 

11 Sep 2024 

 

Leader of the Council - Cllr 

Andy Graham 

 

Madhu Richards, Director of 

Finance  

madhu.richards@westoxon.gov.u

k  

Service Performance 

Report 2024-25 Quarter 

One 

No Open 

 

Executive 

 

11 Sep 2024 

 

Leader of the Council - Cllr 

Andy Graham 

 

Alison Borrett, Senior 

Performance Analyst  

Alison.Borrett@publicagroup.uk  

Climate Change Strategy 

 

 

Yes Open 

 

Executive 

 

11 Sep 2024 

 

Executive Member for Climate 

Action and Nature Recovery 

 

Hannah Kenyon, Climate Change 

Manager  

hannah.kenyon@westoxon.gov.u

k  

Storage of Non-Motor 

Vehicles and Structures on 

the Public Highway Policy 

 

No Open 

 

Executive 

 

11 Sep 2024 

 

Leader of the Council - Cllr 

Andy Graham 

 

Mandy Fathers, Business Manager 

- Environmental, Welfare & 

Revenue Service  

mandy.fathers@publicagroup.uk  

Long Term Empty 

Properties 

 

 

Yes Open 

 

Executive 

 

Council 

 

11 Sep 2024 

 

25 Sep 2024 

 

Executive Member for Housing 

and Social Welfare - Cllr Geoff 

Saul 

 

Mandy Fathers, Business Manager 

- Environmental, Welfare & 

Revenue Service  

mandy.fathers@publicagroup.uk  

Strategic Outcomes 

Planning Model 

 

No Open 

 

Executive 

 

11 Sep 2024 

 

Executive Member for Leisure 

and Major Projects - Cllr Tim 

Sumner 

Rachel Biles – Strategic Leisure 

Lead 

rachel.biles@publicagroup.uk  

Knights Court Business 

Case 

 

No Open 

 

Executive 

 

9 Oct 2024 

 

Executive Member for Housing 

and Social Welfare - Cllr Geoff 

Saul 

Business Manager Assets & 

Council Priorities - Andrew 

Turner 

andrew.turner@publicagroup.uk  

 

 

 

P
age 161

mailto:Susan.Hughes@publicagroup.uk
mailto:madhu.richards@westoxon.gov.uk
mailto:madhu.richards@westoxon.gov.uk
mailto:Alison.Borrett@publicagroup.uk
mailto:hannah.kenyon@westoxon.gov.uk
mailto:hannah.kenyon@westoxon.gov.uk
mailto:mandy.fathers@publicagroup.uk
mailto:mandy.fathers@publicagroup.uk
mailto:rachel.biles@publicagroup.uk
mailto:andrew.turner@publicagroup.uk


 

Public Health Funeral Policy 

 

 

No Open 

 

Executive 

 

9 Oct 2024 

 

Executive Member for Stronger, 

Healthy Communities - Cllr 

Rizvana Poole 

 

Mandy Fathers, Business Manager 

- Environmental, Welfare & 

Revenue Service  

mandy.fathers@publicagroup.uk  

Annual Monitoring Report 

 

 

No Open 

 

Executive 

 

13 Nov 2024 

 

Leader of the Council - Cllr 

Andy Graham 

 

Chris Hargraves, Planning Policy 

Manager  

chris.hargraves@publicagroup.uk  

Financial Performance 

Report 2024-25 Quarter 

Two 

 

No Open 

 

Executive 

 

13 Nov 2024 

 

Executive Member for Finance - 

Cllr Alaric Smith 

 

Madhu Richards, Director of 

Finance  

madhu.richards@westoxon.gov.u

k  

Counter Fraud and 

Enforcement Unit 

Collaboration Agreement 

 

No Open 

 

Executive 

 

13 Nov 2024 

 

Leader of the Council - Cllr 

Andy Graham 

 

Emma Cathcart, Head of Service, 

Counter Fraud and Enforcement 

Unit  

emma.cathcart@cotswold.gov.uk  

Service Performance 

Report 2024-25 Quarter 

Two 

No Open 

 

Executive 

 

11 Dec 2024 

 

Leader of the Council - Cllr 

Andy Graham 

 

Alison Borrett, Senior 

Performance Analyst  

Alison.Borrett@publicagroup.uk  

Draft Budget 2025 – 2026, 

Version One 

 

 

No Open 

 

Executive 

 

11 Dec 2024 

 

Executive Member for Finance - 

Cllr Alaric Smith 

 

Madhu Richards, Director of 

Finance  

madhu.richards@westoxon.gov.u

k  

Affordable Housing 

Delivery Update 

 

 

No Open 

 

Executive 

 

11 Dec 2024 

 

Executive Member for Housing 

and Social Welfare - Cllr Geoff 

Saul 

 

Charlie Jackson, Assistant 

Director - Planning and 

Sustainability  

charlie.jackson@publicagroup.uk  

Draft Budget 2025 – 2026, 

Version Two 

 

 

No Open 

 

Executive 

 

15 Jan 2025 

 

Executive Member for Finance - 

Cllr Alaric Smith 

 

Madhu Richards, Director of 

Finance  

madhu.richards@westoxon.gov.u

k  

 

 

P
age 162

mailto:mandy.fathers@publicagroup.uk
mailto:chris.hargraves@publicagroup.uk
mailto:madhu.richards@westoxon.gov.uk
mailto:madhu.richards@westoxon.gov.uk
mailto:emma.cathcart@cotswold.gov.uk
mailto:Alison.Borrett@publicagroup.uk
mailto:madhu.richards@westoxon.gov.uk
mailto:madhu.richards@westoxon.gov.uk
mailto:charlie.jackson@publicagroup.uk
mailto:madhu.richards@westoxon.gov.uk
mailto:madhu.richards@westoxon.gov.uk


 

Budget 2025 – 2026 

 

 

No Open 

 

Executive 

 

Council 

 

12 Feb 2025 

 

26 Feb 2025 

 

Executive Member for Finance - 

Cllr Alaric Smith 

 

Madhu Richards, Director of 

Finance  

madhu.richards@westoxon.gov.u

k  

Financial Performance 

Report 2024-25 Quarter 

Three 

 

No Open 

 

Executive 

 

12 Mar 2025 

 

Executive Member for Finance - 

Cllr Alaric Smith 

 

Madhu Richards, Director of 

Finance  

madhu.richards@westoxon.gov.u

k  

Service Performance 

Report 2024-25 Quarter 

Three 

No Open 

 

Executive 

 

12 Mar 2025 

 

Leader of the Council - Cllr 

Andy Graham 

 

Alison Borrett, Senior 

Performance Analyst  

Alison.Borrett@publicagroup.uk  

Key Decisions Delegated to Officers 

 

Standing Delegation: 

Settlement of Legal Claims 

 

 

Yes Open 

 

Interim Head 

of Legal 

Services - 

Helen Blundell 

Before 31 

Dec 2024 

 

Leader of the Council - Cllr 

Andy Graham, Executive 

Member for Finance - Cllr Alaric 

Smith 

Helen Blundell, Interim Head of 

Legal Services  

helen.blundell@fdean.gov.uk  

Review and Repurpose 

Earmarked Reserves to 

Mitigate against Four Main 

Financial Risks 

No Open 

 

Director of 

Finance - 

Madhu 

Richards 

31 Dec 2024 

 

Executive Member for Finance - 

Cllr Alaric Smith 

 

Madhu Richards, Director of 

Finance  

madhu.richards@westoxon.gov.u

k  

Allocation of New 

Initiatives Funding 

 

 

Yes Open 

 

Chief 

Executive & 

Head of Paid 

Service - Giles 

Hughes 

Before 31 

Mar 2025 

 

Leader of the Council - Cllr 

Andy Graham 

 

Giles Hughes, Chief Executive  

giles.hughes@westoxon.gov.uk  

Allocate Funding from the 

Project Contingency 

Earmarked Reserve 

 

 

Yes Open 

 

Director of 

Finance - 

Madhu 

Richards 

 

Before 31 

Mar 2025 

 

Executive Member for Finance - 

Cllr Alaric Smith 

 

Madhu Richards, Director of 

Finance  

madhu.richards@westoxon.gov.u

k  

P
age 163

mailto:madhu.richards@westoxon.gov.uk
mailto:madhu.richards@westoxon.gov.uk
mailto:madhu.richards@westoxon.gov.uk
mailto:madhu.richards@westoxon.gov.uk
mailto:Alison.Borrett@publicagroup.uk
mailto:helen.blundell@fdean.gov.uk
mailto:madhu.richards@westoxon.gov.uk
mailto:madhu.richards@westoxon.gov.uk
mailto:giles.hughes@westoxon.gov.uk
mailto:madhu.richards@westoxon.gov.uk
mailto:madhu.richards@westoxon.gov.uk


 

Other Business for Council Meetings 

 

Outcome of Member 

Survey on Meeting Start 

Times 

No Open 

 

Council 

 

24 Jul 2024 

 

Leader of the Council - Cllr 

Andy Graham 

 

Andrew Brown, Democratic 

Services Business Manager  

andrew.brown@publicagroup.uk  

Business and Planning Act 

2020 - Update to Pavement 

Licensing Regime 

 

No Open 

 

Council 

 

24 Jul 2024 

 

Deputy Leader - Economic 

Development - Cllr Duncan 

Enright 

 

Mandy Fathers, Business Manager 

- Environmental, Welfare & 

Revenue Service  

mandy.fathers@publicagroup.uk  

Polling District and Places 

Revie 

 

No Open 

 

Council 

 

25 Sep 2024 

 

Leader of the Council - Cllr 

Andy Graham 

 

Sharon Ellison, Electoral Services 

Manager  

sharon.ellison@westoxon.gov.uk  

District Boundary Review - 

Council Size Proposal 

 

No Open 

 

Council 

 

27 Nov 2024 

 

Leader of the Council - Cllr 

Andy Graham 

 

Andrew Brown, Democratic 

Services Business Manager  

andrew.brown@publicagroup.uk  

Review of Members' 

Allowances Scheme 

 

No Open 

 

Council 

 

29 Jan 2025 

 

Leader of the Council - Cllr 

Andy Graham 

 

Andrew Brown, Democratic 

Services Business Manager  

andrew.brown@publicagroup.uk  

 

P
age 164

mailto:andrew.brown@publicagroup.uk
mailto:mandy.fathers@publicagroup.uk
mailto:sharon.ellison@westoxon.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.brown@publicagroup.uk
mailto:andrew.brown@publicagroup.uk


Document is Restricted

Page 165

Agenda Item 16
By virtue of paragraph(s) 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	Minutes

	6 Publica Transition Plan
	2024.07.08 Detailed Transition Plan (FINAL)
	Equality and Rurality Impact Assessment Form - Publica Review

	7 One-Year Publica Business Plan
	Publica Business Plan 2024-25 LR v2 - Copy Edited 2

	8 Waste Service Update
	9 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Draft Charging Schedule
	Annex A - Draft CIL Charging Schedule June 2024
	CIL Executive Report July 2024

	10 Financial Performance Report 2023-24 Quarter Four
	Annex A FINAL
	Annex B Final

	11 Public Convenience Contract
	EIA WODC for award of contract July 24 Annex A

	12 Report back on recommendations
	13 Committee Work Programme
	14 Executive Work Programme
	16 Public Convenience Contract - Exempt Appendix



